Marshall University Marshall Digital Scholar

Theses, Dissertations and Capstones

2022

Investigation of the Effects of Prenatal Drug Exposure on Astrocyte-Mediated Synaptogenic Signaling

Taylor Christian Boggess

Follow this and additional works at: https://mds.marshall.edu/etd

Part of the Medicine and Health Sciences Commons, Neuroscience and Neurobiology Commons, and the Toxicology Commons

INVESTIGATION OF THE EFFECTS OF PRENATAL DRUG EXPOSURE ON ASTROCYTE-MEDIATED SYNAPTOGENIC SIGNALING

A dissertation submitted to the Graduate College of Marshall University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Biomedical Research by Taylor Christian Boggess Approved by Dr. W. Christopher Risher, Committee Chairperson Dr. Richard Egleton Dr. Philippe Georgel Dr. Brandon Henderson Dr. Mary Payne

> Marshall University May 2022

APPROVAL OF THESIS

We, the faculty supervising the work of Taylor Christian Boggess, affirm that the dissertation, Investigation of the Effects of Prenatal Drug Exposure on Astrocyte-Mediated Synaptogenic Signaling, meets the high academic standards for original scholarship and creative work established by the Biomedical Research Program and the Joan C. Edwards School of Medicine. This work also conforms to the editorial standards of our discipline and the Graduate College of Marshall University. With our signatures, we approve the manuscript for publication.

Chlh

3/28/22

Dr. W. Christopher Risher, Department of Biomedical Sciences Committee Chairperson Date

Committee Member

3/28/22

Date

Committee Member

Date 3/28/22

Committee Member

Date 3/28/2022

Committee Member

Date 3-28-27

ii

Dr. Brandon Henderson, Department of Biomedical Sciences

Dr. Richard Egleton, Department of Biomedical Sciences

Dr. Philippe Georgel, Department of Biological Sciences

Dr. Mary Payne, Department of Neurology at Cabell Huntington Hospital

© 2022 Taylor Christian Boggess ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This dissertation, and the years of work that comprise it, would not have been possible without the help and support of several people. I would first like to thank my parents whose unwavering encouragement and love pushed me to always give my best effort and carried me through periods of self-doubt or discouragement. I am also grateful to my extended family, particularly my grandmother, aunts, and cousins, who helped in my life outside of the lab. Next, I would like to thank my mentor Dr. Chris Risher for his patience and willingness to guide me through the majority of the laboratory techniques required for the completion of this dissertation. He also assisted me greatly in the navigation of complex processes common in the research field, such as writing scientific articles, applying for grants, and preparing presentations. Dr. Risher always served as a positive example of what the life of a research scientist could be. The other members of the Risher lab, as well as members of Dr. Louise Risher's lab, also provided a great deal of assistance and instruction during my research pursuits. Finally, I would like to thank the other members of my graduate committee, Dr. Henderson, Dr. Egleton, Dr. Georgel, and Dr. Payne, for making their resources and knowledge available to me. Whether it was in the classroom, in the clinic, or in the lab, I knew I always I had experienced, knowledgeable professionals from whom I could seek guidance and on whom I could rely for aid.

All of the people I have acknowledged here have shaped my life in ways that are hard to quantify. I hope to continue to shape my life in such a way that my talents and experience are best utilized to improve the lives of others and have a positive impact on the world. The pursuit of this goal will not be feasible without the aid and support of other people, and so I have taken this opportunity to sincerely thank the people who have aided and supported me up to this point. My future is all the brighter because of you.

iv

List of Tables x
List of Figures xi
Abstract xiv
Chapter 11
Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome1
The Endogenous Opioid System Serves a Key Role in CNS Development
Exogenous Opioids Have Multiple Effects Within the CNS
Drugs of Abuse Can Interfere with the Normal Development of Neurons in the CNS 10
Drugs of Abuse Can Interfere with the Normal Function and Development of Glia in the
CNS
Effects of Prenatal Gabapentin Exposure14
Changes in Size and Structure in the CNS Associated with Prenatal Drug Exposure 16
Prenatal Drug Exposure is Associated with Changes in Behavior
Goals of this Dissertation
Chapter 2
Introduction
Materials and Methods
Results
Few Patients Returned for More than One Follow-Up Appointment

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Certain Drugs Were Commonly Misused by Patient Mothers
Many Patients Did Not Reach Developmental Milestones on Time
Certain Medical Issues Were Frequently Observed Among the Patients
Certain Medical Issues Were Common Among the Mothers of Patients
Medicaid was Primary Medical Insurance for Majority of Patients
A Plan for Care was Developed to Meet the Needs of Each Patient
Discussion
Chapter 3
Introduction
Materials and methods
Results
Drug Accumulation was Confirmed in Neonatal Mouse Brain Tissue 46
Body Mass of Dams and Pups Impacted by Drug Treatment, Sex, and Expression
of α2δ-1
Early Life Exposure to Buprenorphine Increases Excitatory Synapses in the
Mesolimbic Dopamine Pathway 48
Combined Buprenorphine/Gabapentin Exposure Decreases Inhibitory Synapse
Number
$\alpha 2\delta$ -1 Haploinsufficiency Results in Region- and Treatment-Specific Differences
in Synaptic Connectivity
Discussion

Drug Dosing Paradigm Correlates
Gabapentin, α2δ-1, and Astrocytes
Chapter 4 60
Introduction
Materials and methods 64
Results72
Body Mass of Pups Impacted by Drug Treatment and Expression of $\alpha 2\delta$ -172
P21 Immunohistochemistry73
Early Life Exposure to Gabapentin Decreased Excitatory Synapses in the
Mesolimbic Dopamine Pathway73
Decreased Expression of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 Significantly Decreased the Number of Excitatory
Synapses76
Inhibitory GABAergic Synapses Were Significantly Impacted by Early Life
Exposure to Buprenorphine, as a Single Treatment and in Combination with
Gabapentin 80
Decreased Expression of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 Significantly Decreased the Number of Inhibitory
Synapses, But Not in Mice Treated with Gabapentin
P70 Immunohistochemistry85
Changes in Excitatory Synapses Resulting from Early Life Drug Exposure
Persisted into Adulthood

Persistent Effects of Early Life Drug Exposure on Excitatory Synapses Influenced
by Expression of α2δ-1
Inhibitory Synapses Were Significantly Impacted by Early Life Exposure to Both
Buprenorphine and Gabapentin
Influence of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 Expression on Inhibitory Synapses not Observed in Mice with
Early Life Drug Exposure
Excitatory Synapses Generally Decrease with Age
Inhibitory Synapses Generally Decrease with Age, But Not in Gabapentin Treated
Mice
Behavioral Studies 100
Early Life Drug Exposure Did Not Have Any Significant Effect on Performance
During Light/Dark Testing 100
Possible Changes in Locomotor Function and Freezing Behavior in Open Field
Enhancement of Conditioned Place Preference Not Observed in Drug Treated
Mice
Decline After Day 1 Performance in FR1 Schedule Self-Administration 107
FR3 Schedule Self-Administration Not Enhanced In Mice that Demonstrated
Possible Reinforcement 107
Discussion 110

Early Life Drug Exposure Significantly Impacts Astrocyte-Mediated
Synaptogenesis via α2δ-1110
Effects of Early Life Drug Exposure on Synaptogenesis Are Not Fully
Ameliorated with Age112
Early Life Drug Exposure Resulted in Few Significant Changes in Anxiety-Type
or Locomotor Behaviors 113
Reward Seeking Behaviors were not Significantly Affected by Early Life Drug
Exposure or Expression of α2δ-1
Chapter 5
Reflection on Major Findings from These Investigations
Potential Weaknesses and Directions for Future Studies
Final Remarks 125
References
Appendix A: Approval Letter

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	Drugs Misused by the Mothers of Patients During Their Pregnancies
Table 2	Number of Patients Who Reached Each CDC Developmental Milestone27
Table 3	Common Medical Issues Observed Among Lily's Place Patients at Follow-Up
	Appointments
Table 4	Common Medical Diagnoses Among the Mothers of Lily's Place Patients29
Table 5	Plans for Care Developed for Patients at the End of Follow-Up Appointments31
Table 6	Drug Concentrations (Shown as Mean \pm SEM) Within Brain Tissue Lysates from
	Drug-Exposed Newborn C57Bl/6/J Pups Determined via Liquid Chromatography-
	Tandem Mass Spectrometry46
Table 7	Body Mass of Dams and Pups (Shown as Mean \pm SEM) in Each Treatment and
	Genotype Group at P21 Perfusion Date
Table 8	Body Mass of $\alpha 2\delta\text{-}1^{Thy1}$ Dams and P21 Pups in Each Treatment and Genotype
	Group at Perfusion Date74
Table 9	Body Mass of P70 $\alpha 2\delta \text{-}1^{Thy1}$ Mice in Each Treatment and Genotype Group at
	Perfusion Date75

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1	Brain Regions of Interest Within Mesolimbic Dopamine Pathway8
Figure 2	The Tripartite Synapse and the Interactions Between Thrombospondins (TSP),
	α2δ-1, and Gabapentin (GBP)14
Figure 3	Patient Appearance for Follow-Up Appointments25
Figure 4	Visual Representation of Immunohistochemistry Staining45
Figure 5	Increased Excitatory Synapses with Early Life Buprenorphine Exposure50
Figure 6	Dual Exposure to Buprenorphine and Gabapentin Decreased Inhibitory Synapses
	at P2152
Figure 7	Altered Excitatory Synaptic Connectivity Following Early Life Drug Treatment in
	α2δ-1 Haploinsufficient Mice54
Figure 8	$\alpha 2\delta$ -1-Influenced Changes in Inhibitory Synapse Development in Drug-Exposed
	Pups55
Figure 9	Confirmation of Forebrain-Specific Conditional α2δ-1 Knockout Mouse62
Figure 10	Schedule for Behavioral Studies for Each Mouse in the P70 Group, Beginning at
	P22 and Ending at P7070
Figure 11	Formation of Excitatory Synapses Decreased with Early Life Gabapentin
	Exposure77
Figure 12	Presence of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 Significantly Impacted Excitatory Synapse Number Within the
	Anterior Cingulate Cortex78
Figure 13	Response to the Combination of Buprenorphine and Gabapentin Determined by
	Presence of α2δ-1 Within the Nucleus Accumbens

Figure 14	Response to Buprenorphine Impacted by the Presence of $\alpha 2\delta\text{-}1$ in Prefrontal
	Cortex
Figure 15	Development of Inhibitory Synapses Impacted by Buprenorphine
Figure 16	Presence of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 Significantly Impacted Inhibitory Synapse Number Within the
	Anterior Cingulate Cortex
Figure 17	Buprenorphine Can Affect Changes in Inhibitory Synapse Number Within the
	Nucleus Accumbens
Figure 18	Gabapentin Capable of Interfering with $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 Related Decrease in Inhibitory
	Synapse Number Within the Prefrontal Cortex
Figure 19	Drug Induced Changes in Excitatory Synapse Number Persist into Adulthood87
Figure 20	Persistent Effects of Early Life Buprenorphine Exposure Influenced by
	Haploinsufficiency of α2δ-1
Figure 21	Early Life Drug Exposure Produces Persistent Changes in Inhibitory Synapse
	Number
Figure 22	Effects of Early Life Drug Exposure on Inhibitory Synapse Number is Less
	Impacted by Haploinsufficiency of α2δ-1 Over Time91
Figure 23	Increase in Age Generally Associated with Decrease in Excitatory Synapse Number
	Within the Anterior Cingulate Cortex
Figure 24	Age Related Decrease in Excitatory Synapse Number Not Equal Across Drug
	Treatment Groups Within the Nucleus Accumbens
Figure 25	Changes in Excitatory Synapse Number in Gabapentin Treatment in
	Haploinsufficent Mice Not Altered by Age Within the Prefrontal Cortex95

Figure 26	Expression Level of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 Influences Age-Related Changes in Inhibitory Synapses
	Within Anterior Cingulate Cortex97
Figure 27	Inhibitory Synapses Increase with Age in Gabapentin Treated Mice Within the
	Nucleus Accumbens
Figure 28	Inhibitory synapses increase with age in gabapentin treated mice Within the
	Prefrontal Cortex
Figure 29	Light/Dark Testing Performance Not Impacted by Early Life Drug Exposure or
	Expression Level of α2δ-1101
Figure 30	Anxiety and Locomotor Activity in Open Field Testing Potentially Impacted by
	Early Life Drug Exposure
Figure 31	Performance in Open Field Not Impacted by Expression Level of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1105
Figure 32	Neither Drug Treatment Nor $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 Expression Significantly Affected Conditioned
	Place Preference
Figure 33	Number of Nose Pokes Declined After First Day of 10-Day FR1 Self-
	Administration
Figure 34	No Significant Differences Observed Among the Mean Number of Nose Pokes of
	from Last 2 Days of FR3 Self-Administration in Mice That Demonstrated
	Reinforcement

ABSTRACT

One of the most significant outcomes of the rise in rates of opioid abuse in the United States has been a dramatic increase in the incidence of neonatal abstinence syndrome (NAS), the clinical diagnosis for the collection of withdrawal-like signs and symptoms commonly observed in the newborns of mothers who abused certain drugs, such as opioids, during pregnancy. While a great deal of research has investigated the short-term symptoms and potential treatments for NAS, including my own studies to identify emerging trends among a local population of NAS patients, there remains a critical need to investigate the long-term effects of prenatal drug exposure on neurological development. A potential route through which drugs of abuse likely interact with the developing nervous system lies in astrocyte-mediated synaptic development, more specifically in signaling involving thrombospondins, a class of astrocyte secreted glycoproteins that act through binding to the neuronal cell surface receptor $\alpha 2\delta - 1$. $\alpha 2\delta - 1$ is also the receptor for the antiepileptic drug gabapentin. Co-abuse of opioids and gabapentin during pregnancy is associated with a unique presentation of NAS. I have therefore hypothesized that prenatal exposure to drugs of abuse leads to significant disruptions in astrocyte mediated synaptogenic signaling, resulting in permanent deficits in synapse formation and alterations in behaviors associated with addiction. To test this, I treated pregnant mice transgenic for $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 with one of four treatments: the opioid drug buprenorphine, gabapentin, a combination of both drugs, or a vehicle control. $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 wild-type, heterozygous, and knockout littermate pups of both sexes at 21 days of age were used for studies involving immunohistochemistry and confocal fluorescence microscopy to investigate synaptic connectivity within brain regions associated with reward. A second cohort of pups at 70 days of age underwent the same studies after first undergoing behavioral experiments examining anxiety, locomotion, and reward seeking. By completing

these studies, I hoped to contribute to a greater understanding of the effects of prenatal opioid exposure on neurological and behavioral development that would inform parents, healthcare providers, and educators looking to meet the unique developmental and educational needs of children impacted by drug abuse.

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

The use of derivatives of the opium poppy (*Papaver somniferum*) to treat pain and induce euphoria likely predates the oldest surviving records of human history (Bandyopadhyay, 2019; Brownstein, 1993; Dhawan et al., 1996; Pasternak & Pan, 2013). It is also likely that these derivatives and the synthetic drugs modeled after them have led to misuse and addiction for nearly as long. It is only within the past few decades, however (AHRQ, 2021; Scholl L, 2019; USDHHS, 2015), that rates of opioid abuse have risen to levels high enough to have a significant impact on the wider society and be labeled an epidemic, due predominantly to factors such as evolving philosophies surrounding the treatment of pain, the development of increasingly effective and potent drugs, and changes in the prescribing practices of physicians (Cerdá et al., 2015; DeWeerdt, 2019; Haight et al., 2018; Kolodny et al., 2015; Tsang et al., 2008; USDHHS, 2015). The full consequences of this widespread rise in substance abuse are still in the process of being understood with researchers from a wide variety of backgrounds and specialties approaching different aspects of the problem.

Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome

One direct result of the rise in rates of opioid use disorder (OUD) that is being heavily researched is the dramatic rise in the rates of neonatal abstinence syndrome (NAS) (Desai et al., 2014; Haight et al., 2018; Tolia et al., 2015; Winkelman et al., 2018). NAS is the clinical diagnosis used to describe the withdrawal-related signs and symptoms commonly observed in the newborns of mothers who abused certain drugs, such as opioids, during pregnancy (the condition can also be referred to as neonatal opioid withdrawal syndrome, or NOWS, in cases where opioids are known to be the primary substance abused during the pregnancy). Signs and

symptoms of NAS typically begin within 72 hours after birth and commonly include irritability, tremors, excessive crying, sneezing, excessive yawning, tachycardia, hypertension, poor feeding, diarrhea, and, in some severe cases, seizures (Kocherlakota, 2014; Raffaeli et al., 2017). Use of drugs of abuse, such as opioids, during pregnancy has also been correlated with increased risk of sudden infant death syndrome (SIDS; risk ratio as high as 3.6 for methadone-exposed infants) (Cohen et al., 2015; Kandall et al., 1993) and death within the first two years of life (Ostrea et al., 1997). Numerical scoring scales, such as the Finnegan Neonatal Abstinence Scoring System (Finnegan et al., 1975) are used to evaluate the severity of symptoms and help direct decisions concerning treatment and care (Kocherlakota, 2014). Length of stays in hospital neonatal intensive care units or similar dedicated treatment facilities average 16 days for affected infants (Hudak & Tan, 2012) but can widely vary. Pregnant women with OUD are commonly encouraged to enroll in medication-assisted treatment (MAT), which combines the prescription of less-addictive opioid drugs, typically methadone or buprenorphine, with behavioral counseling and other forms of prenatal support in order to treat their addiction and hopefully improve health outcomes for both the mother and her child. However, emerging evidence asserts that any opioid use during pregnancy, even when administered as part of a medical treatment, can have deleterious effects on the developing fetus and MAT does not eliminate the potential for NAS (Belcheva et al., 1998; Burke & Beckwith, 2017; Grecco et al., 2021; H. Johnson et al., 1984; Kayemba-Kay's & Laclyde, 2003).

NAS represents a significant health concern for affected infants and an emotional toll on the families of those infants. It also represents a significant financial burden (Patrick et al., 2015; S. Patrick et al., 2012). Total hospital costs to treat NAS patients who were covered by Medicaid increased from \$65.4 million in 2004 to \$462 million in 2014 (Winkelman et al., 2018). These

rising medical costs are further complicated by the fact that, while socio-economic status is not necessarily correlated with substance use, a large proportion of substance use disorder patients come from lower socio-economic backgrounds, a group that also historically has poorer access to quality healthcare in general (Becker & Newsom, 2003; Braveman & Gottlieb, 2014; Hanson & Chen, 2007; M. Kim et al., 2018; M. Patrick et al., 2012).

While OUD and NAS are global issues, the United States has been, and remains, the most severely impacted country (Lancet, 2022). The national rate of NAS in the United States was 6.8 per 1000 neonatal hospitalizations in 2018 compared to 1.5 in 1999 (AHRQ, 2021; Haight et al., 2018). However, rates can vary widely between different states and within the same state. Appalachia and more rural regions in the country have been disproportionately affected by OUD and NAS (J. Brown et al., 2018; Hayes & Brown, 2012; Patrick et al., 2015). In West Virginia for example, where access to treatment facilities for opioid abuse is limited compared to other states (J. Brown et al., 2018), the rate of NAS from October 2016 to December 2017 was 52.6 cases per 1,000 live births (Umer et al., 2019). In 2018, the statewide rate was slightly lower at 49.6 per 1000 live births (7.3× the national average) but was still the highest rate of any state in the country (AHRQ, 2021).

The serious emotional toll for the families of affected children and the significant burdens placed on healthcare providers associated with these high incidence rates of NAS have prompted considerable research efforts into better understanding the mechanisms of NAS and improving clinical care and treatment for NAS affected infants. However, compared to the number of research studies that have investigated mechanisms and treatments, information regarding the long-term effects of prenatal exposure to drugs of abuse on neurological development, in humans or in animal models, is limited. Additional research into this area is necessary in order for

healthcare providers, educators, and parents better meet the specific needs of affected children as they grow and develop.

The Endogenous Opioid System Serves a Key Role in CNS Development

All opioid drugs interact with the human body via binding to one or members of a class of G-protein coupled receptors simply referred to as opioid receptors (McDonald & Lambert, 2005). These receptors are expressed in varying levels throughout the body, including the CNS (Merrer et al., 2009; Peng et al., 2012; Rius et al., 1991; Zhu et al., 1998). Each receptor type binds preferentially with one or more members of a group of peptide hormones known as endogenous opioids (McDonald & Lambert, 2005; Zagon & McLaughlin, 2017). The endogenous opioid β -endorphin appears to bind strongly to all three of the classically known receptors: the μ opioid receptor (MOR), the δ opioid receptor (DOR), and the κ opioid receptor (KOR) (McDonald & Lambert, 2005). The endogenous opioids endomorphin 1 and 2 bind most strongly to the MOR, leu- and met-enkephalin bind most strongly to the DOR, and dynorphins A and B bind most strongly to the KOR (Dhawan et al., 1996; McDonald & Lambert, 2005; Zagon & McLaughlin, 2017). The more recently characterized endogenous opioid nociceptin/orphanin FQ opioid peptide (N/OFQ) binds to the most recently discovered receptor, the N/OFQ opioid receptor (NOR) (Toll et al., 2016). The interactions between endogenous opioids and their receptors are often collectively referred to as the endogenous opioid system (McDonald & Lambert, 2005). This system is involved in the activity and regulation of many different biological processes, including analgesia, respiratory/cardiac function, intestinal transit, mood, and hormone secretion, and is essential for normal development and function (Dhawan et al., 1996; Rius et al., 1991; Tan et al., 2018).

There is reason to believe that endogenous opioids and their receptors are particularly vital to healthy nervous system development. For example, MOR and KORs have been detected on the surfaces of rodent embryonic stem cells and neural progenitor cells with evidence that the binding of endogenous opioids can induce embryonic stem cells to differentiate via the extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK)/ mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase signaling pathway (E. Kim et al., 2006; Tan et al., 2018). The localization of opioid receptors to different regions of the brain may also have a significant impact on development. Immature mice have been shown to have a higher percentage of MOR expression within known sites of neurogenesis, namely the subventricular zone and striatum, compared to adult mice (Stiene-Martin & Hauser, 1991). In neonatal rats, expression of KORs within known sites of cellular proliferation and neurogenesis, including the ventricular and subventricular zones and the hippocampus, has been shown to be higher compared to adults (Tan et al., 2018). Given the importance of endogenous opioids and their receptors in the developing CNS, an introduction of exogenous opioids could have a lasting, dramatic impact on this process.

Exogenous Opioids Have Multiple Effects Within the CNS

All opioid drugs, whether derived from natural sources or developed synthetically, interact with the human body primarily through the same class of receptors as endogenous opioids. Morphine, the prototypical opioid, and its derivatives (heroin, fentanyl, oxycodone, etc.) are primarily active at MORs but also act as weaker KOR and DOR agonists (McDonald & Lambert, 2005). These drugs are believed to alleviate pain through two separate mechanisms: 1. By binding to opioid receptors on the axon terminals of nociceptive afferent neurons from the peripheral nervous system within the dorsal horn of the spinal cord to depress the release of neurotransmitters, predominantly substance P and glutamate; and 2. By binding to opioid

receptors within the CNS (particularly the midbrain, brainstem, and thalamus) to activate descending inhibitory pain pathways (Doyle & Murphy, 2018; Inturrisi, 2002; Lipp, 1991; Lueptow et al., 2018; Pasternak & Pan, 2013). Methadone is another derivative of morphine that also has a high affinity for the MOR and can also be prescribed for pain relief. However, methadone also has additional properties, such as a delayed onset of action and longer half-life (Ball & Ross, 2012; R. Brown et al., 2004; Chestnut, 2020), that have led to its use as a maintenance treatment for OUD ("Dose-response effects of methadone in the treatment of opioid dependence," 1993; Ling et al., 1976). In contrast, the more recently developed opioid buprenorphine, which is also used as an analgesic and has been increasingly used in the treatment of OUD, is a derivative of the opiate alkaloid thebaine. It has been shown to be a partial agonist at MORs but an antagonist at KORs and DORs (Martin et al., 2001; Welsh & Valadez-Meltzer, 2005), likely contributing to its effectiveness as a maintenance therapy. Intriguingly, however, buprenorphine's metabolite norbuprenorphine is an agonist at the DOR and a partial agonist at MORs and KORs (Huang et al., 2001). Clearly, despite all being classified as opioids, individual drugs within this classification can vary widely in both their receptor binding profiles and their pharmacokinetics, thus determining their applications in medicine and potentials for harm or abuse.

It is widely accepted that the primary mechanism by which opioids induce reward and hold the potential for abuse and addiction is via interactions within the mesolimbic dopamine pathway (Carlezon & Wise, 1996; Di Chiara et al., 2004; S. Johnson & North, 1992; Pierce & Kumaresan, 2006; Wachtel et al., 1989) (**Figure 1A**). The mesolimbic dopamine pathway, sometimes referred to as the dopamine reward pathway, normally functions to encode experiences as novel (Bunzeck & Düzel, 2006; Bunzeck et al., 2007; Kutlu et al., 2021) and

pleasurable in order to reinforce future behaviors in an attempt to seek out similar experiences (Knutson & Cooper, 2005; Lisman & Grace, 2005; Wittmann et al., 2005). This process begins within the midbrain in the ventral tegmental area (VTA), where the cell bodies of dopaminergic neurons extend axonal processes to other regions of the brain. The most prominent of these brain regions are the nucleus accumbens (NAC) within the striatum and the prefrontal cortex (PFC) (Adinoff, 2004; Carr et al., 1999; Han et al., 2017; Lisman & Grace, 2005). Increased phasic release of dopamine within the NAC in response to external stimuli has been shown to reinforce pleasurable behaviors including eating food, engaging in sexual activity, or consuming alcohol and/or drugs of abuse (Lingford-Hughes & Kalk, 2012). Opioids act within the VTA by binding to opioid receptors on the surface of GABAergic interneurons that exert inhibitory control on neighboring dopaminergic neurons (Bouarab et al., 2019; Jalabert et al., 2011; S. Johnson & North, 1992), effectively inhibiting the release of GABA and disinhibiting the release of dopamine.



Figure 1: Brain Regions of Interest Within Mesolimbic Dopamine Pathway (A) Diagram of mouse brain highlighting regions associated with mesolimbic dopamine pathway and the known connections between them (PFC, prefrontal cortex; ACC, anterior cingulate cortex; NAC, nucleus accumbens; VTA, ventral tegmental area; Hippo, hippocampus; Amyg, amygdala). (B–D) Representative fluorescent confocal microscopic images of excitatory synaptic immunohistochemistry staining (presynaptic VGluT1, green; postsynaptic PSD95, red) at 10X and 63X magnification of the (B) ACC, (C) NAC, and (D) PFC.

Interactions between brain regions, both within and outside the mesolimbic dopamine pathway, modulate the activity of this pathway and influence reward motivated behavior. The PFC, the brain region most associated with decision making and impulse control (Holt et al., 2008; Knutson & Cooper, 2005; Pryor & Veselis, 2006), projects to the NAC and modulates its activation in response to dopamine release (Carr et al., 1999; Han et al., 2017; McFarland et al., 2003; Pierce & Kumaresan, 2006; Rebec & Sun, 2005). It has been shown that projections from the medial PFC to the NAC are involved in reinstatement of drug-seeking behavior in response to stress or drug-associated cues (McFarland et al., 2003; Rebec & Sun, 2005). It has also been shown that the PFC is largely responsible for reward prediction during the performance of behavioral tasks (Knutson & Cooper, 2005). The hippocampus, a brain region crucial to learning and memory (Anand & Dhikav, 2012; Rubin et al., 2014), appears to form a functional loop with the VTA to promote the seeking out of novel experiences and expecting reward when engaging in behaviors associated with pleasurable memories (Lisman & Grace, 2005; Wittmann et al., 2005). The anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) is involved in a variety of functions, including reward anticipation, motivational persistence, and modulation of goal oriented motor activity (Blanchard et al., 2015; Walton et al., 2003), and has been shown to influence motivation via modulation of VTA activity (Elston & Bilkey, 2017; Narita et al., 2010; Y. Yuan et al., 2009). The amygdala is largely known to be a center for the processing of emotions, particularly fear (Balleine & Killcross, 2006; Bonnet et al., 2015). However, the amygdala is also known to interact with the hippocampus to attribute emotional coding to memories and has been shown to interact with the NAC and VTA to modulate stress and addiction (Belujon & Grace, 2011; Chi Yiu & Mogenson, 1982; Hurd et al., 1999; C. Nguyen et al., 2021). The interconnectedness of these brain regions may indicate the potential for opioid induced changes in structure or function within one region to impact other regions as well. Understanding what effects drugs of abuse, such as opioids, can have on the normal development, structure, and function of the mesolimbic dopamine pathway and the CNS in general will be crucial to better understanding and treating substance abuse.

Drugs of Abuse Can Interfere with the Normal Development of Neurons in the CNS

Given the importance of the endogenous opioid system in development and the impact exogenous opioids can have on CNS function, the question of how opioids could potentially affect the development of the CNS naturally arises. In animal models, prenatal opioids have been shown to stunt the proliferation and development of neurons within the CNS. Levels of neuronal specific protein markers (Neu-N and MAP-2) as well as stem/progenitor biochemical markers of the neural lineage (nestin, Sox2, KLF4, and doublecortin) were reduced in 21-day-old rats that had been exposed to buprenorphine during prenatal development (Wu et al., 2014). This same group of 21-day-old rats also showed decreased brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) expression and signaling (Wu et al., 2014). BDNF is critical is critical in CNS development. In particular, signaling between BDNF and the receptor TrkB is vital for neurogenesis, axon growth, and synaptic plasticity (Cohen-Cory et al., 2010; Kramár et al., 2012). The relationship between BDNF and exogenous opioids is likely significant given that plasma levels of BDNF were found to be increased in 2-day-old human infants diagnosed with NAS compared to healthy infants (Subedi et al., 2017). Epigenetic modifications resulting from opioid exposure may explain this relationship, given that expression of BDNF is highly epigenetically regulated (Browne et al., 2020; K.-W. Chen & Chen, 2017).

Altered expression of growth factors and signaling molecules do not appear to be the only mechanism through which opioids affect neuronal development. In free-floating cultured rat cortical neurospheres, buprenorphine was shown to reduce proliferation of neural stem/progenitor cells (Wu et al., 2014). It has also been shown, within rats, that opioids alter neuronal expression of apoptotic proteins (namely caspase-3, Bcl-2, and Bax) particularly within

the hippocampus (Wang & Han, 2009). Dysregulation of apoptosis could lead to inappropriate cell death and potentially interfere with normal neuronal development.

In addition to affecting proliferation and overall numbers of neurons in the developing CNS, prenatal opioids also appear to influence neuronal growth and maturation. Neurons isolated from the somatosensory cortices of heroin-exposed 3-day-old mouse pups possessed fewer and shorter dendrites compared to neurons from control pups (Lu et al., 2012). This change in dendritic development could impede synaptic connectivity and inter-neuronal communication throughout the brains of these pups.

Drugs of Abuse Can Interfere with the Normal Function and Development of Glia in the CNS

While studies examining the effects of prenatal drug exposure in the CNS have predominantly focused on the development of neurons, the development of nonneuronal glial cells has also been shown to be influenced by both the endogenous opioid system (Stiene-Martin & Hauser, 1991) and by exogenous drugs of abuse (Narita et al., 2006). There are a variety of different glial cell types, each with distinct and vital roles in the development, function, maintenance, and repair of the CNS. Oligodendrocytes (Kettenmann & Verkhratsky, 2011; Sanchez et al., 2008; Tan et al., 2018; Vestal-Laborde et al., 2014) and microglia (Maduna et al., 2019; Schwarz & Bilbo, 2013; Zamani et al., 2022) have been implicated in prenatal opioidinduced changes in neurological development. However, an increasing amount of evidence points to astrocytes as being the glial cell type most involved in the changes within the CNS in response to prenatal drug exposure.

Astrocytes are the most numerous type of glia in the CNS and are involved in a number of vital processes (Sidoryk-Wegrzynowicz et al., 2011; Volman et al., 2012) including, but not

limited to, maintenance of the blood brain barrier (Allen & Lyons, 2018), regulation of extracellular ion balance (Volman et al., 2012), regulation of the concentrations of neurotransmitters in the extracellular space (Boddum et al., 2016; Minelli et al., 1996; A. Q. Nguyen et al., 2020), glutamate uptake and release (Parpura & Haydon, 2000), and regulation of synaptic development within the CNS (Allen & Lyons, 2018; Bosworth & Allen, 2017; Christopherson et al., 2005; Clarke & Barres, 2013; Cresto et al., 2019; Risher et al., 2018; Risher et al., 2014). Astrocytes are able to mediate both excitatory (Christopherson et al., 2005) and inhibitory synaptogenesis (Elmariah et al., 2005; A. Q. Nguyen et al., 2020) as well as mediate synapse elimination via phagocytosis involving cell surface receptors such as MEGF10 and MERTK (Chung et al., 2013). Astrocytes promote synaptogenesis between developing neurons by secreting a number of different factors (Allen et al., 2012; Baldwin & Eroglu, 2017; Kucukdereli et al., 2011), including a class of extracellular matrix glycoproteins known as thrombospondins (TSPs) (Christopherson et al., 2005; Risher & Eroglu, 2012). Of greatest interest are thrombospondin 1 and 2 (TSP-1/2), which exert their synaptogenic effect by binding to $\alpha 2\delta$ -1, a subunit of L-type voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels found on the surface of neurons at preand postsynaptic terminals throughout the CNS (Risher et al., 2018) (Figure 2). This was further evidenced by the observation that the number of excitatory glutamatergic synapses and overall dendritic spine maturity were both decreased in the cerebral cortices of transgenic $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 knockout ($\alpha 2\delta$ -1 KO) mice (Risher et al., 2018). Given the known involvement of astrocytes in certain forms of neuronal dysfunction and neurodegenerative disease (Cresto et al., 2019; Sidoryk-Wegrzynowicz et al., 2011; Zoghbi & Bear, 2012), the effect of opioids on the modulation of astrocyte signaling, particularly astrocyte-mediated synaptogenesis, may explain some of the developmental aberrations associated with prenatal opioid exposure.

Opioid receptors (particularly MORs) have been confirmed on the surface of astrocytes (Hauser et al., 1996; Nam et al., 2018; Stiene-Martin & Hauser, 1991), making these cells susceptible to receptor-ligand interactions with both endogenous and exogenous opioids. Morphine and other MOR agonists have been shown to inhibit astrocyte growth and development by suppressing DNA synthesis in vitro (Hauser et al., 1996) and increase expression of glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), an indicator of reactivity, in astrocytes (Beitner-Johnson et al., 1993). Opioids also appear to affect astrocyte-neuronal interactions, as cultured immortalized rat astrocytes subjected to prolonged treatment with µ-opioid receptor agonists, including morphine, showed decreased production of TSP-1 and 2 (Phamduong et al., 2014) (Figure 2). These findings can be seen *in vivo* as well, since rat pups repeatedly injected with morphine were shown to have decreased astrocyte expression of TSP-1 (Ikeda et al., 2010). The importance of astrocytes in the development of opioid addiction is also evidenced by morphine-treated mice that showed enhanced conditioned place preference, actively choosing to spend more time in a chamber paired with morphine injections over a chamber paired with saline injections, after receiving injections of astrocyte conditioned media into their brains (Narita et al., 2006). Greater understanding of the role of astrocytes in maintaining excitatory/inhibitory synaptic balance, coupled with increased awareness of the effects of drugs of abuse on astrocytes during development, may facilitate novel insight into how neurological function may be impacted in cases of early life drug exposure.



Figure 2: The Tripartite Synapse and the Interactions Between Thrombospondins (TSP), α2δ-1, and Gabapentin (GBP)

Astrocyte foot processes interact with pre- and post-synaptic terminals. Opioids and gabapentin have been shown, in different ways, to interfere with normal release of TSPs and their interaction with $\alpha 2\delta$ -1. Adapted from figure originally presented in review article by Baldwin and Eroglu (Baldwin & Eroglu, 2017).

Effects of Prenatal Gabapentin Exposure

Although the rise in rates of NAS over the past 20 years can largely be correlated with the rise in rates of OUD, opioids are not the only class of drugs commonly used by women during pregnancy. Co-abuse of multiple substances at once is common in these women and in substance use disorder patients in general (Ahmad et al., 2022; O'Donnell J, 2020). One prescription drug that has been shown to be increasingly co-abused along with opioids is gabapentin, an anticonvulsant drug commonly prescribed for the treatment of neuropathic pain (Smith et al., 2016). Originally prescribed to treat partial seizures, gabapentin has been increasingly prescribed to treat neuropathic pain. Though originally designed as a structural analogue for the neurotransmitter γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA), gabapentin does not bind to GABA_A or GABA_B receptors. It has instead been proposed that gabapentin decreases neurotransmitter release from the presynaptic terminal by inhibiting Ca^{2+} influx through L-type channels (Fink et al., 2000; Patel & Dickenson, 2016). Although gabapentin was initially believed to have no potential for abuse or addiction (Bastiaens et al., 2016; Smith et al., 2016), surveys of OUD patients have found that as many as 26% of those interviewed reported abusing gabapentin for nonmedical reasons, often taking gabapentin in combination with opioids as a means to potentiate the experienced high (Baird et al., 2014; Bastiaens et al., 2016; Smith et al., 2016). Supporting their testimonies are studies demonstrating that gabapentin has also been shown to enhance the analgesia of morphine in a rat model (Meymandi et al., 2006). In addition, clinicians have observed a unique presentation of NAS in infants whose mothers abused both opioids and gabapentin while pregnant, with symptoms including tongue thrusting, back arching, and increased eye wandering (Loudin et al., 2017). Reports of gabapentin's potential for abuse has led many states to classify the drug as a Schedule V Controlled Substance. The mechanisms by which gabapentin and opioids may interact and the reasons for the unique presentation of NAS in infants with a history of exposure to a combination of both drugs remain unclear.

A possible explanation for the unique interaction between gabapentin and opioids in prenatally exposed infants may lie in the mechanism of action of gabapentin. Gabapentin is believed to primarily act through binding to $\alpha 2\delta$ -1, the same Ca²⁺ channel subunit that, as stated earlier, is also the binding site for TSP-1 and TSP-2 (Cole et al., 2005; Field et al., 2006; Nicolas S. Gee, 1996). Gabapentin appears to interfere with TSP binding to $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 as evidenced by the

disruption of normal astrocyte-induced synaptogenesis in cultured retinal ganglion cells in response to the addition of gabapentin (Eroglu et al., 2009). This interference in normal synaptogenesis could potentially explain the unique NAS phenotype associated with gabapentin and could indicate the potential for greater disruption of neurological development.

Changes in Size and Structure in the CNS Associated with Prenatal Drug Exposure

The changes in cellular function and development observed to result from exposure to drugs of abuse, particularly opioids and gabapentin, would be expected to be accompanied by observable changes in the size, structure, and function of both the entire CNS as a whole and of specific brain regions and the pathways that connect them. Within the brains of adults with a history of long term prescription opioid dependence, Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) scans showed significant changes in functional connectivity have been observed, with the duration of opioid exposure positively correlated with the severity of those changes (Upadhyay et al., 2010). Additional MRI studies have shown reduced white matter and grey matter within the brains of adult opioid abusers (Upadhyay et al., 2010; Y. Yuan et al., 2009).

In comparison to the changes observed in the adult CNS in response to opioid exposure, prenatal opioid exposure tends to lead to even more dramatic effects. For decades, researchers have observed lower birth weights and smaller head circumferences in children prenatally exposed to opioids (H. Johnson et al., 1984; Asher Ornoy et al., 2001; Wilson et al., 1979). These low birth weights in children correlate with higher rates of mortality in the first two years of life (Ostrea et al., 1997) and have also been associated with poor performance in school and higher rates of behavioral problems (McCormick et al., 1990; Taylor et al., 2015).

Other structural deficits associated with prenatal opioids have been observed in studies utilizing medical imaging. Ultrasound studies have found that fetuses at 18-22 weeks gestation

whose mothers were undergoing methadone maintenance therapy had significantly larger thalamic diameter-to-head circumference ratios compared to a control group (Schulson et al., 2014). Another ultrasound study observed abnormally small, slit-like ventricles in NAS affected 1-month-old infants (Pasto et al., 1985). Other studies utilized MRI to examine the brains of children with a history of prenatal drug exposure. In both infants (Q. Yuan et al., 2014) and in children 10-14 years of age (Sirnes et al., 2017), certain brain regions (including the basal ganglia, thalamus, and cerebellar white matter) were observed to be significantly smaller compared to age-matched control children after adjusting for intracranial volume and birthweight. Another MRI study examining 17-22-year-olds whose mothers had abused multiple drugs, including heroin, while pregnant had significantly smaller whole brain, cerebral cortex, cerebral white matter, basal ganglia, pallidum, thalamus, and cerebellar white matter volumes compared to controls (Egil Nygaard et al., 2018). Taken together, these results show that changes in the sizes of brain region observed in drug-exposed infants can and do persist into adolescence and young adulthood.

Prenatal Drug Exposure is Associated with Changes in Behavior

The types of changes observed within the CNS, both in cellular development and systemic structure, could reasonably be expected to result in alterations to normal CNS function that would be reflected in behavior. Indeed, a variety of behavioral and cognitive deficits have been documented both in animal models of prenatal drug exposure and in human patients. Tests of anxiety-type behaviors in animal models have shown significant differences between drug-exposed and control subjects. Adult rats whose mothers were injected with morphine during pregnancy were shown to spend less time both in the light compartment of a light/dark box and while exploring the open arms of an elevated plus maze compared to rats whose mothers

received saline (Ahmadalipour et al., 2015; Klausz et al., 2011). Similar behaviors suggestive of more pronounced anxious phenotypes among these prenatal morphine-exposed rats were also observed in rats prenatally exposed to buprenorphine (Chen H, 2015). Exactly what structural and functional changes within the CNS would result in such anxious phenotypes have not yet been determined.

Given the importance of opioids in reward processing, it is not surprising that rewardseeking and depressive behaviors are affected in animals prenatally exposed to opioids. Adult rats exposed to morphine *in utero* showed a greater preference for a saccharin/water solution over pure water compared to control rats, indicating an elevated response to pleasurable stimuli (Gagin et al., 1996). Differences are also seen in exposed animals when faced with unpleasant stimuli. Rats prenatally exposed to buprenorphine and tested using the forced swimming and tail suspension tests showed reduced escape-oriented behaviors, which was interpreted as greater depressive behavior than control rats (Hung et al., 2013; Wu et al., 2014) Changes in connectivity or strength of the mesolimbic dopamine reward pathway caused by prenatal exposure to opioids could explain these trends of elevated response to rewarding stimuli and greater depressive behavior in response to unpleasant stimuli.

Studies utilizing memory tests have shown significantly worse performance in rodents prenatally exposed to opioids compared to control animals. Rats prenatally exposed to morphine, methadone, or buprenorphine subjected to tests of novel object recognition on postnatal day 44 were shown to have impaired recognition memory compared to control rats (Chen H, 2015). When tested with the Morris water maze on postnatal day 30, rats prenatally exposed to heroin took longer than unexposed rats to follow visual cues and swim to a platform they had previously located, indicating deficits in learning and memory (Wang & Han, 2009). Another study showed

a reduced tendency to explore a familiar object after it was moved to a novel location in 120day-old mice that had been exposed to heroin during prenatal development (Lu et al., 2012).

Studies use a variety of scales and tests to evaluate human cognitive function at different developmental stages. The meta-analysis by Yeoh et al. (2019) of 26 human prenatal opioid exposure studies provides an extensive overview of the current knowledge concerning cognitive as well as motor related dysfunctions. Male infants with a history of prenatal opioid exposure have been shown to score higher than females on tests of habituation, which measure the ability of the infant to ignore extraneous environmental stimuli (Jones et al., 2010). One of the earliest studies to investigate prenatal drug exposure in humans showed that children aged 3 to 6 years old who were prenatally exposed to heroin performed worse on the General Cognitive Index and on the perceptual performance, quantitative, and memory subtests of the McCarthy Scales of Children's Abilities (Wilson et al., 1979). Another study compared a group of 12-month-old children with a history of prenatal methadone exposure to an age-matched control group by utilizing the Bayley Scales of Infant Development. It was found that 20% of the methadoneexposed group had Mental Development Index scores indicative of developmental delay, while only 4% of the unexposed children had such low scores (H. Johnson et al., 1984). A more recent study used the second edition of the Bayley Scales of Infant Development (Bayley-II) to evaluate a group of boys whose mothers had abused multiple drugs, including heroin, during pregnancy. The average scores for these children at years 1, 2, and 3 were, respectively, 9.7, 12.9, and 10.3 points lower than the average scores for an unexposed control group (Egil Nygaard et al., 2015). The same cohort scored 15.4 points lower than controls on the McCarthy Scales of Children's Abilities at age 4.5 and 14.8 points lower than controls on the Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children at age 8.5, suggesting that diminished cognitive ability among prenatally the exposed

children did not improve over time. An analysis of standardized test scores in New South Wales, Australia also provides evidence that prenatally exposed children do not catch up with nonexposed peers in terms of cognitive ability. A cohort of children who had been diagnosed with NAS as infants scored lower on the National Assessment Program: Literacy and Numeracy (NAPLAN) than the statewide average and were more likely to not meet a minimum standard score in grades 3, 5, and 7 (ages 8–9, 10–11, and 12–13 years respectively) (Oei et al., 2017). These persistent trends imply that opioid exposure in early stages of development lead to lasting, detrimental cognitive changes.

While standardized tests can be used to reveal deficits in cognitive function associated with prenatal drug exposure, in some cases this exposure appears to negatively impact cognition to the point where the affected child develops a diagnosable disability. A study in Tennessee found that a group of school aged children (ages 3-8 years) with a history of NAS were more likely to have been evaluated for, diagnosed with, or treated for an educational disability compared to an age-matched control group of children (Fill et al., 2018). The authors of this study also noted that children in the NAS group were more likely to have required specialized classroom therapies or services than members of the control group. Another study used the Truven Health Analytics' Multi-State Medicaid Database to follow the psychiatric outcomes of over 1,000 children who had been diagnosed with NAS as infants. Within their first 5 years of life, these children were more than twice as likely to have been diagnosed with either disturbance of conduct, hyperkinetic syndrome of childhood, adjustment reaction disorder, or an intellectual disability compared to children with no history of NAS (Laura J. Sherman et al., 2019). Given the increasing rates of NAS nationwide, observations such as these highlight the importance of
research to an educational system that will have to accommodate the specific needs of the affected children.

The vast majority of studies comparing cognitive function and mental health between individuals with a history of prenatal drug exposure to non-exposed controls are focused on children and adolescents. The number of longitudinal studies following subjects into adulthood is limited. One study that included adult subjects examined a group of individuals 17-21 years of age whose mothers had abused heroin and other drugs during pregnancy. It was found that members of the prenatal drug-exposed group had significantly higher rates of attention deficit disorder/attention hyperactivity disorder (ADD/ADHD) and substance abuse disorder compared to a non-exposed age-matched control group (E. Nygaard et al., 2017). In addition, the exposed group performed significantly poorer on tests of general mental abilities and memory compared to the non-exposed control group (E. Nygaard et al., 2017).

Goals of this Dissertation

The combined results of these basic and clinical research studies, including my own study identifying significant trends among a local population of NAS patients, appear to indicate that there is an interaction between drugs of abuse, such as opioids and gabapentin, and astrocyte-mediated synaptogenic signaling. This interaction, predominantly centering on the association between astrocyte-secreted thrombospondin and $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 expressed on the cell surface of neurons at synaptic terminals, may be crucial to understanding the long-term effects of prenatal exposure to drugs of abuse. With this in mind, two specific aims were developed for this dissertation: 1. To test the hypothesis that exposure to opioids, gabapentin, or a polysubstance combination of the two drugs during early life development will lead to significant disruptions in astrocyte-regulated synaptic connectivity in brain regions associated with addiction and reward, and 2. To

test the hypothesis that such drug-exposed mice would demonstrate more pronounced addictionrelated behavioral phenotypes compared to genetically similar drug-naïve mice.

To these aims, pregnant mice belonging to two separate lines transgenic for the expression of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 were administered one of four treatments: the opioid drug buprenorphine, gabapentin, a combination of both drugs, or a vehicle control. $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 wild-type, heterozygous, and knockout littermate pups of both sexes at 21 days of age were used for studies involving immunohistochemistry and confocal fluorescence microscopy to determine the number of synapses within brain regions associated with reward. A second cohort of transgenic pups at 70 days of age was subjected to a regimen of experiments meant to assess anxiety, impulsivity, and reward-seeking type behaviors. By completing these studies, I hoped to contribute to a greater understanding of the effects of prenatal opioid exposure on neurological and behavioral development that would inform parents, healthcare providers, and educators looking to meet the unique developmental and educational needs of children impacted by drug abuse.

CHAPTER 2

AN INVESTIGATION INTO POTENTIAL TRENDS AMONG A LOCAL POPULATION OF NEONATAL ABSTINENCE SYNDROME PATIENTS INTRODUCTION

West Virginia has been especially negatively impacted by rising rates of opioid abuse and neonatal abstinence syndrome (NAS) in recent years. The state routinely ranks among the highest in the country in terms of NAS diagnoses (AHRQ, 2021; CDC, 2020; Hayes & Brown, 2012; Scholl L, 2019; Umer et al., 2019). Historically, patients living in rural regions such as Appalachia have limited access to healthcare facilities and are therefore less likely to receive treatment for substance abuse or NAS (J. Brown et al., 2018; Hayes & Brown, 2012). Lily's Place, a non-profit NAS treatment center in Huntington, WV, founded in 2014, provides therapeutic and pharmacological care to newborns born at nearby hospitals diagnosed with NAS. Patient records from facilities such as Lily's Place may offer insight into the patient populations that benefit most from the services provided by these facilities. In this study, the charts of patients treated at Lily's Place who returned for follow-up appointments between 2015 and 2019 were reviewed in order to examine any emerging trends among the children and their mothers. The types of drugs abused by the mothers of patients, the number of patients to reach developmental milestones, the types of medical issues observed among patients and their mothers, the insurance status of the patients, and the plan for care at each patient appointment were all recorded and compiled in order to report any emerging trends and increase understanding of the patient population served by Lily's Place. The results described in this study are currently pending publication in the Journal of Clinical Pediatrics and Neonatology.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Newborn patients from Huntington-area hospitals evaluated as showing symptoms of NAS were referred and transported to Lily's Place. During their stay at the facility each patient was treated in individual nursery rooms where their health was monitored. Pharmaceutical treatments, such as buprenorphine and/or clonidine, were administered to patients, if necessary, to help mitigate the process of weaning them from drugs of abuse. A monthly follow-up clinic was held for the parents of patients to bring their children for neurological and general health evaluations. The first follow-up appointments for all patients are scheduled 3 months following departure from the treatment center. Electronic charts (Allscripts Healthcare, LLC, Chicago, IL) from Lily's Place patients who appeared for these follow-up visits between the years 2015 to 2019 were compiled and analyzed using statistical software (Microsoft Excel, Redmond, WA and GraphPad Prism, San Diego, CA). Confidentiality of patient names and identifying information was maintained in line with HIPAA regulations.

RESULTS

Few Patients Returned for More than One Follow-Up Appointment

One hundred and twenty-two patients who appeared for follow-up appointments at Lily's Place between 2015 and 2019 were included in this study. These patients accounted for a total of 217 individual clinic visits. Of the 122 patients who appeared for follow-up appointments at Lily's Place, 64 (52.5%) were male and 58 (47.5%) were female. Fifteen patients were born via cesarian section while seven were born prematurely (before 37 weeks of pregnancy).

The majority of patients appeared at the clinic only once (67 patients or 54.9%), despite the encouragement for parents to schedule additional appointments (**Figure 3**). The mean number of visits per patient was 1.92 with the highest number of visits for any one patient being

9. Seventy-five patients arrived in the custody of someone other than a biological parent, such as foster parents or grandparents, at the time of their follow-up appointment.



Patients That Appeared for Appointments

Figure 3: Patient Appearance for Follow-Up Appointments Breakdown of the numbers of times patients appeared for follow-up appointments at Lily's Place

in Huntington, WV.

Certain Drugs Were Commonly Misused by Patient Mothers

Drugs of abuse taken by the mothers of patients during their pregnancies were reported in the patient records through a combination of drug screenings at the time of birth or through selfreport by the mothers (see **Table 1**). Opioid drugs of some form were confirmed to be used by 104 mothers of patients (85.2%) during their pregnancy. The single most commonly used drug among mothers of patients was buprenorphine, with 56 either currently taking the drug as a part of medication-assisted treatment for opioid abuse or with a history of using the drug without a prescription. 28 mothers were recorded as having used heroin. Tobacco products were the most commonly used non-opioid drugs (31 mothers; 25.4%) followed by cannabis products and gabapentinoids (e.g. Neurontin®, Lyrica®) with 19 mothers (15.6%) each.

Drug	# Patient Mothers			
Some Form of Opioid	104			
Methadone	26			
Buprenorphine	56			
Heroin	28			
Unknown/Other	39			
Tobacco	31			
Cocaine	11			
Benzodiazepine	14			
Methamphetamine	7			
Cannabis/THC	19			
Gabapentinoids	19			
Alcohol	2			
SSRIs	8			
TCAs	2			
Tramadol	2			
Other	6			

 Table 1: Drugs Misused by the Mothers of Patients During Their Pregnancies

Many Patients Did Not Reach Developmental Milestones on Time

The development of each patient was assessed in each follow-up appointment based on the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's (CDC) Developmental Milestones, a list of motor skills and behaviors that indicate typical normal and healthy development in young children ("CDC's developmental milestones," 2020). The milestones are separated into four categories: Social/Emotional, Language/Communication, Cognitive Milestones (learning, thinking, problem-solving), and Movement/Physical Development Milestones. The number of patients to reach all milestones assigned for their age group was recorded for this study (Table 2). By two months of age, infants are expected to be able to perform such tasks as hold their head up when on lying on their stomach, move both arms and both legs, follow movement with their eyes, and smile in response to words or smiling faces. Only 17 of the 122 patients included in this study successfully reached all these developmental milestones at two months of age. At four months of age, milestones for infants include being able to hold their head steady without support when being held, hold a toy in their hands, bring their hands to their mouth, turn their head to follow the sound of a voice, and push up onto elbows/forearms when on stomach. Only 14 patients in this study managed to reach all of these developmental milestones on time. Milestones for an infant at 6 months of age include being able to recognize familiar people, reach to grab objects and place them in their mouth, make squealing noises, and push themselves up with their arms and roll over to their backs when lying on their stomachs. Only seven patients successfully reached all these developmental milestones at the designated age. These results reflect significant developmental delays among this population of NAS patients, and likely among NAS patients in general.

Developmental Milestone Age (months)	# Patients
2	17
4	14
6	7
9	5
12	6
18	1

Table 2: Number of Patients Who Reached Each CDC Developmental Milestone

Certain Medical Issues Were Frequently Observed Among the Patients

Medical issues commonly observed among Lily's Place patients during their follow-up appointments were recorded (see **Table 3**). The most common medical issues seen in patients were musculoskeletal, with 47 patients (38.5%) showing muscle and/or joint tightness, most commonly within the hips and legs. Twenty patients were diagnosed with torticollis and 10 showed muscle weakness or low tone in at least one major muscle group.

In terms of neurological symptoms, 38 patients (31.1%) exhibited tremors that could not be attributed to another neurological condition during their appointments. Among these patients, 25 patients exhibited tremors at their 3-month follow-up but not in subsequent clinic visits. The latest any patient demonstrated tremors during an examination was at 8 months of age. In addition, 6 patients exhibited clonus in at least one heel when tested during their neurological examinations.

The most common medical issue not involving the musculoskeletal or nervous systems was gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD) with 40 patients diagnosed with the condition, the majority of which also had already been prescribed ranitidine (Zantac®) to reduce reflux by their primary care physicians. Five patients were diagnosed with asthma and had all been prescribed medications for its treatment.

Certain Medical Issues Were Common Among the Mothers of Patients

Significant health conditions of the mothers of patients were included in their children's medical histories if such a condition could have impacted either their pregnancy or the delivery (see **Table 4**). The most common medical condition among mothers was Hepatitis C. Forty-three mothers either tested positive at the time of delivery or had a recent history of testing positive.

Sexually transmitted diseases, hypertension, diabetes, and psychological conditions (including depression, anxiety, and bipolar disorder) were also observed in mothers.

Medical Issue	# Patients
Muscle/Joint Tightness	47
G.E.R.D.	40
Tremors	38
Torticollis	20
Low tone/muscle	10
weakness	
Clonus	6
Asthma	5

Table 3: Common Medical Issues Observed Among Lily's Place Patients at Follow-Up

Appointments

(G.E.R.D.: gastroesophageal reflux disease)

Medical Issue	# Patient Mothers			
Hepatitis C	43			
Herpes Simplex	4			
Other STD	3			
Hypertension	4			
Psychological Disorder	3			
Diabetes	2			

Table 4: Common Medical Diagnoses Among the Mothers of Lily's Place Patients

Medicaid was Primary Medical Insurance for Majority of Patients

The medical insurance status of each patient was recorded at each clinic visit. Primary medical insurance for 65 patients (53.3%) was listed as West Virginia Medicaid, making it the most common form of insurance among the patients included in this study. Ten patients had no

medical insurance or were listed as "Self-pay" at the time of their appointment. All other patients were insured by at least one other healthcare insurance company (e.g. Aetna®).

A Plan for Care was Developed to Meet the Needs of Each Patient

At the end of every patient encounter, in addition to scheduling their next appointment at the clinic, a plan was developed to attempt to meet the medical needs of each patient. Sixty-six of 217 visits to Lily's Place resulted in a referral to developmental support services such as Birth to Three (BTT), a program developed by the West Virginia Department of Health and Human Resources (DHHR) through the Bureau for Public Health and the Office of Maternal, Child, and Family Health available for free to all children at risk for a developmental delay. Other services to which patients were referred included Head Start (a program overseen by the United States DHHR Office of the Administration for Children & Families), First Steps (overseen by the Kentucky Department for Public Health in the Cabinet for Health and Family Services), or one of Cabell Huntington Hospital's Rehabilitation Services (including physical therapy, occupational therapy, and speech therapy). Sixty-one clinic visits included a demonstration of stretches or exercises designed to improve muscle/joint tightness or low tone/muscle weakness. Specific recommendations other than stretching or exercise, such as increasing the amount of time the patient spent on its stomach to promote motor skills or deliberately stimulating one side of the patient's face in order to encourage head turning in a specific direction to treat torticollis, were made in 13 visits. In 11 visits, specific physical aids, such as supportive shoes, were encouraged to improve mobility development in struggling patients. Tests such as MRI scans or prescription drugs were ordered in only seven patient visits. Discussions of test results or general reassurance of patient parents/guardians occurred in 13 visits, while in 20 visits parents/guardians of patients were given encouragement to continue current therapies with the

goal of reaching developmental milestones. At the end of 13 separate visits, plans were made to consult with additional physician(s) (such as the patient's primary care physician) to discuss a patient's plan for treatment. Lastly, although written informational materials are always made available to patients and their families, during two separate interactions relevant informational handouts were shared and discussed with the patient's parents/guardians

Plan For Care at Visit	# Appointments
Encourage Developmental Milestones	20
Referral to Birth to 3, First Steps, PT, etc.	66
Reassurance or Discussion of Test Results	13
Specific Recommendation (Tummy time,	13
stimulation of one side of face, etc.)	
Prescription or Test Ordered (e.g. MRI)	7
Demonstrated Stretching or Exercises	61
Recommended Shoes or Other Physical Aid	11
Device	
Consult with Other Physician	13
Handout or Written Information Handed Out	2

Table 5: Plans for Care Developed for Patients at the End of Follow-Up Appointments

DISCUSSION

The results of this study of NAS patients treated at Lily's Place reveal some important information about trends among NAS patients in West Virginia and, potentially, in the wider United States. The high appearance of opioid drug use among the mothers of patients is consistent with national trends of increased rates of opioid (Hedegaard H., 2020; Scholl L, 2019; USDHHS, 2015) abuse. The long-term health and psychological effects of prenatal exposure to drugs of abuse, such as opioids, continue to be an area of intense scientific investigation. Many such studies suggest a correlation between prenatal drug exposure and diagnosis of an intellectual disability or mental disorder (Fill et al., 2018; H. Johnson et al., 1984; Laura J. Sherman et al., 2019; Egil Nygaard et al., 2015; Egil Nygaard et al., 2018; A. Ornoy, 2003; Ross et al., 2015; Sirnes et al., 2017). Additional studies suggest a correlation between prenatal drug exposure and poor academic performance (Fill et al.; Oei et al., 2017).

Among the opioid drugs used by patients, the single most common drug was buprenorphine. Buprenorphine is increasingly prescribed to pregnant mothers as part of medication-assisted therapy to help them overcome opioid addiction and limit the exposure of the developing fetus to potentially more harmful opioids (Jansson & Velez, 2012). It has also been prescribed as a weaning therapeutic in place of methadone for infants with NAS prenatally exposed to opioids (Kraft, 2018). Therefore, it is not surprising that the most common drug taken by the mothers of the children in this study was some form of buprenorphine (as Subutex®, Suboxone®, Butrans®, etc.). However, this study agrees with previous research which shows that buprenorphine as a replacement therapy for other opioids does not eliminate the risk of NAS in exposed infants (Kayemba-Kay's & Laclyde, 2003; Kraft, 2018). Of the six patients included in this study that exhibited clonus, five had been exposed to buprenorphine *in utero* (the 6th was exposed to methadone and other unspecified opioid drugs), a possible indication that a greater understanding of the effects of prenatal exposure to opioids, even ones considered "less harmful" such as buprenorphine, is still needed.

Drugs besides opioids were also observed in significant numbers among the mothers of NAS patients. Tobacco products were found to be the second most common drugs of abuse. Products containing nicotine, including cigarettes or electronic vape devices are commonly used by OUD patients, and the cessation of such products is not often encouraged in patients undergoing opioid abuse treatment programs (Guydish et al., 2011). Gabapentinoids such as

gabapentin have increasingly been reported as being misused by substance abuse patients (Vickers Smith et al., 2018), both the drugs by themselves and in combination with opioids in order to potentiate the experienced high (Bastiaens et al., 2016). A unique set of NAS symptoms, such as tongue thrusting, back arching, and eye wandering, have also been reported among infants who were prenatally exposed to gabapentinoids (Loudin et al., 2017). Although the rise in rates of abuse of opioids is likely the driving factor for the rise in rates of NAS, these drugs of abuse are not the only ones commonly used by pregnant women and are often co-abused with other non-opioids.

Among the medical conditions observed among the patients, musculoskeletal issues were among the most common. The high rate of muscle and joint tightness seen among these patients can likely be attributed to the care they received during their initial stay at Lily's Place. Tightly wrapping the body of an infant suffering from NAS in blankets has been shown to be an effective method of soothing these frequently fussy patients (Blount et al., 2019). This swaddling keeps the limbs of the infant immobile and close to its body, potentially resulting in muscle and joint tightness that must be remedied by stretching later in the child's development to avoid long term difficulties.

Examining the different plans for care developed in each appointment also gives insight into the different needs of the patients served by Lily's Place. A large number of patient interactions involved only reassurance, guidance, or counseling on the part of the physician. Some of the most common issues seen among this patient group, namely muscle/joint stiffness, torticollis, and low tone/muscle weakness, could in fact be remedied through exercises, stretches, and specific recommendations (e.g. stimulating one side of the patient's face to promote head

turning) designed to promote musculoskeletal development (Carenzio et al., 2015; He et al., 2017).

This study also revealed important demographic information about patients most likely to receive services from facilities such as Lily's Place. Over half of all patients included in this study were insured by Medicaid, indicating that the majority of patients seen at Lily's Place could likely be described as lower socio-economic status. While substance abuse and socioeconomic status are not necessarily correlated (Hanson & Chen, 2007; M. Patrick et al., 2012), families of a lower socio-economic status traditionally have limited access to quality healthcare (Becker & Newsom, 2003; Braveman & Gottlieb, 2014) and children of such families tend to do worse in academic settings (Thomson, 2018). In addition, the majority of patients in this study appeared at their follow-up appointments in the legal custody of someone other than their biological mothers. Stressful early life events and environments, such as those that might be found during a transition between biological and foster parent care, are correlated with poorer cognitive and physical development in children (Berry et al., 2016; Coley et al., 2015). Such considerations may make a significant difference for NAS patients who would benefit from the involvement of social welfare programs as well as the engagement of invested healthcare professionals.

While this study was successful in its attempts to describe trends observed among the chosen group of patients, there are several important limitations of this investigation that need to be considered. Given how many infants are diagnosed with NAS each year (AHRQ, 2021), this pool of 122 patients may be too small to accurately represent the tens of thousands of NAS patients currently living in the United States. In addition, while this study was primarily a review of the charts of patients diagnosed with NAS, the full medical histories of the mothers of these

patients were not reviewed. Only pertinent information concerning disease status and drug abuse history that was gained through interviews and examinations of mothers after they had been admitted to the hospital in the lead up to delivery was included in this study. Any demographical information concerning such factors as race or socio-economic status was also not included in this study in the interest of maintaining patient anonymity. Gathering this type of information may have revealed information about the circumstances of women most likely to give birth to children diagnosed with NAS. Additional outreach and prenatal care could be beneficial to such women and may even assist them in treating their substance use, thus lowering the risk of their children developing NAS. Future studies of similar patient populations may benefit from including a greater number of patient records from a wider geographical area as well as including information from the health histories of the mothers of the patients.

The results of this study may point towards important trends among NAS patients and their families in West Virginia and, potentially, in the wider United States. The data gained from this study should make apparent the importance of regular medical evaluation in the months immediately following treatment for NAS. It should also make apparent the need for facilities such as Lily's Place that seek to meet the healthcare needs of socio-economically disadvantaged populations. Increased understanding of the patient population served by a healthcare facility is likely to result in better patient outcomes and shape future policy to provide services better designed to meet the needs of those patients.

CHAPTER 3

AN INVESTIGATION OF ALTERATIONS IN SYNAPTIC DEVELOPMENT IN A MOUSE MODEL OF EARLY LIFE DRUG EXPOSURE

INTRODUCTION

Despite considerable research efforts to increase the understanding of the pathophysiology of NAS as well as methods to improve treatment of NAS symptoms (Bio et al., 2011; Grossman & Berkwitt, 2019; Jansson & Velez, 2012; Kocherlakota, 2014; Patrick et al., 2014), knowledge concerning the long-term effects of prenatal exposure to drugs of abuse on neurological development is limited (Boggess & Risher, 2020). One of the most commonly used opioid drugs among pregnant substance abuse patients is buprenorphine, a partial MOR agonist that is often prescribed to replace and prevent the reinforcing effects of more harmful and addictive opioid drugs, such as heroin or fentanyl. Buprenorphine is often used in medicationassisted treatment (MAT) to help treat OUD in pregnant women in the hopes of achieving better health outcomes for the mother and child. However, emerging evidence asserts that any opioid use during pregnancy, even when part of a medical treatment plan, can have deleterious effects on the developing fetus (Burke & Beckwith, 2017; Kayemba-Kay's & Laclyde, 2003).

While the increased prevalence of opioid abuse is often credited with the rise in incidence of NAS, it is important to note that many mothers of NAS patients abuse multiple drugs besides, or in combination with, opioids. One prescription drug that has been shown to be increasingly co-abused along with opioids is gabapentin (Smith et al., 2016). OUD patients have reported abusing gabapentin in combination with opioids as a means to potentiate the experienced high (Baird et al., 2014; Bastiaens et al., 2016; Smith et al., 2016). In addition, clinicians have

observed a unique presentation of NAS in infants whose mothers abused both opioids and gabapentin while pregnant (Loudin et al., 2017).

Although the mechanisms by which gabapentin and opioids may interact with each other are unknown, the addictive nature of such drugs of abuse can largely be attributed to their activity within the mesolimbic dopamine pathway (**Figure 1**) (Carlezon & Wise, 1996; Di Chiara et al., 2004; Wachtel et al., 1989). Examining the effects of these drugs of abuse on synaptogenesis within brain regions associated with the mesolimbic dopamine pathway may lead to insight on how these drugs affect neurological development in prenatally exposed children.

In this study, we used fluorescence immunohistochemistry (IHC) in a mouse model of early life drug exposure to investigate the effects of both buprenorphine and gabapentin on developmental synaptic connectivity. Our hypothesis was that exposure to buprenorphine, gabapentin, or a combination of both drugs during critical periods for synaptic development would lead to significant disruptions in excitatory and inhibitory synaptic connectivity in brain regions associated with addiction and reward. We further hypothesized that haploinsufficiency of the calcium channel subunit $\alpha 2\delta$ -1, the receptor for gabapentin and a critical player in developmental synapse formation and maturation, would result in further disruption of these synaptic populations. The results described in this study were previously published in *Frontiers in Pediatrics* (Boggess et al., 2021).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals and Drug Treatments

All experiments were conducted in accordance with Marshall University's Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) guidelines (W.C.R. protocols 696 and 697). Adult

C57Bl/6J mice heterozygous for *Cacna2d1*, the gene encoding $\alpha 2\delta - 1$ (i.e. $\alpha 2\delta - 1 +/-$) (Risher et al., 2018) were a kind gift from Dr. Cagla Eroglu (Duke University). The mice were bred onsite at the Marshall University Animal Resource Facility. Virgin $\alpha 2\delta - 1 +/-$ females and $\alpha 2\delta - 1 +/-$ males were set up as mating pairs. Visual confirmation of a vaginal plug was counted as embryonic day 0 (E0) at which time males and females were separated. On E6, pregnant females were given access to 1 ml of a 1:1 sweetened condensed milk/water solution served in a plastic 35 mm dish. Starting on E7, pregnant females were given free access to a once daily 1 ml solution of 1:1 condensed milk/water containing either pharmaceutical grade buprenorphine hydrochloride (CIII) (5 mg/kg; Spectrum Chemical, Gardena, CA), gabapentin (30 mg/kg; Spectrum), a combination of both drug doses, or vehicle control. These doses were selected based on the results of previous rodent studies that used these drugs (Martin et al., 2001; Meymandi et al., 2006). Drug doses were calculated based on the weight of pregnant females on E7. Daily dosing continued through the birth of pups and ended on postnatal day 11 (P11). All animals were given ad libitum food (standard mouse chow milled on site) and water.

For wild-type (WT) mice, seven pups (three male and four female) from vehicle control treated litters, six (two male, four female) from gabapentin treated litters, six (three male, three female) from buprenorphine treated litters, and seven (four male, three female) from combined buprenorphine and gabapentin treated litters were included. For $\alpha 2\delta - 1$ +/- mice, 11 pups (five male, six female) from vehicle control treated litters, seven (three male, four female) from gabapentin treated litters, seven (three male, four female) from seven (four male, three female) from buprenorphine treated litters, and seven (three male, four female) from seven (four male, three female) from buprenorphine treated litters, and seven (four male, three female) from buprenorphine treated litters, and seven (four male, three female) from buprenorphine treated litters, and seven (four male, three female) from buprenorphine treated litters, and seven (four male, three female) from combined buprenorphine and gabapentin treated litters, and seven (four male, three female) from buprenorphine treated litters, and seven (four male, three female) from buprenorphine treated litters, and seven (four male, three female) from combined buprenorphine and gabapentin treated litters were included.

Mouse Brain Sample Drug Concentration Analysis

The brains of newborn WT pups from dams treated with 5 mg/kg buprenorphine (six pups), 30 mg/kg gabapentin (15 pups), or vehicle control (15 pups; two litters per treatment) were isolated and then shipped on dry ice to the Pharmaceutical Sciences Research Institute at the McWhorter School of Pharmacy (Samford University, Birmingham, AL) for drug concentration analysis. Mouse brain samples were homogenized 1:5 with 5 mM ammonium acetate buffer using an Omni THQ homogenizer (Atlanta, GA). Gabapentin calibration standards, blanks and QCs were prepared by spiking 20 μ l of blank control brain homogenate with the appropriate amount of gabapentin to achieve concentrations in ranging from 25-10,000 ng/ml. Internal standard (1 ml of 100 ng/ml Gabapentin-d4 in methanol) was added to precipitate the proteins. After centrifugation for five minutes at 13,000 rpm, the supernatant was transferred to glass tubes and the solvent was evaporated under nitrogen at 40°C. The samples were then redissolved in 200 μ l of 95/5 10 mM ammonium formate/methanol with 0.1% formic acid and transferred to limited volume autosampler vials and analyzed in positive ion mode by liquid chromatography with tandem mass spectrometry (LC/MS/MS).

Buprenorphine calibration standards, blanks, and quality controls (QCs) were prepared by spiking 100 μ l of blank control brain homogenate with the appropriate amount of buprenorphine to achieve concentrations ranging from 0.2-200 ng/ml. Standards, blanks, QCs and samples were spiked with internal standard (10 μ l of 50 ng/ml Terfenadine in acetonitrile). Acetonitrile (1 ml) was added to precipitate the proteins. After centrifugation for five minutes at 13,000 rpm, the supernatant was transferred to glass tubes and the solvent was evaporated under nitrogen at 50°C. The samples were then redissolved in 200 μ l of 50/50 5 mM ammonium

acetate/acetonitrile and transferred to limited volume autosampler vials and analyzed in positive ion mode by LC/MS/MS.

The LC/MS/MS system consisted of Shimadzu system (Columbia, MD) equipped with LC20-AD dual HLPC pumps, an SIL20-AC HT autosampler, and a DGU-20A2 in-line degasser. Detection was performed using an Applied BioSystems 4000 QTRAP (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) triple quadrupole mass spectrometer operated in the positive ion mode utilizing electrospray ionization. Mass calibration, data acquisition and quantitation were performed using Applied Biosystem Analyst 1.6.2 software (Applied Biosystems).

Separation of gabapentin and the gabapentin-d4 from the brain homogenate matrix was achieved from a 10 μ l injection of the samples using a Phenomenex Polar C18, 100 X 2 mm 5 μ m particle column. The mobile phase was delivered at a flow rate of 400 μ l/min using a gradient elution profile consisting of 5 mM ammonium acetate (A) and acetonitrile with 0.1% formic acid (B). The analyte and internal standard were detected using multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) for the following transitions: Gabapentin (m/z 172.2 à 137.0), Gabapentin-d4 (m/z 176.2 à 141.0).

Separation of buprenorphine and terfenadine from the brain homogenate matrix was achieved from a 10 μ l injection of the samples using a Phenomenex Luna C18, 100 X 2 mm 5 μ m particle column. The mobile phase was delivered at a flow rate of 400 μ l/min using a gradient elution profile consisting of 5 mM ammonium acetate with 0.1% formic acid (A) and acetonitrile with 0.1% formic acid (B). The analyte and internal standard were detected using multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) for the following transitions: Buprenorphine (m/z 468.4 à 396.1), Terfenadine (m/z 472.4 à 436.3). Drug concentrations are summarized in **Table 6**.

Genotyping

At P7, the tails of the pups were clipped and collected. Toe pads were tattooed (AIMS NEO9 Animal Tattoo System, Hornell, NY) for later identification. Tissue digestion was performed on the clipped tails and DNA was isolated for PCR amplification and genotyping with a 2% agarose gel. Pups were identified as either $\alpha 2\delta - 1 + /+$ wildtype (WT), $\alpha 2\delta - 1 + /-$ heterozygous (Het), or $\alpha 2\delta - 1 - /-$ knockout (KO) using the following primers: F1 (WT forward, 5'-TCTCAGTTACAAGACTATGTGG-3'), F3 (KO forward, 5'-GGCTGTGTCCTTATTTATGG-3'), and LAF-Test (reverse, 5'-AGTAGGAGAAGGTACAATCGGC-3') (Integrated DNA Technologies, Coralville, IA).

Perfusion, Freezing, and Cryosectioning

For the P21 mouse group, when a litter reached P21, the dam and pups were placed individually on a scale to be weighed (group data is included in **Table 7**) before being anesthetized with tribromoethanol/Avertin (250 mg/kg). Cardiac perfusion was performed, first with 0.24 µg/ml heparin salt in 0.1M phosphate buffered saline (PBS) for two minutes followed by 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) for two-five minutes at a flow rate of 5 ml/min. The brains of the dam and pups were extracted and submerged in 4% PFA at 4°C for 24 hours. After 24 hours, the brains were rinsed in PBS and then placed in 30% sucrose:PBS solution for 48 hours. Brains were removed from sucrose solution, submerged in 2:1 sucrose solution:Tissue Freezing Medium (Cat. #72592-G, Electron Microscopy Sciences), and frozen within plastic embedding molds (Cat. #70182, Electron Microscopy Sciences, Hatfield, PA). All brains were stored at - 80°C until they were cryosectioned into 20 µm slices using a Leica CM 1950 (Leica, Wetzlar, Germany) and stored in 50% glycerol:Tris-Buffered Saline (TBS) at -20°C.

Synaptic Labeling Immunohistochemistry

Three independent coronal sections per mouse containing the PFC (bregma, 2.96 to 2.58 mm; interaural, 6.76 to 6.38 mm) and three sections per mouse containing the ACC and NAC core/shell (bregma, 1.42 to 0.86 mm; interaural, 5.22 to 4.66 mm) were used for analyses (Paxinos, 2008). After selection, brain slices were washed in TBS + 0.2% Triton X-10% (Cat. #11332481001, Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany) w/v (TBST) solution at room temperature. The slices were then placed in a 5% normal goat serum (NGS; Cat. #005-000-121, Jackson Immuno Research Laboratories Inc., West Grove, PA): TBST solution for 1 hour to block nonspecific binding sites. After blocking was completed, the slices were then placed in 5% NGS:TBST containing primary antibodies against both pre- and postsynaptic proteins. Guinea pig anti-vesicular glutamate transporter 1 (VGluT1; Cat. #AB5905, EMD Millipore, Burlington, MA) at 1:2000 dilution was used to identify excitatory glutamatergic presynaptic axonal regions while rabbit anti-post synaptic density protein 95 (PSD95; Cat. #51-6900, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) at 1:300 dilution was used to identify postsynaptic dendritic regions. To label inhibitory GABAergic synapses, guinea pig anti-vesicular GABA transporter (VGAT; Cat. #131004, Synaptic Systems, Göttingen, Germany) at 1:1000 dilution was used to identify presynaptic axonal regions and rabbit anti-gephyrin (Cat. #147002, Synaptic Systems) at 1:1000 dilution was used to identify postsynaptic dendritic regions. Slices were incubated overnight on an orbital shaker at 4°C.

After overnight incubation was completed, brain slices were removed from primary antibody solution and washed with TBST. Slices were then placed in 5% NGS:TBST containing fluorescent secondary antibodies against the primary antibodies. Alexa Fluor IgG (H+L) 594 goat anti-guinea pig (Cat. #A11076, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) at 1:200 dilution was used to

stain against presynaptic antibodies (either VGluT1 for excitatory or VGAT for inhibitory) and Alexa Fluor IgG (H+L) 488 goat anti-rabbit (Cat. #A11034, Invitrogen) at 1:200 dilution was used to stain against postsynaptic antibodies (either PSD95 for excitatory or gephyrin for inhibitory). Slices were incubated for two hours at room temperature in darkness. After incubation was complete, the slices were washed with TBST.

After the final washing step, the slices were rinsed once in 2/3 TBS:1/3 dH20 solution. Then, the slices were transferred onto glass slides and excess liquid was suctioned off with a pipette. One drop of mounting media containing DAPI (Cat. #H-1200; VectaShield, Burlingame, CA) was applied to each slice prior to placement of coverslip and sealing with clear nail polish. The glass slides were allowed to dry overnight in darkness before being stored at -20°C.

Confocal Fluorescence Microscopy for Synaptic Protein Imaging

Images of the slides were captured using the Leica SP5 Confocal Fluorescence Microscope housed and maintained by the Marshall University Molecular Biological and Imaging Core. Argon visible light laser (at 30% final filter power) was used with emission windows set at 493 nm – 550 nm for blue excitation and 595 nm – 647 nm for green excitation. Leica LAS AF software was used to capture 5 μ m z-stacks with 15 steps (0.33 μ m distance between each step) within the brain regions of interest (ROI) across all treatment groups (imaged area/scan = 19,036 μ m2; 63× oil objective, 1.4 NA) (**Figure 1B-D**).

Synaptic Puncta Image Analysis

The saved confocal images were analyzed using ImageJ (NIH) software. The custom plug-in "ProjectZ_Triple" was used to average and convert the 15 separate images of each z-stack into five separate maximum projections, each representing a 1 µm "mini-stack". Puncta Analyzer (Dr. Cagla Eroglu, Duke University, Durham, NC) was then used to quantify the

number of discrete puncta for the 493 nm – 550 nm wavelength channel (corresponding to PSD95 in brain slices stained for excitatory synapses or Gephyrin for inhibitory synapses), the 595 nm – 647 nm wavelength channel (corresponding to VGluT1 in brain slices stained for excitatory synapses or VGAT for inhibitory synapses), and the co-localized puncta, where puncta from both channels overlapped within four pixels of each other (**Figure 4**). These regions of co-localization of pre- and postsynaptic markers were designated as synapses (Ippolito & Eroglu, 2010). The counted synapses were compiled into spreadsheets (Microsoft Excel, Redmond, WA) and analyzed with GraphPad Prism (San Diego, CA).

Statistical Analysis

For body mass comparisons, dams belonging to different treatment groups were compared via One-Way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons post hoc test. For pups, a Three-Way ANOVA (treatment × genotype × sex) was performed with Tukey's multiple comparisons post hoc test. The D'Agostino and Pearson omnibus normality test confirmed that most synapse counts were not normally distributed; therefore, statistical differences were analyzed using the nonparametric Kruskal-Wallis test to detect differences in mean number of synapses amongst drug treatments or between genotypes. Post-hoc Dunn's multiple comparisons tests were performed to detect significant differences (p<0.05) amongst the mean values of each treatment group. Analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism.



Figure 4: Visual Representation of Immunohistochemistry Staining Representative images taken by confocal fluorescent microscope along with graphic representations of pre- (green) and post-synaptic (red) terminals meeting at puncta of colocalization (yellow). (A) Representative example merged image of red and green channels with arrows indicating colocalization. (B) Representative images for VGluT1 and PSD95 staining with graphic representation of excitatory glutamatergic puncta. (C) Representative images for VGAT and Gephyrin staining with graphic representation of inhibitory GABAergic puncta.

RESULTS

Drug Accumulation was Confirmed in Neonatal Mouse Brain Tissue

From E7 until P11, pregnant C57Bl/6J mice were administered drug treatments within 1 ml of a 1:1 sweetened condensed milk/water solution. It is important to note here that since drug treatments continued after the birth of pups and could therefore still be transferred from the dam to the pups via the breast milk, the treatments included in these studies are described as "early life" rather than "prenatal". The plastic dishes in which those drug treatments were served were consistently observed to be empty on the following day, confirming that the dams routinely consumed the entirety of the treatment solution. Concentrations of buprenorphine and gabapentin within the brains of adult rodents following administration have previously been demonstrated at detectable levels (Errante & Petroff, 2003; Rudeck et al., 2020). To confirm drug passage from dam to pups in this study, the brains of newborn pups from litters treated with buprenorphine, gabapentin, or a vehicle control were isolated, lysed, and subjected to liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry to determine brain tissue concentrations for each drug. Both buprenorphine and gabapentin were detected in the brains of the exposed pups (**Table 6**).

Drug Concentrations in Brain Tissue Lysates from Drug Exposed Pups					
Treatment	atment Maternal Dose n		Concentration	Pup:Maternal Concentration Ratio	
Buprenorphine	5 mg/kg	6	$1.85 \pm 0.30 \text{ nM}$	0.054 ± 0.009	
Gabapentin	30 mg/kg	15	$3.29\pm0.84~\mu M$	0.259 ± 0.037	
Vehicle	0 mg/kg	15	$0 \mu\text{M}$ (both drugs)	N/A	

Table 6: Drug Concentrations (Shown as Mean ± SEM) Within Brain Tissue Lysates from Drug-Exposed Newborn C57Bl/6/J Pups Determined via Liquid Chromatography-Tandem Mass Spectrometry

Body Mass of Dams and Pups Impacted by Drug Treatment, Sex, and Expression of α2δ-1

In order to produce the required number of WT and Het pups for IHC in this study, the following litter numbers were required: four litters dosed with vehicle control, five litters dosed with 30mg/kg gabapentin, four litters dosed with 5mg/kg buprenorphine, and five litters dosed with both drugs. Immediately before anesthetization and perfusion at P21, dams and all pups from each litter were weighed and their weights were recorded. The mean masses for the dams of the different litters and the pups in each sex-genotype-treatment group were calculated (Table 7). The mean body masses for dams revealed a significant main effect of treatment, [F(3, 14) =50.21, p < 0.0001]. Dams treated with buprenorphine (p = 0.0122), gabapentin (p = 0.0006), and buprenorphine + gabapentin (p < 0.0001) were all significantly lower than the mean body mass of the vehicle control dams. Significant differences were also observed among the various pup groupings across treatment [F(3, 42) = 140.4, p < 0.0001], genotype [F(1, 42) =12.66, p = 0.0009], treatment × sex [F(3, 42) = 4.487, p = 0.0081], and genotype × sex [F(1, 42)= 5.627, p = 0.0223]. No significance was found for the main effect of sex [F(1, 42) = 0.5268, p = 0.4720] or the interactions of treatment \times genotype [F(3, 42) = 1.301, p = 0.2866] or treatment × genotype × sex [F(3, 42) = 2.039, p = 0.1229]. Of note, key differences between treatments that reached significance included: WT male vehicle vs. either WT male buprenorphine (Bup) or WT male buprenorphine plus gabapentin (BupGBP), WT female vehicle vs. WT female BupGBP; Het male vehicle vs. either Het male Bup or Het male BupGBP, and Het female vehicle vs. Het female BupGBP.

Body Mass of Mice at P21 Sacrifice Date									
Treatment		Vehicle Control		30 mg/kg Gabapentin		5 mg/kg Buprenorphine		5 mg/kg Buprenorphine + 30 mg/kg Gabapentin	
Wildtype	Sex	Male $(n = 3)$	Female $(n = 4)$	Male $(n = 2)$	Female $(n = 4)$	Male $(n = 3)$	Female $(n = 3)$	Male $(n = 4)$	Female $(n = 3)$
(WT)	Mass (g)	10.00 ± 0.12	9.03 ± 0.22	9.00 ± 0.35	9.98 ± 0.38	7.20 ± 0.62	7.80 ± 0.31	11.73 ± 0.31	12.05 ± 0.09
Heterozygous (α2δ-1 +/- /Het)	Sex	Male $(n = 5)$	Female $(n = 6)$	Male $(n = 3)$	Female $(n = 4)$	Male $(n = 4)$	Female $(n = 3)$	Male $(n = 4)$	Female $(n = 3)$
	Mass (g)	10.15 ± 0.25	9.33 ± 0.14	10.30 ± 0.55	9.53 ± 0.25	8.33 ± 0.11	8.60 ± 0.07	12.50 ± 0.06	12.07 ± 0.13
		n = 4		n = 5		n = 4		n = 5	
Dams	Mass (g)	33.30 ± 0.35		30.63 ± 0.25		31.35 ± 0.48		27.30 ± 0.36	

Table 7: Body Mass of Dams and Pups (Shown as Mean ± SEM) in Each Treatment and Genotype Group at P21 Perfusion Date

Early Life Exposure to Buprenorphine Increases Excitatory Synapses in the Mesolimbic Dopamine Pathway

Fluorescence IHC followed by confocal imaging was used to distinguish and quantify excitatory glutamatergic synapses within three different brain regions of WT mouse pups at P21 (**Figure 5**) in order to determine whether excitatory synaptic development within the mesolimbic dopamine pathway was significantly impacted by the presence of buprenorphine and/or gabapentin *in utero*. Synapses were identified by the co-localization of presynaptic VGluT1 and postsynaptic PSD95 (see **Figure 4**). This type of imaging-based synapse analysis relies on the fact that these markers are expressed in completely different neuronal compartments (i.e. VGluT1 in axons, PSD95 in dendrites), and would only appear co-localized in confocal microscopy when directly opposed at sites of synaptic contact. Beginning with excitatory glutamatergic synapses within the ACC (**Figure 5A**), a significant main effect between groups (H = 99.00, p < .0001) was observed. Mice treated with either buprenorphine or buprenorphine in combination with gabapentin had a significantly increased mean number of synapses than mice treated with vehicle control. Interestingly, gabapentin treatment on its own did not significantly impact excitatory synapse number compared to vehicle, despite its known role as an inhibitor of prominent synaptogenic pathways (Eroglu et al., 2009). Similar results were also observed within the NAC (**Figure 5B**; H = 119.2, p < .0001), with buprenorphine and buprenorphine together with gabapentin having significantly more synapses than vehicle, with no significant effect of gabapentin alone. However, in the NAC, the combination drug treatment group also exhibited a significantly higher number of synapses than the gabapentin-only group. In contrast, within the PFC (**Figure 5C**; H = 165.0, p < .0001), no significant differences were observed among any of the treatment groups when compared to vehicle.



Figure 5: Increased Excitatory Synapses with Early Life Buprenorphine Exposure (A–C) Representative IHC images (left) and quantification (right) of co-localized VGluT1 (green) and PSD95 (red) excitatory synaptic puncta (yellow arrowheads) from early life drug-exposed WT C57Bl/6J P21 mouse brain within (B) the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC), (C) nucleus accumbens (NAC), and (D) prefrontal cortex (PFC). n = 7 (vehicle control), 6 (GBP), 7 (Bup+GBP), 6 (Bup); *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001; ****p < 0.001

Combined Buprenorphine/Gabapentin Exposure Decreases Inhibitory Synapse Number

The same IHC procedure used for glutamatergic excitatory synapses was next used to stain for GABAergic inhibitory synapses (identified by the co-localization of presynaptic VGAT and postsynaptic gephyrin; **Figure 6**) within the same brain regions of the previously analyzed WT pups. As with excitatory synapses, a main effect of treatment (H = 196.5, p < .0001) was observed for inhibitory synapses within the ACC (**Figure 6A**). A significant decrease in mean number of inhibitory synapses was observed in the combination drug treated mice compared to all other treatment groups. As with excitatory synapses, similar observations were made in the NAC (**Figure 6B**; H = 219.8, p < .0001), with the buprenorphine plus gabapentin group having significantly fewer inhibitory synapses than the other groups. The PFC, however, was the only region that exhibited an increase in inhibitory synapse number with any of the drug treatments (**Figure 6C**; H = 121.8, p < .0001), with the buprenorphine treatment group having significantly more VGAT/gephyrin co-localized puncta than the vehicle control group. Yet, as in the ACC and NAC, the combination treated mice had significantly fewer synapses within the PFC than mice from either of the single drug treatment groups, but not compared to vehicle control.



Figure 6: Dual Exposure to Buprenorphine and Gabapentin Decreased Inhibitory Synapses at P21

(A-C) Representative IHC images (left) and quantification (right) of co-localized VGAT (green)

and gephyrin (red) inhibitory synaptic puncta (yellow arrowheads) from early life drug-exposed

WT C57Bl/6J P21 mouse brain within (A) ACC, (B) NAC, and (C) PFC. n = 7 (vehicle control),

6 (GBP), 7 (Bup+GBP), 6 (Bup); **p* < 0.05; ***p* < 0.01; ****p* < 0.001; *****p* < 0.0001

α2δ-1 Haploinsufficiency Results in Region- and Treatment-Specific Differences in Synaptic Connectivity

Gabapentin has previously been shown to inhibit excitatory synapse formation by binding to the neuronal calcium channel subunit $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 (Eroglu et al., 2009), and this mechanism is proposed to underlie the efficacy of gabapentin in the alleviation of symptoms in both epilepsy and neuropathic pain (Chen H, 2015; Field et al., 2006). Deficits in synaptic connectivity have previously been observed in the brains of young mice lacking $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 (Risher et al., 2018). To determine whether $\alpha 2\delta$ -1-mediated synaptic development is impacted by early life drug exposure, synapse analysis was expanded to compare WT synapse numbers with those in mice that were haploinsufficient for $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 (**Figure 7**). Comparing excitatory synaptic development, within the ACC (**Figure 7A**; *H* = 99.00, *p* < .0001), only the gabapentin treated $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 +/- mice showed a significantly greater number of synapses compared with WT mice that received the same treatment. A similar gabapentin-induced increase was observed within the NAC (**Figure 7B**; *H* = 119.2, *p* < .0001). The same held true for the $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 +/- PFC (**Figure 7C**; *H* = 165.0, *p* < .0001), which also exhibited more synapses than WT mice with buprenorphine treatment.

DISCUSSION

Glutamatergic signaling has been shown to be critical to many different aspects of opioid abuse and addiction (Heinsbroek et al., 2021). Previous studies have shown that morphineinduced activation of dopaminergic neurons cannot occur within the VTA without glutamatergic associated with heroin addiction and reinstatement of heroin-seeking behavior in rats (LaLumiere & Kalivas, 2008). In addition, GABAergic synaptic activity has also been heavily



Figure 7: Altered Excitatory Synaptic Connectivity Following Early Life Drug Treatment in $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 Haploinsufficient Mice

Representative IHC images (left) of co-localized VGluT1 (green) and PSD95 (red) excitatory synaptic puncta (yellow arrowheads) from early life drug-exposed $\alpha 2\delta - 1$ +/- (Het) C57Bl/6J P21 mouse brain with quantification (right) compared to WT C57Bl/6J P21 mouse brains with the same early life treatment within (A) ACC, (B) NAC, and (C) PFC. Het: n = 11 (vehicle control), 7 (GBP), 7 (Bup+GBP), 7 (Bup); *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001; ****p < 0.001



Figure 8: α2δ-1-Influenced Changes in Inhibitory Synapse Development in Drug-Exposed Pups

Representative IHC images (left) of co-localized VGAT (green) and gephyrin (red) inhibitory synaptic puncta (yellow arrowheads) from early life drug-exposed $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 Het C57Bl/6J P21 mouse brain and quantification (right) compared to WT C57Bl/6J P21 mouse brains with the same early life treatment within (A) ACC, (B) NAC, and (C) PFC. Het: n = 11 (vehicle control), 7 (GBP), 7 (Bup+GBP), 7 (Bup); **p* < 0.05; ***p* < 0.01; ***p* < 0.001; *****p* < 0.001

implicated in the acute response to drugs and the reinforcement of drug seeking behavior (Gardner, 2011). However, relatively little is known about how exposure to drugs of abuse during critical developmental periods affects the trajectories of these synaptic populations. The goal of this study was to investigate the effects of early life drug exposure on synaptic development within brain regions associated with addiction and reward, as well as to explore the role of the gabapentin receptor, $\alpha 2\delta$ -1, in these alterations of synaptogenesis. Results indicate that excitatory and inhibitory synaptic populations are significantly disrupted by early life exposure to buprenorphine and gabapentin, separately or in combination, and that these disruptions are strongly influenced by $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 function.

Significant increases in excitatory glutamatergic synapses were observed in multiple regions associated with the mesolimbic dopamine reward pathway in WT mice that had undergone early life exposure to only buprenorphine or buprenorphine in combination with gabapentin. Concomitantly, mice exposed to the combination buprenorphine-gabapentin treatment *in utero* showed significant decreases in inhibitory GABAergic synapses compared to the vehicle control group within these same regions. In addition, the combined impact of buprenorphine and gabapentin resulted in significantly lower numbers of inhibitory synapses compared to either single drug treatment in all three brain regions, suggesting a synergistic effect of polysubstance use on synaptic development. Given the increased prevalence of polysubstance abuse in mothers of infants born with NAS, as well as the worsened clinical conditions observed in many of these children (Labella et al., 2021; Egil Nygaard et al., 2018), this finding is of particular concern.

Taken together, these results indicate a net increase in excitatory glutamatergic signaling capability within the mesolimbic dopamine pathway of mice exposed to buprenorphine and
gabapentin. Glutamatergic neurotransmission is heavily implicated in many aspects of drug use, including acute effects, consolidation, craving/seeking, withdrawal, and relapse (Heinsbroek et al., 2021). Whether the synaptic population shifts observed in this study result in greater dopamine release in response to rewarding stimuli, such as drugs of abuse, or a greater risk for developing substance abuse disorder later in life remains to be elucidated. Studies examining functionality of dopaminergic neurons and addiction-related behaviors in a similar mouse model (see **Chapter 4**) will likely be important parts of future investigations.

Drug Dosing Paradigm Correlates

The dosing for buprenorphine in this study was in line with a study by Martin et al. that showed 5 mg/kg to be capable of producing significant increases in pain threshold in rats (Martin et al., 2001). The gabapentin dosage was chosen based on the finding that 30 mg/kg gabapentin was sufficient to produce analgesia in mice (Kilic et al., 2012). The dosing schedule, starting on E7 and ending on P11, was chosen to correspond to a period of significant synaptogenesis and astrocyte development in mice (Farhy-Tselnicker & Allen, 2018). This period also roughly correlates to the second trimester of human fetal development (Christopherson et al., 2005; De Felipe et al., 1997; Farhy-Tselnicker & Allen, 2018; Hill, 2020; Otis & Brent, 1954). At birth, a mouse pup is considered to be at a developmental stage similar to that of a human fetus in the late second trimester. Despite the fact that newborn mouse pups are no longer receiving direct exposure to drugs of abuse via the placental blood supply, there were still precedents in the literature for postnatal drug transference to the brains of pups being nursed by drug-exposed dams. It has previously been demonstrated that buprenorphine accumulates and remains in the brain tissue of newborn rodents for several days following birth (Kongstorp et al., 2019). In addition, both buprenorphine and gabapentin have been shown to pass from mother to infant via

breast milk, albeit in low concentrations compared to the mothers' blood plasma levels (Kristensen et al., 2006; Lindemalm et al., 2009; Ohman et al., 2005). The presence of both buprenorphine and gabapentin in the brains of drug exposed pups was confirmed, though the levels in our study were admittedly at the lower ends of the ranges reported in the referenced works. Regardless, the results of this study show that the chosen treatment paradigm was capable of disrupting normal CNS synaptic development in mouse pups. The fact that relatively lower concentrations were detected in these animals may even suggest that the observed deficits may have been further exacerbated if the accumulated drug levels had been higher.

Gabapentin, α2δ-1, and Astrocytes

Unexpectedly, single drug treatment with gabapentin did not result in any significant differences in excitatory or inhibitory synapses within any of the examined brain regions in the WT. This finding would appear to contradict the findings of previous studies showing that gabapentin inhibits normal excitatory synapse development by interfering with pathways mediated by $\alpha 2\delta$ -1. It may be possible that, despite interference by gabapentin in normal TSP/ $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 mediated synaptic development, the net level of synaptogenesis is maintained via other signaling mechanisms (Allen et al., 2012; Baldwin & Eroglu, 2017; Kucukdereli et al., 2011; Walker et al., 2020) as a means to compensate for the gabapentin-induced decrease in glutamate release. There is evidence that gabapentin may even have a separate mechanism of action in addition to its binding to $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 and interference with normal interaction between TSP and $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 (Lana et al., 2016). It has also been shown that gabapentin binding to $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 can instead interfere with binding between $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 and NMDA-type glutamate receptors (J. Chen et al., 2018), inhibiting glutamate signaling in the synapse. A mechanism such as this may

contribute to the overall changes in excitatory-inhibitory synapse balance seen in gabapentin treated mice.

In this study, a mouse model of early life drug exposure was used to examine the effects such exposure may have on synaptic development within brain regions traditionally associated with reward and addiction. Though there were key regional differences, an overall increase in glutamatergic excitatory synapses as well as a general decrease in GABAergic inhibitory synapses was observed in the mesolimbic dopamine pathway of mice exposed to buprenorphine or buprenorphine in combination with gabapentin. Such changes in synapse number may indicate a general increase in net excitation in response to rewarding stimuli. $\alpha 2\delta$ -1, which binds to gabapentin and is involved in critical synaptogenic pathways mediated by astrocytes, was also shown to have an important role in the changes in synapse formation induced by early life drug exposure, as evidenced by the significant differences observed between WT and $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 haploinsufficient animals. This work may serve to inform future studies examining the effects of these changes in synapse formation as well as more longitudinal studies that may link history of early life drug exposure with altered reward circuitry and addiction-like behavior in adolescents and adults.

CHAPTER 4

AN INVESTIGATION OF ALTERATIONS IN SYNAPTIC DEVELOPMENT AND ADDICTION RELEVANT BEHAVIORS IN A BRAIN SPECIFIC A2A-1 KNOCKOUT MODEL OF EARLY LIFE DRUG EXPOSURE

INTRODUCTION

In the previous chapter, an attempt was made to elucidate the role of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 in synaptic development within a drug exposed brain. The goal of this study was, initially, to compare littermate pups with three possible $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 genotypes, $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 +/+ (WT), $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 +/- (Het), and $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 -/- (knockout; KO), and four different possible early life treatments: 5 mg/kg buprenorphine, 30 mg/kg gabapentin, a combination of both drug doses, or a vehicle control. However, after several attempts to breed $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 KO pups, it was found that such pups were either not being born or did not survive to age P21, particularly in the buprenorphine or gabapentin treatment groups. At least four $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 KO pups that were present at P7 tattoo date were observed as missing or dead before or at P21 weaning date. Given the widespread presence of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 throughout the mouse CNS (Cole et al., 2005; Nieto-Rostro et al., 2018), skeletal muscle (Catterall et al., 1988; Tanabe et al., 1987), and cardiac muscle (Klugbauer et al., 1999), the global knockout of this Ca²⁺ channel subunit, in combination with exposure to drugs of abuse during fetal development, may have been potentially lethal.

Despite the difficulty in generating the necessary number of drug exposed $\alpha 2\delta - 1$ KO pups for this study, significant drug treatment effects on synaptic development were still observed with the loss of just a single copy of $\alpha 2\delta - 1$, which may indicate that astrocyte-mediated synaptogenic pathways were disrupted with the drug treatment paradigms. In order to improve survival rates among $\alpha 2\delta - 1$ KO pups, a new transgenic conditional $\alpha 2\delta - 1^{Thy1}$ mouse line on

mixed C57BI/6J-FVB/NJ background was generated to repeat the IHC studies performed in the C57BI/6J mice (**Figure 9**). As in the C57BI/6J mouse IHC study, it was hypothesized that early life exposure to buprenorphine, gabapentin, or a combination of both drugs would lead to significant disruptions in excitatory and inhibitory synaptic connectivity in brain regions associated with addiction and reward and that reduced expression of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1, either as haploinsufficiency or as a brain specific knockout, would result in further disruption of these synaptic populations.

Even if changes in synaptic development do occur as a result of early life drug exposure, the changes will not be expected to significantly impact the long-term development of the CNS if they are not permanent and are naturally corrected/repaired early in life. To assess whether the changes in synaptogenesis persist throughout life, this study included a separate cohort of postnatal day 70 (P70) mice, an age at which mice have reached full sexual maturity and adulthood, to compare against the P21 adolescent (pre-sexual maturity) mice.

While IHC studies can show changes in molecular expression and are useful in studying changes in synaptic development due to early life drug exposure in a mouse model, they can not demonstrate how these developmental changes might translate into changes in behavior in that mouse. To date, few studies have investigated whether early life drug exposure might predispose an individual towards developing a substance use disorder later in life. Although it has been shown that some forms of addiction carry a level of heritability (Ducci & Goldman, 2012), only a small number of studies have attempted to isolate prenatal drug exposure as the sole potential contributing factor to increased risk of developing a substance use disorder. In one such study, rats prenatally exposed to morphine were shown to demonstrate increased morphine self-



Figure 9: Confirmation of Forebrain-Specific Conditional $\alpha 2\delta - 1$ Knockout Mouse (A) Representative images of Cre expression (green) under the *Thy1* promoter. Positive staining can be seen in P14 brain (cortex and hippocampus shown) but not in liver, kidney, or heart tissue (DAPI = blue). (B) Western blot against $\alpha 2\delta - 1$ (143 kDa) in P14 tissue lysates showing loss of $\alpha 2\delta - 1$ expression in cortex (lanes 2-7) but not heart (lanes 8-13). n = 3 WT, 3 KO (i.e. $\alpha 2\delta - 1^{Thy1}$ cKO)

administration (Hovious & Peters, 1985) as well as enhanced conditioned place preference when treated with morphine as adults (Gagin et al., 1997). In a similar study, rats prenatally exposed to heroin demonstrated increased self-administration of both heroin and cocaine, a stimulant drug with a different mechanism of action to that of opioids (Ramsey et al., 1993). Given the involvement of opioids in the development of the reward pathway and the effects astrocytes can have on synaptogenesis in these regions, it is possible that prenatal exposure to opioids may predispose the brain towards addiction to other rewarding stimuli including other drugs of abuse. Findings such as these as well as the general lack of longitudinal data examining humans with a history of prenatal drug exposure are what prompted this study's inclusion of several different behavioral assays.

This study attempted to connect changes in synapse number within the mesolimbic dopamine pathway to changes in behavior through the use of a seven-week behavioral study regimen. Light/Dark chamber, Open Field, Conditioned Place Preference (CPP), and Vapor Chamber Self-Administration were chosen for this regimen due to them previously being used in studies assessing behaviors traditionally associated with anxiety, reward seeking, and impulsivity (Avelar et al., 2019; Bourin & Hascoët, 2003; Chen H, 2015; Cooper et al., 2020; Henderson & Cooper, 2021; Leite Junior et al., 2019; Seibenhener & Wooten, 2015). All of these behaviors can in some way be connected to synaptic signaling within the mesolimbic dopamine pathway. It was hypothesized that mice exposed to drugs of abuse during prenatal and early life development would show heightened anxiety. This would manifest as fewer entrances and less time spent in the light compartment of Light/Dark chamber, less time spent in the center of the Open Field, and more time spent in thigmotaxis around the edges of the Open Field. It was also hypothesized that early life drug exposure would increase preference for the chamber associated with nicotine injections in CPP experiments and would cause mice to initiate a greater number of nose pokes in order to self-administer vaporized nicotine compared to drug-naïve animals. In addition, it was expected that reduced expression of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 within the brain would dysregulate these behavioral phenotypes.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals and Drug Treatments

Experiments were conducted in accordance with Marshall University's Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) guidelines (W.C.R. protocols 696 and 697). Adult C57BI/6J mice heterozygous for *Cacna2d1* were a kind gift from Dr. Cagla Eroglu (Duke University). These mice were crossed with the FVB/N-Tg(Thy1-cre)1Vln/J line (The Jackson Laboratory, Bar Harbor, Maine), which express Cre recombinase under the control of the forebrain neuron-specific *Thy1* promoter. The mice were bred onsite at the Marshall University Animal Resource Facility. Confirmation of the resulting brain-specific knockout of α 2 δ -1 in these mice was obtained via IHC and Western blotting (**Figure 9**). Methods used in setting mouse mating pairs and caring for the animals were identical to those used in the C57BI/6J mouse studies. The same four treatments (5mg/kg buprenorphine, 30mg/kg gabapentin, 5mg/kg buprenorphine + 30mg/kg gabapentin, and vehicle control) and the treatment schedule were also used.

Before any experiments were performed or statistical analyses were conducted, a power analysis was conducted using the software G*Power (Version 3.1.9.6, Franz Faul Universität Kiel, Germany) to determine appropriate sample sizes for each age-genotype-treatment group that would still possess power $(1 - \beta)$ equal to or greater than 0.8. Effect size was set at four and the α error probability was set at 0.05. It was determined that approximately four mice per group would be sufficient to reliably produce results reaching level of statistical significance in the planned IHC studies. For the P21 mouse group treated with the vehicle control, five litters were produced from which five wild-type (WT) mice (three male, two female), five $\alpha 2\delta - 1 + flox$ conditional heterozygous (cHet) mice (three male, two female), and five $\alpha 2\delta - 1$ flox/flox

conditional knockout (cKO) mice (two male, three female) were included. Five litters were treated with gabapentin in order to produce 5 WT mice (two male, three female), five cHet mice (three male, two female), and five cKO mice (three male, two female). Four litters were treated with the combination of buprenorphine and gabapentin in order to produce six WT mice (two male, four female), six cHet mice (three male, three female), and five cKO mice (three male, two female). Five litters were treated with buprenorphine in order to produce four WT mice (two male, two female). Five litters were treated with buprenorphine in order to produce four WT mice (two male, two female), five cHet mice (two male, three female), and five cKO mice (three male, two female). Five litters were treated with buprenorphine in order to produce four WT mice (two male, two female), five cHet mice (two male, three female), and five cKO mice (three male, two female). Table 8).

For the P70 mouse group, the number of mice per group was increased to more closely align with methods described in previous literature. Two litters were treated with the vehicle control from which six WT mice (three male, three female) and seven cHet mice (three male, four female) were included in studies. Four litters were treated with gabapentin in order to produce eight WT mice (four male, four female) and six cHet mice (three male, three female). Three litters were treated with the combination of buprenorphine and gabapentin in order to produce seven WT mice (two male, five female) and seven cHet mice (three male, four female). three litters were treated with buprenorphine in order to produce eight WT mice (four male, five female) and seven cHet mice (three male, four female). three litters were treated with buprenorphine in order to produce eight WT mice (four male, four female) and seven cHet mice (four male, four female) and seven cHet mice (three male, four female).

Genotyping

At P7, the tails of the pups were clipped and collected. Toe pads were tattooed (AIMS NEO9 Animal Tattoo System, Hornell, NY) for later identification. Tissue digestion was performed on the clipped tails and DNA was isolated for PCR amplification and genotyping with a 2% agarose gel. C57Bl/6J-FVB/NJ $\alpha 2\delta$ -1^{Thy1} pups were first identified as either Cre positive or

negative using the following primers: Cre sense (5'-GAACCTGATGGACATGTTCAGG-3'), Cre anti-sense (5'-AGTGCGTTCGAACGCTAGAGCCTGT-3'), myogenin sense (5'-TTACGTCCATCGTGGACAGC-3'), and myogenin anti-sense

(5'TGGGCTGGGTGTTAGCCTTA-3') (Integrated DNA Technologies, Coralville, IA). All pups identified as Cre positive were then further identified as one of three genotypes: $\alpha 2\delta - 1 + / + \omega$ wild-type (WT), $\alpha 2\delta - 1 + /$ flox heterozygous (cHet), or $\alpha 2\delta - 1$ flox/flox knockout (cKO). The primers that were used in the genotyping of C57Bl/6J pups were used again: F1 (WT forward, 5'-TCTCAGTTACAAGACTATGTGG-3'), F3 (KO forward, 5'-GGCTGTGTCCTTATTTATGG-3'), and LAF-Test (reverse, 5'-

AGTAGGAGAAGGTACAATCGGC-3') (Integrated DNA Technologies).

Immunohistochemistry Studies

For the P21 mouse group, when a litter reached P21, the dam and pups were placed individually on a scale to be weighed (group data is included in **Table 8**) The same techniques for brain perfusion, freezing, sectioning, and immunostaining that were used for C57Bl/6J mice were used again for this study (**Figures 1 and 4**). For each litter in the P70 mouse group, pups were weaned at P21, placed in new cages (two to five mice per cage and separated by sex), and the dam was euthanized via carbon dioxide inhalation. At P70, the mice were weighed, anesthetized, and perfused and their brains were frozen and cryosectioned as described above (**Table 9**). The same procedures for immunohistochemistry, confocal microscopy, and image analysis were also used.

Behavioral Studies

Handling

Procedures for the behavioral experiments chosen for this study are based on those previously used in studies of addiction and drug exposure (Avelar et al., 2019; Bourin & Hascoët, 2003; Buccafusco, 2009; Chen H, 2015; Henderson & Cooper, 2021; Leite Junior et al., 2019; Seibenhener & Wooten, 2015). Behavioral studies followed a seven-week schedule (as shown in **Figure 10**). At least 24 hours following weaning, mice designated to participate in behavioral studies were handled in the room in which behavioral trials were set to take place. Every morning for five days, each mouse was held in gloved hands for 10 minutes in order for the mice to acclimatize to the handler and the lab environment. The time of day and the order in which mice were handled was maintained for all five days. Gloves were cleaned and disinfected in between mice. Mice were allowed to habituate for at least 30 minutes after being transported to the testing room prior to behavioral testing.

Light/Dark Testing

Three days after their last handling session (at approximately P30), mice underwent light/dark testing. Mice were placed in the Light zone chamber (ambient light 60 lux) of a Light/Dark chamber and allowed to move freely between Light and Dark zone (ambient light < 10 lux) chambers (both 8"x16" in area) via a single, small opening (Bourin & Hascoët, 2003). Mice were video recorded for 10 minutes. Videos were analyzed with ANY-maze software (Wood Dale, IL) to track the number of entries to the Light zone and total time spent in the Light zone. Both chambers were cleaned and disinfected in between trials. Mice were allowed to habituate for at least 30 minutes after being transported to the testing room prior to behavioral testing.

Open Field

Four days following light/dark testing (at approximately P34), mice underwent Open Field testing. Mice were placed in the center of a 37 cm \times 37 cm Open Field chamber where ambient light was adjusted to 60 lux. Mice were allowed to move freely in the chamber while being video recorded for 10 minutes. Videos were analyzed with ANYmaze to track total time spent in the center zone of the field, total entries to the center zone, total time spent in thigmotaxis near the walls at the edge of the field, and total distance traveled. The chamber was cleaned and disinfected in between trials. Mice were allowed to habituate for at least 30 minutes after being transported to the testing room prior to behavioral testing.

Conditioned Place Preference (CPP)

Three days after Open Field testing (at approximately P37), mice began conditioned place preference (CPP) testing. CPP assays were performed with a three-chamber spatial place-preference chamber (Harvard Apparatus, PanLab Item #76-0278, dimensions: 47.5 × 27.5 × 47.5 cm) and largely followed previously published methods (Avelar et al., 2019; Avelar et al., 2022; Lee et al., 2020). An unbiased 10-day protocol was used with a Pretest session held on Day One. Mice were placed in the neutral adjoining chamber connecting the two separate larger chambers, each with a distinct wall pattern and floor texture, and allowed to travel freely between the two chambers as they were video recorded for 10 minutes. On Days Two, Four, Six, and Eight, mice received a 0.5 mg/kg intraperitoneal injection of nicotine ditartrate dihydrate 98% (Thermo Fisher Scientific Waltham, MA) dissolved in normal saline before being placed in the drug-paired chamber for 20 minutes. On Days Three, Five, Seven, and Nine, mice received an injection of saline (equal in volume to the previous day's nicotine injection) before being placed in the saline-paired chamber for 20 minutes. On Day Ten, the Post-test session was held with

mice will again being placed in the neutral adjoining chamber and allowed to travel freely between the drug-paired and saline-paired chambers while being video recorded for 10 minutes. The time of day and the order in which mice were placed in chambers were consistent for all 10 days. All chambers were cleaned and disinfected in between trials. Mice were allowed to habituate for at least 30 minutes after being transported to the testing room prior to behavioral testing. Videos of the Pre- and Post-tests were analyzed with ANYmaze to record the amount of time spent in each chamber during the two testing phases and CPP scores were calculated using the following formula:

 $\begin{aligned} CPP \ score &= (A - B)_{post-test} - (A - B)_{pretest} \\ A &= Drug-paired \\ B &= Saline-paired \end{aligned}$

Self-Administration

Two days following the CPP Post-test session (at approximately P50), mice began the acclimation phase of vapor self-administration testing. Testing followed slight modifications of the established protocol and utilized the self-administration chambers described in previous work by Dr. Skylar Cooper and Dr. Brandon Henderson (Cooper et al., 2020; Henderson & Cooper, 2021). On Days One, Three, and Five, mice were placed in an acclimating vapor chamber for one hour. A three second puff of vaporized solution containing 3mg/ml nicotine-salt dissolved in 1:1 propylene glycol: vegetable glycerin (PGVG) was released once every five minutes. On Day Six, mice began operant training. Mice were placed in an operant chamber containing an active and inactive nose poke. Each active nose-poke delivered a three second vapor puff on a fixed ratio 1 (FR1) schedule and was immediately followed by the illumination of a cue-light inside the nose-poke hole that remained illuminated for a 60 second timeout. Inactive nose-pokes, which elicited no response, were also recorded. Mice participated in daily one-hour FR1 sessions

for 10 days. At the end of these 10 days, mice were assessed for reinforcement. If a mouse showed consistently high numbers of nose pokes, if the number increased gradually over time, or if the number increased suddenly after being relatively low for several days, these were taken as potential signs of reinforcement. Mice that demonstrated reinforcement were transitioned to a daily one-hour fixed ratio 3 (FR3) schedule (three active nose-pokes required for a three second vapor puff to be delivered followed by a 60-second timeout) for three days starting on the day immediately following the final FR1 session. The mean number of active nose-pokes from the final two FR3 sessions was calculated (Henderson & Cooper, 2021). The time of day and the order in which mice were placed in chambers was consistent and all chambers were cleaned and disinfected in between sessions. Mice were allowed to habituate for at least 30 minutes after being transported to the testing room prior to behavioral testing.

				Vapor Chamber Self-Administration						
		_					Fixed Ratio			
Handling	Light/Dark	Open Field	СРР		Acclimatize		FR1		FR3	
Week 1	Week 2		Week 3	Week		Week 5	Week 6	Week 7		



Statistical Analysis

For body mass comparisons, dams belonging to different treatment groups were compared via One-Way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons post hoc test. For pups, a Three-Way ANOVA (treatment × genotype × sex) was performed with Tukey's multiple comparisons post hoc test. For IHC studies, the D'Agostino and Pearson omnibus normality test confirmed that most synapse counts were not normally distributed. Therefore, statistical differences between synapse counts were analyzed using the nonparametric Kruskal-Wallis test to detect differences in mean number of synapses amongst drug treatments or between genotypes. Post-hoc Dunn's multiple comparisons tests were performed to detect significant differences (p < 0.05) amongst the mean values of each treatment group.

Multiple statistical methods were required for behavioral studies. D'Agostino and Pearson omnibus normality tests were performed for each data set to determine whether or not nonparametric statistical testing was necessary. For light/dark testing, the nonparametric Kruskal-Wallis test and post-hoc Dunn's multiple comparisons tests were performed. For analysis of the Open Field studies examining center zone entries, time spent in the center zone, and time spent freezing, Kruskal-Wallis test and post-hoc Dunn's multiple comparisons tests were performed. For analyses of time spent in thigmotaxis and total distance traveled within the Open Field, however, Two-way ANOVA (treatment \times genotype) with Tukey's multiple comparisons post hoc tests were used. In the CPP analyses, the CPP scores among WT mice were analyzed using One-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons post hoc test, whereas the comparisons between WT and Het mice were analyzed with Two-way ANOVA (treatment × genotype) and Tukey's multiple comparisons post hoc test. The mean number of nose pokes for each treatment-genotype mouse group for each of the 10 days of FR1 selfadministration testing were analyzed with Kruskal-Wallis test and post-hoc Dunn's multiple comparisons test. The mean averages of the last two days of FR3 for each treatment-genotype group of mice that demonstrated reinforcement during FR1 were analyzed with Kruskal-Wallis test and post-hoc Dunn's multiple comparisons test. All analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism and all graphs, where applicable, were shown with bars representing Standard Error of the Mean (SEM).

RESULTS

Body Mass of Pups Impacted by Drug Treatment and Expression of α2δ-1

The mean masses for the dams of the different litters and the pups in each age-sexgenotype-treatment group were calculated and compared (**Tables 8 and 9**). Among the P21 group, significant main effect was observed in treatment × genotype [F(11, 80) = 4.070, p < 0.0001]. One notable finding was that among pups with the cKO genotype, those treated with gabapentin (p = 0.014) and those treated with buprenorphine (p < 0.0001) had significantly lower average body masses compared to the cKO vehicle control. No other interactions among the pups rose to the level of significance, nor were any significant differences observed among the dams.

In the P70 group, a significant main effect was again observed in treatment × genotype [F(7, 45) = 3.842, p = 0.0024]. WT mice treated with gabapentin (p = 0.0036) and WT mice treated with buprenorphine (p = 0.0125) had average body masses significantly greater than vehicle treated WT mice. A significant main effect was also observed in treatment × genotype × sex [F(15, 41) = 10.18, p < 0.0001]. Gabapentin treated WT females had a significantly greater average body mass than vehicle treated WT females (p = 0.0028), vehicle treated Het males were significantly greater than vehicle treated Het females (p = 0.0015), and buprenorphine treated WT males were significantly greater than buprenorphine treated WT females (p < 0.0001). In addition to these body mass measurements, there were a number of observational findings not reflected in the data. The plastic dishes in which those treatments were served were, as in the C57BI/6J mice, consistently observed to be empty on the day following administration, confirming that the dams routinely consumed the entirety of the treatment solution. One finding of note was that 4 pups from gabapentin treated litters and 1 pup from a buprenorphine +

gabapentin treated litter were either observed to be dead or were missing between the P7 tattoo date and P21 wean date. It was believed that this group of pups was a combination of both males and females and genotyping later confirmed that they were all cKO. It was also observed that pups from gabapentin treated litters appeared hyperactive on their P21 wean dates. They would attempt to jump out of their cages and often bit experimenters who attempted to pick them up. While these observations can not be quantified, they may point to a unique and, potentially, harmful interaction with gabapentin in the developing CNS.

P21 Immunohistochemistry

Early Life Exposure to Gabapentin Decreased Excitatory Synapses in the Mesolimbic Dopamine Pathway

Fluorescence IHC followed by confocal imaging was used, as it was in the C57Bl/6J mouse study, to distinguish and quantify excitatory glutamatergic synapses, identified by colocalization of presynaptic VGluT1 and post-synaptic PSD95 (see **Figure 1**), within the ACC, NAC, and PFC of $\alpha 2\delta \cdot 1^{\text{Thy}1}$ WT mouse pups at P21 (**Figure 11**) in order to determine whether excitatory synaptic development within the mesolimbic dopamine pathway was significantly impacted by any of the three drug treatments. First examining the ACC, a significant main effect between groups (*H* = 338.8, *p* < 0.0001) was observed. Mice treated with gabapentin showed a significantly lower number of synapses compared to the vehicle control treated mice (**Figure 11A**). A similar trend was observed within the NAC (**Figure 11B**; *H* = 162.1, *p* < 0.0001) except that the gabapentin treatment group showed a significantly lower number of synapses compared to the vehicle and the combination drug (buprenorphine + gabapentin) treatment groups. The buprenorphine treated group was also significantly lower than the vehicle. This trend appeared to reverse within the PFC (**Figure 11C**; *H* = 231.7, *p* < 0.0001) with the buprenorphine and

Body Mass of Mice at P21 Sacrifice Date										
Treatment		Vehicle Control								
M/F Ratio	0.76									
Genotype		W	T	cH	let	cKO				
Sex	Dams	Μ	F	М	F	M	F			
n	5	3	2	3	2	2	3			
Mean Body Mass (g)	31.04	12.55	12.70	12.81	12.11	15.30	14.56			
Standard Deviation	2.59	1.18	0.96	1.37	0.87	2.55	2.50			
Combined Mean										
Body Mass (g)		13.	33	12.	88	13.	.63			
Standard Deviation		1.()0	1.	16	2.32				
Treatment			30 mg/kg	g Gabapen	tin					
M/F Ratio				1						
Genotype		W	Т	cH	let	cKO				
Sex	Dams	Μ	F	М	F	М	F			
n	5	2	3	3	2	3	2			
Mean Body Mass (g)	31.56	10.40	11.44	12.50	11.78	11.28	11.38			
Standard Deviation	3.96	2.69	1.08	1.51	1.40	1.73	0.56			
Combined Mean										
Body Mass (g)		11.	28	11.	.95	12.13				
Standard Deviation		1.4	41	1.4	45	1.27				
Treatment	5 m	ıg/kg Bup	renorphi	ne + 30 mg	g/kg Gaba	pentin				
M/F Ratio				1.18		r				
Genotype		W	Т	cH	let	сКО				
Sex	Dams	Μ	F	М	F	М	F			
n	4	2	4	3	3	3	2			
Mean Body Mass (g)	31.05	11.78	11.97	13.02	11.83	11.30	10.35			
Standard Deviation	2.66	0.93	1.34	1.13	1.21	3.29	0.07			
Combined Mean						10.00				
Body Mass (g)		12.33		12.18		10.00				
Standard Deviation		1.02 1.24 2.59								
Treatment			5 mg/kg B	uprenorp	hine					
M/F Ratio	0.67									
Genotype		WT			let	сКО				
Sex	Dams	Μ	F	М	F	М	F			
n	5	2	2	2	3	3	2			
Mean Body Mass (g)	31.06	9.45	10.30	10.75	11.69	10.22	7.20			
Standard Deviation	4.36	0.64	1.84	1.34	2.66	2.31	0.99			
Combined Mean										
Body Mass (g)		9.88		9.18		7.80				
Standard Deviation		1.2	23	2.4	47	2.43				

Table 8: Body Mass of $\alpha 2\delta - 1^{Thy1}$ Dams and P21 Pups in Each Treatment and Genotype

Group at Perfusion Date

Body Mass of Mice at P70 Sacrifice Date									
Treatment	Vehicle Control								
M/F Ratio	0.86								
Genotype		WT				cHet			
Sex	Μ		F		Μ		F		
n		3		3		3		4	
Mean Body Mass (g)		23.13		18.17		25.07		19.78	
Standard Deviation		1.71		0.81		0.67		2.45	
Combined Mean Body Mass (g)		20.65			22.04				
Standard Deviation		2.	97		3.34				
Treatment	30 mg/kg Gabapentin								
M/F Ratio]	[
Genotype		WT			cHet				
Sex	Μ		F		Μ		F		
n		4		4		3		3	
Mean Body Mass (g)		25.53		23.44		24.80		23.53	
Standard Deviation		2.00		1.91		0.87		0.70	
Combined Mean Body Mass (g)	24.37			24.17					
Standard Deviation		2.		0.99					
Treatment	5 mg/kg Buprenorphine + 30 mg/kg Gabapenti						pentin		
M/F Ratio	0.5								
Genotype		W	Τ		cHet				
Sex	Μ		F		Μ		F		
n		2		5		3		4	
Mean Body Mass (g)		24.25		21.15		24.50		20.86	
Standard Deviation		1.63		1.48		2.76		1.39	
Combined Mean Body Mass (g)	21.93			22.23					
Standard Deviation	2.00				2.62				
Treatment	5 mg/kg Buprenorphine								
M/F Ratio	0.93								
Genotype	WT				cHet				
Sex	Μ		F		Μ		F		
n		4		4		3		4	
Mean Body Mass (g)		26.46		20.82		25.67		22.06	
Standard Deviation		1.59		1.03		1.44		0.61	
Combined Mean Body Mass (g)	23.64			23.41					
Standard Deviation	3.23				2.07				

Table 9: Body Mass of P70 $\alpha 2\delta \cdot 1^{Thy1}$ Mice in Each Treatment and Genotype Group at Perfusion Date

combination treatments being significantly greater than the vehicle control and the gabapentin. **Decreased Expression of \alpha 2\delta-1 Significantly Decreased the Number of Excitatory Synapses**

By comparing synapse numbers between three different genotypes for $\alpha 2\delta$ -1, the role of this channel subunit in drug influenced synaptogenesis can be elucidated. Within the ACC (**Figure 12**), in $\alpha 2\delta$ -1^{Thy1} mice within the vehicle control, gabapentin, and buprenorphine + gabapentin treatment groups, decreased forebrain expression of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 corresponded with a decrease in glutamatergic excitatory synapses. This trend was not observed in buprenorphine treated mice, however. A decrease in synapse number corresponding with decreased expression of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 was again seen among the vehicle and the buprenorphine + gabapentin treatment groups within the NAC (**Figure 13**). Intriguingly, though, cKO mice treated with gabapentin actually showed an increase in synapse number compared to WT or Het mice administered the same treatment. This unique finding appeared to be isolated to the NAC, however, as within the PFC (**Figure 14**), mice treated with the vehicle control and the buprenorphine + gabapentin combination showed a decrease in glutamatergic excitatory synapses, corresponding with decreased expression of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1. Buprenorphine treated mice also followed this trend.



Figure 11: Formation of Excitatory Synapses Decreased with Early Life Gabapentin Exposure

(A–C) Representative IHC images (left) and quantification (right) of co-localized VGluT1 (green) and PSD95 (red) excitatory synaptic puncta (yellow arrowheads) from the brains of early life drug-exposed $\alpha 2\delta - 1^{\text{Thy1}}$ WT mice at P21 within (A) the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC), (B) nucleus accumbens (NAC), and (C) prefrontal cortex (PFC). n = 5 (vehicle control), 5 (GBP), 6 (Bup+GBP), 4 (Bup); **p* < 0.05; ***p* < 0.01; ****p* < 0.001; ****p* < 0.001





(A–C) Representative IHC images (forebrain specific $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 heterozygous left and knockout right) and quantification of co-localized VGluT1 (green) and PSD95 (red) excitatory synaptic puncta (yellow arrowheads) from the brains of early life drug-exposed $\alpha 2\delta$ -1^{Thy1} mice at P21 within the ACC. n = 5 (cHet Veh), 5 (cHet GBP), 6 (cHet Bup+GBP), 5 (cHet Bup), 5 (cKO Veh), 5 (cKO GBP), 5 (cKO Bup+GBP), 5 (cKO Bup). *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001;

*****p* < 0.0001



Figure 13: Response to the Combination of Buprenorphine and Gabapentin Determined by Presence of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 Within the Nucleus Accumbens

(A–C) Representative IHC images (forebrain specific α2δ-1 heterozygous left and knockout

right) and quantification of co-localized VGluT1 (green) and PSD95 (red) excitatory synaptic

puncta (yellow arrowheads) from the brains of early life drug-exposed $\alpha 2\delta - 1^{Thy1}$ mice at P21

within the NAC. n = 5 (cHet Veh), 5 (cHet GBP), 6 (cHet Bup+GBP), 5 (cHet Bup), 5 (cKO

Veh), 5 (cKO GBP), 5 (cKO Bup+GBP), 5 (cKO Bup). **p* < 0.05; ***p* < 0.01; ****p* < 0.001;

*****p* < 0.0001



Figure 14: Response to Buprenorphine Impacted by the Presence of α2δ-1 in Prefrontal Cortex

(A–C) Representative IHC images ($\alpha 2\delta$ -1 cHet left and cKO right) and quantification of colocalized VGluT1 (green) and PSD95 (red) excitatory synaptic puncta (yellow arrowheads) from the brains of early life drug-exposed $\alpha 2\delta$ -1^{Thy1} mice at P21 within the PFC. n = 5 (cHet Veh), 5 (cHet GBP), 6 (cHet Bup+GBP), 5 (cHet Bup), 5 (cKO Veh), 5 (cKO GBP), 5 (cKO Bup+GBP), 5 (cKO Bup). *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001; ***p < 0.001

Inhibitory GABAergic Synapses Were Significantly Impacted by Early Life Exposure to

Buprenorphine, as a Single Treatment and in Combination with Gabapentin

Fluorescence IHC of presynaptic VGAT and post-synaptic Gephyrin was again used to distinguish and quantify inhibitory GABAergic synapses (**Figure 1**) within the ACC, NAC, and PFC of P21 $\alpha 2\delta \cdot 1^{\text{Thy1}}$ WT pups (**Figure 15**). No significant differences were observed between treatment groups within the ACC (**Figure 15A**; *H* = 188.5, *p* < 0.0001). Within the NAC,

however, the combination buprenorphine + gabapentin treatment group had a significantly greater number of inhibitory synapses compared to the vehicle control group as well as the gabapentin solo treatment group (**Figure 15B**; H = 111.3, p < 0.0001). Within the PFC (**Figure 15C**; H = 183.2, p < 0.0001), the only significant difference in synapse number was a decrease in the buprenorphine treatment group compared to the vehicle control group.

Decreased Expression of α2δ-1 Significantly Decreased the Number of Inhibitory Synapses, But Not in Mice Treated with Gabapentin

Differences in the number of inhibitory synapses were also observed between the three different genotypes for $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 (**Figure 16**). Within the ACC, similarly to what was observed in excitatory synapses, there was a decrease in synapse number corresponding with decreased expression of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 in the vehicle control, buprenorphine, and buprenorphine + gabapentin treatment groups. This trend was also observed within the NAC (**Figure 17**). No significant differences were observed between the three genotype groups of mice treated with gabapentin in either the ACC or NAC. However, within the PFC (**Figure 18**), similarly to what was seen with excitatory synapses within the NAC, cKO mice treated with gabapentin had a greater number of inhibitory synapses than either the WT or cHet mice that received the same treatment (although this difference only rose to the level of significance in the comparison between cKO and cHet).



Figure 15: Development of Inhibitory Synapses Impacted by Buprenorphine (A–C) Representative IHC images (left) and quantification (right) of co-localized VGAT (green) and Gephyrin (red) excitatory synaptic puncta (yellow arrowheads) from the brains of early life drug-exposed $\alpha 2\delta - 1^{\text{Thy}1}$ WT mice at P21 within (A) the ACC, (B) NAC, and (C) PFC. n = 5 (Veh), 5 (GBP), 6 (Bup+GBP), 4 (Bup); **p* < 0.05; ***p* < 0.01; ****p* < 0.001; *****p* < 0.0001



Figure 16: Presence of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 Significantly Impacted Inhibitory Synapse Number Within the Anterior Cingulate Cortex

(A–C) Representative IHC images (α2δ-1 cHet left and cKO right) and quantification of co-

localized VGAT (green) and Gephyrin (red) excitatory synaptic puncta (yellow arrowheads)

from the brains of early life drug-exposed $\alpha 2\delta - 1^{Thy1}$ mice at P21 within the ACC. n = 5 (cHet

Veh), 5 (cHet GBP), 6 (cHet Bup+GBP), 5 (cHet Bup), 5 (cKO Veh), 5 (cKO GBP), 5 (cKO

Bup+GBP), 5 (cKO Bup); **p* < 0.05; ***p* < 0.01; ****p* < 0.001; *****p* < 0.0001



Figure 17: Buprenorphine Can Affect Changes in Inhibitory Synapse Number Within the Nucleus Accumbens

(A–C) Representative IHC images (α2δ-1 cHet left and cKO right) and quantification of co-

localized VGAT (green) and Gephyrin (red) excitatory synaptic puncta (yellow arrowheads)

from the brains of early life drug-exposed $\alpha 2\delta - 1^{Thy1}$ mice at P21 within the NAC. n = 5 (cHet

Veh), 5 (cHet GBP), 6 (cHet Bup+GBP), 5 (cHet Bup), 5 (cKO Veh), 5 (cKO GBP), 5 (cKO

Bup+GBP), 5 (cKO Bup); **p* < 0.05; ***p* < 0.01; ****p* < 0.001; *****p* < 0.0001



Figure 18: Gabapentin Capable of Interfering with α2δ-1 Related Decrease in Inhibitory Synapse Number Within the Prefrontal Cortex

(A–C) Representative IHC images (α2δ-1 cHet and cKO right) and quantification of co-localized

VGAT (green) and Gephyrin (red) excitatory synaptic puncta (yellow arrowheads) from the

brains of early life drug-exposed $\alpha 2\delta - 1^{Thy1}$ mice at P21 within the PFC. n = 5 (cHet Veh), 5

(cHet GBP), 6 (cHet Bup+GBP), 5 (cHet Bup), 5 (cKO Veh), 5 (cKO GBP), 5 (cKO Bup+GBP),

5 (cKO Bup); p < 0.05; p < 0.01; p < 0.01; p < 0.001; p < 0.001; p < 0.001; p < 0.0001

P70 Immunohistochemistry

Changes in Excitatory Synapses Resulting from Early Life Drug Exposure Persisted into

Adulthood

To determine whether the types of changes in synapse formation observed in mice at P21

persist throughout life, a separate cohort of $\alpha 2\delta - 1^{Thy1}$ mice were sacrificed and perfused at P70

for the same IHC methods as were used in the P21 group. Within the ACC (Figure 19A),

staining for VGluT1 and PSD95 to examine excitatory glutamatergic synapses showed a significant decrease in synapse number in mice exposed to gabapentin and a significant increase in mice treated with both gabapentin and buprenorphine compared to vehicle control treated mice (H = 81.53, p < 0.0001). This combination treatment group also had a significantly higher number of synapses than the buprenorphine single drug group. The buprenorphine treatment group had a significantly lower number of synapses compared to each of the other treatment groups within the NAC (H = 97.86, p < 0.0001; **Figure 19B**). Within the PFC (**Figure 19C**) both the gabapentin and the buprenorphine + gabapentin treatment groups showed significantly greater numbers of synapses than either the vehicle control or buprenorphine groups, yet the buprenorphine group was significantly lower than the vehicle control (H = 139.7, p < 0.0001). **Persistent Effects of Early Life Drug Exposure on Excitatory Synapses Influenced by Expression of** $\alpha 2\delta$ -1

The responses to different early life treatments in $\alpha 2\delta \cdot 1^{Thy1}$ WT P70 mice were compared to those of $\alpha 2\delta \cdot 1^{Thy1}$ cHet mice with the goal of determining whether significant differences in excitatory synapses related to genotype persisted into adulthood. Loss of a single copy of $\alpha 2\delta \cdot 1$ did not appear to play as significant a role in excitatory synapse formation as it had in P21 mice. Within the ACC (**Figure 20A**), no significant differences were observed between the two genotypes. Within the NAC (**Figure 20B**) and PFC (**Figure 20C**), the only significant differences observed were in the buprenorphine treatment groups with cHet mice showing significantly greater numbers of excitatory synapses compared to WT mice in their respective brain regions.



Figure 19: Drug Induced Changes in Excitatory Synapse Number Persist into Adulthood (A–C) Representative IHC images (left) and quantification (right) of co-localized VGluT1

(green) and PSD95 (red) excitatory synaptic puncta (yellow arrowheads) from the brains of early

life drug-exposed $\alpha 2\delta - 1^{Thy1}$ WT mice at P70 within (A) ACC, (B) NAC, and (C) PFC. n = 6

(Veh), 8 (GBP), 7 (Bup+GBP), 8 (Bup); **p* < 0.05; ***p* < 0.01; ****p* < 0.001; *****p* < 0.0001



Figure 20: Persistent Effects of Early Life Buprenorphine Exposure Influenced by Haploinsufficiency of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1

(A-C) Representative IHC images (left) and quantification (right) of co-localized VGluT1

(green) and PSD95 (red) excitatory synaptic puncta (yellow arrowheads) from the brains of $\alpha 2\delta$ -

1^{Thy1} cHet mice at P70 compared with WT mice of the same age within the (A) ACC, (B) NAC,

and (C) PFC. n = 6 (Veh), 7 (cHet Veh), 8 (GBP), 6 (cHet GBP), 7 (Bup+GBP), 7 (cHet

Bup+GBP), 8 (Bup), 7 (cHet Bup); **p* < 0.05; ***p* < 0.01; ****p* < 0.001; *****p* < 0.0001

Inhibitory Synapses Were Significantly Impacted by Early Life Exposure to Both Buprenorphine and Gabapentin

As in the P21 mouse group, IHC staining for VGAT and Gephyrin was performed in P70 mice to determine the number of inhibitory GABAergic synapses within the three brain regions of interest. Early life buprenorphine treatment, whether by itself or in combination with gabapentin, was associated with a significantly lower number of synapses within the ACC (**Figure 21A**; H = 209.9, p < 0.0001). Within the NAC, gabapentin treated mice had a significantly greater number of inhibitory synapses than any other treatment (**Figure 21B**; H = 303.8, p < 0.0001). In addition, the buprenorphine + gabapentin combination treatment group had a significantly lower number of synapses compared to either the vehicle control or the gabapentin single treatment groups. Gabapentin treatment was also associated with a significantly greater number of synapses compared to any other treatment group within the PFC (**Figure 21C**; H = 234.2, p < 0.0001).

Influence of α2δ-1 Expression on Inhibitory Synapses not Observed in Mice with Early Life Drug Exposure

 $\alpha 2\delta - 1^{\text{Thy1}}$ WT P70 mice were also compared to $\alpha 2\delta - 1^{\text{Thy1}}$ cHet mice determining whether significant differences in inhibitory synapses related to genotype persisted into adulthood. It was apparent that cHet mice, in all three brain regions, had significantly lower numbers of GABAergic synapses, as evidenced in the vehicle control groups (**Figure 22**). However, while there was a significant difference in synapse numbers within the ACC of WT vs cHet mice treated with gabapentin (**Figure 22A**), no significant differences were observed within the NAC (**Figure 22B**) or PFC (**Figure 22C**) in any drug treatment comparisons of these two mouse groups.



Figure 21: Early Life Drug Exposure Produces Persistent Changes in Inhibitory Synapse Number

(A–C) Representative IHC images (left) and quantification (right) of co-localized VGAT (green) and Gephyrin (red) excitatory synaptic puncta (yellow arrowheads) from the brains of early life drug-exposed $\alpha 2\delta \cdot 1^{\text{Thy}1}$ WT mice at P70 within (A) the ACC, (B) NAC, and (C) PFC. n = 6 (Veh), 8 (GBP), 7 (Bup+GBP), 8 (Bup); **p* < 0.05; ***p* < 0.01; ****p* < 0.001; *****p* < 0.001



Figure 22: Effects of Early Life Drug Exposure on Inhibitory Synapse Number is Less Impacted by Haploinsufficiency of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 Over Time

(A–C) Representative IHC images (left) and quantification (right) of co-localized VGAT (green) and Gephyrin (red) excitatory synaptic puncta (yellow arrowheads) from the brains of $\alpha 2\delta \cdot 1^{\text{Thy}1}$ cHet mice at P70 compared with WT mice of the same age within the (A) ACC, (B) NAC, and (C) PFC n = 6 (Veh), 7 (cHet Veh), 8 (GBP), 6 (cHet GBP), 7 (Bup+GBP), 7 (cHet Bup+GBP), 8 (Bup), 7 (cHet Bup); **p* < 0.05; ***p* < 0.01; ****p* < 0.001; *****p* < 0.001

Excitatory Synapses Generally Decrease with Age

Although differences in the numbers of synapses were observed in early life drug exposed mice at both P21 and at P70, how these differences may have changed over time was not yet clear. To this end, synapse numbers in each brain region in mice from each age group were compared within each treatment-genotype. IHC staining for glutamatergic excitatory synapses within the ACC (**Figure 23**; H = 515.8, p < 0.0001) showed a general decrease in synapse number with age in most treatment-genotype groups (excluding gabapentin and buprenorphine + gabapentin in cHet mice). A similar trend was observed within the NAC (**Figure 24**; H = 311.7, p < 0.0001), though not in the gabapentin treated groups in either genotype nor the buprenorphine + gabapentin in cHet mice. Results very similar to those observed within the NAC were seen within the PFC (**Figure 25**; H = 559.0, p < 0.0001) as well.


Age, Treatment, and Genotype



treatment within the ACC. n = 5 (P21 Veh), 5 (P21 cHet Veh), 5 (P21 GBP), 5 (P21 cHet GBP),

6 (P21 Bup+GBP), 6 (P21 cHet Bup+GBP), 4 (P21 Bup), 5 (P21 cHet Bup), 6 (P70 Veh), 7 (P70

cHet Veh), 8 (P70 GBP), 6 (P70 cHet GBP), 7 (P70 Bup+GBP), 7 (P70 cHet Bup+GBP), 8 (P70

Bup), 7 (P70 cHet Bup); p < 0.05; p < 0.01; p < 0.01; p < 0.001; p < 0.00



NAC Excitatory Age Comparison Combined

Figure 24: Age Related Decrease in Excitatory Synapse Number Not Equal Across Drug Treatment Groups Within the Nucleus Accumbens
Comparison of excitatory synapse number between ages with the same genotype and early life
treatment within the NAC. n = 5 (P21 Veh), 5 (P21 cHet Veh), 5 (P21 GBP), 5 (P21 cHet GBP),
6 (P21 Bup+GBP), 6 (P21 cHet Bup+GBP), 4 (P21 Bup), 5 (P21 cHet Bup), 6 (P70 Veh), 7 (P70

cHet Veh), 8 (P70 GBP), 6 (P70 cHet GBP), 7 (P70 Bup+GBP), 7 (P70 cHet Bup+GBP), 8 (P70

Bup), 7 (P70 cHet Bup); *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001; ****p < 0.001; ****p < 0.0001

PFC Excitatory Age Comparison Combined



Age, Treatment, and Genotype

Figure 25: Changes in Excitatory Synapse Number in Gabapentin Treatment in Haploinsufficent Mice not Altered by Age Within the Prefrontal Cortex Comparison of excitatory synapse number between ages with the same genotype and early life

treatment within the PFC. n = 5 (P21 Veh), 5 (P21 cHet Veh), 5 (P21 GBP), 5 (P21 cHet GBP),

6 (P21 Bup+GBP), 6 (P21 cHet Bup+GBP), 4 (P21 Bup), 5 (P21 cHet Bup), 6 (P70 Veh), 7 (P70

cHet Veh), 8 (P70 GBP), 6 (P70 cHet GBP), 7 (P70 Bup+GBP), 7 (P70 cHet Bup+GBP), 8 (P70

Bup), 7 (P70 cHet Bup); **p* < 0.05; ***p* < 0.01; ****p* < 0.001; *****p* < 0.0001

Inhibitory Synapses Generally Decrease with Age, But Not in Gabapentin Treated Mice

Despite observing in excitatory IHC staining that synapse numbers tend to generally decrease with age, IHC staining for GABAergic inhibitory synapses did not necessarily follow this same trend. Significantly lower numbers of synapses were observed within the ACC (Figure **26**; H = 327.8, p < 0.0001) in P70 WT mice treated with either buprenorphine or buprenorphine in combination with gabapentin as well as in P70 cHet mice treated with vehicle control compared with their respective P21 counterparts. However, a significantly greater number of synapses were observed within the ACC in gabapentin treated P70 cHet mice compared with P21 mice given the same treatment. A greater synapse number was also observed between these mouse groups within the NAC as well (Figure 27; H = 402.9, p < 0.0001). Significant increases of this type were also observed between P70 and P21 WT mice treated with either gabapentin or with vehicle control, yet decreases were observed in vehicle control treated cHet mice and in buprenorphine + gabapentin treated WT and cHet mice. Within the PFC (Figure 28; H = 334.5, p < 0.0001), P70 WT and cHet mice showed significantly greater numbers of synapses compared to their P21 counterparts. It was only in cHet mice that significantly lower synapse numbers were observed between P70 counterparts P21 and only in the vehicle control and buprenorphine + gabapentin treatment groups.



ACC Inhibitory Age Comparison Combined

Age, Treatment, and Genotype

Figure 26: Expression Level of α2δ-1 Influences Age-Related Changes in Inhibitory Synapses Within Anterior Cingulate Cortex
Comparison of inhibitory synapse number between ages with the same genotype and early life
treatment within the ACC. n = 5 (P21 Veh), 5 (P21 cHet Veh), 5 (P21 GBP), 5 (P21 cHet GBP),
6 (P21 Bup+GBP), 6 (P21 cHet Bup+GBP), 4 (P21 Bup), 5 (P21 cHet Bup), 6 (P70 Veh), 7 (P70 cHet Veh), 8 (P70 GBP), 6 (P70 cHet GBP), 7 (P70 Bup+GBP), 7 (P70 cHet Bup+GBP), 8 (P70

Bup), 7 (P70 cHet Bup); *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001; ****p < 0.001;

NAC Inhibitory Age Comparison Combined



Age, Treatment, and Genotype

Figure 27: Inhibitory Synapses Increase with Age in Gabapentin Treated Mice Within the Nucleus Accumbens

Comparison of inhibitory synapse number between ages with the same genotype and early life

treatment within the NAC. n = 5 (P21 Veh), 5 (P21 cHet Veh), 5 (P21 GBP), 5 (P21 cHet GBP),

6 (P21 Bup+GBP), 6 (P21 cHet Bup+GBP), 4 (P21 Bup), 5 (P21 cHet Bup), 6 (P70 Veh), 7 (P70

cHet Veh), 8 (P70 GBP), 6 (P70 cHet GBP), 7 (P70 Bup+GBP), 7 (P70 cHet Bup+GBP), 8 (P70

Bup), 7 (P70 cHet Bup); **p* < 0.05; ***p* < 0.01; ****p* < 0.001; *****p* < 0.0001



PFC Inhibitory Age Comparison Combined

Age, Treatment, and Genotype

Figure 28: Inhibitory Synapses Increase with Age in Gabapentin Treated Mice Within the Prefrontal Cortex

Comparison of inhibitory synapse number between ages with the same genotype and early life

treatment within the PFC. n = 5 (P21 Veh), 5 (P21 cHet Veh), 5 (P21 GBP), 5 (P21 cHet GBP),

6 (P21 Bup+GBP), 6 (P21 cHet Bup+GBP), 4 (P21 Bup), 5 (P21 cHet Bup), 6 (P70 Veh), 7 (P70

cHet Veh), 8 (P70 GBP), 6 (P70 cHet GBP), 7 (P70 Bup+GBP), 7 (P70 cHet Bup+GBP), 8 (P70

Bup), 7 (P70 cHet Bup); p < 0.05; p < 0.01; p < 0.01; p < 0.001; p < 0.00

Behavioral Studies

Early Life Drug Exposure Did Not Have Any Significant Effect on Performance During Light/Dark Testing

The Light/Dark chamber is a commonly used tool for the study of anxiety-like behaviors in rodents (Buccafusco, 2009). As part of a larger regimen of behavioral studies over the course of seven weeks (see Figure 10), Light/Dark testing was conducted with male and female mice all at the same age with one of two different genotypes from one of four different early life treatments. Each mouse was video recorded for 10 minutes and allowed to pass freely between two chambers: a Light zone chamber brightly lit from above and an unlit Dark zone chamber covered by a roof. To first examine the possible effects the different early life drug treatments might have on behavior, the number of entries into the Light zone from the Dark zone (Figure 29A) and the amount of time spent in the Light zone (Figure 29B) were recorded for each mouse and the means for each treatment-genotype group were calculated. No significant differences were observed between treatment groups in the mean number of Light Zone entries (H = 4.146, p = 0.2461) among WT $\alpha 2\delta - 1^{Thy1}$ mice, nor were any observed in the mean amount of time spent in the Light zone (H = 2.247, p = 0.5228). When WT mice were compared with cHet $\alpha 2\delta - 1^{\text{Thy1}}$ mice to determine what effect, if any, $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 genotype would have on testing behavior, no significant differences were observed in number of entries (Figure 29C; H = 6.678, p = 0.4631) or in time spent in the zone (Figure 29D; H = 10.86, p = 0.1447).





(A) Mean number of entries into the Light zone and (B) mean time spent in the Light zone for

each treatment group of $\alpha 2\delta - 1^{Thy1}$ WT mice. (C) Mean number of entries into the Light zone and

(D) mean time spent in the Light zone for $\alpha 2\delta - 1^{Thy1}$ cHet mice compared with WT mice of the

same age. n = 6 (Veh), 7 (cHet Veh), 8 (GBP), 6 (cHet GBP), 7 (Bup+GBP), 7 (cHet Bup+GBP),

8 (Bup), 7 (cHet Bup); **p* < 0.05; ***p* < 0.01; ****p* < 0.001; *****p* < 0.001

Possible Changes in Locomotor Function and Freezing Behavior in Open Field

Open Field testing can be used to study several different behavioral phenotypes in animals, including those related to anxiety and locomotor function (Buccafusco, 2009; Sestakova et al., 2013). In this study, mice were placed in an Open Field chamber where their movement was recorded for 10 minutes. The number of entries into the center zone area of the field were recorded for each mouse and the means for each treatment-genotype group were calculated (Figure 30A). No significant differences were observed between the different treatment groups (H = 5.101, p = 0.1646) in $\alpha 2\delta \cdot 1^{\text{Thy}1}$ WT mice, nor were any significant differences observed in the mean amount of time spent in the center zone (Figure 30B; H = 1.764, p = 0.6228). The amount of time each mouse spent in thigmotaxis near the walls of the chamber, another indicator of anxiety-type behavior, was also recorded (Figure 30C). No significant differences were observed between the mean times of each treatment group (F = 1.764, p = 0.3329). To assess whether early life drug exposure impacted locomotor function, the total distance that each mouse traveled during their time in the chamber was recorded (Figure 30D). The mean distance traveled by mice treated with buprenorphine was significantly less than that of the mean distance traveled by mice treated with buprenorphine + gabapentin (p = 0.0430), though neither treatment was significantly different from the vehicle control. A difference was also seen in gabapentin treated mice who spent significantly less time frozen (not moving in one place) than the vehicle control (Figure 30E, p = 0.0130) and the mice treated with buprenorphine + gabapentin spent a nearly significantly less amount of time frozen as well (p = 0.0527). These same measures were recorded for $\alpha 2\delta - 1^{Thy1}$ cHet mice as well and mean values were compared to those of the WT mice for each treatment group (Figure 31). In the number of entries to the center zone (Figure 31A), time spent in the center zone (Figure 31B), time spent in thigmotaxis (Figure 31C), mean



Figure 30: Anxiety and Locomotor Activity in Open Field Testing Potentially Impacted by Early Life Drug Exposure

Open Field performance metrics, including (A) mean number of entries into the center zone, (B)

mean time spent in the center zone, (C) mean time spent in thigmotaxis, (D) mean total distance

traveled, and (E) time spent freezing, for $\alpha 2\delta - 1^{\text{Thy}1}$ WT mice. n = 6 (Veh), 7 (cHet Veh), 8

(GBP), 6 (cHet GBP), 7 (Bup+GBP), 7 (cHet Bup+GBP), 8 (Bup), 7 (cHet Bup); **p* < 0.05

total distance traveled (**Figure 31D**), and total time spent frozen (**Figure 31E**), no significant differences were observed between the genotypes ([H = 7.868, p = 0.344], [H = 4.988, p = 0.6614], [F = 0.9016, p = 0.5129], [F = 1.616, p = 0.1525], and [H = 21.51, p = 0.0059] respectively).

Enhancement of Conditioned Place Preference Not Observed in Drug Treated Mice

Nicotine has been previously shown to produce conditioned place preference (CPP) in rodents (Buccafusco, 2009). In this study, intraperitoneal injections of 0.5mg/kg doses of nicotine were administered and paired with a chamber with a distinct wall pattern and floor texture while a different chamber with a different wall pattern and floor texture was paired with saline injections. CPP scores were calculated for each mouse based on the amount of time spent in each chamber before and after 8 days of daily injections alternating between saline and nicotine. The mean CPP scores for $\alpha 2\delta - 1^{\text{Thy}1}$ WT mice from each treatment group were compared to determine if any drug treatment produced enhanced CPP (**Figure 32A**). Although each treatment group showed a positive average CPP score, indicating preference for the nicotine paired chamber, there were no significant differences observed between treatment groups (F = 0.5944, p = 0.6243). Mean CPP scores for $\alpha 2\delta - 1^{\text{Thy}1}$ CHet mice were then compared to WT in each treatment group (**Figure 32B**). No significant differences were observed between genotypes in any treatment group (F = 0.8514, p = 0.5509).



Figure 31: Performance in Open Field Not Impacted by Expression Level of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 Open Field performance metrics, including (A) mean number of entries into the center zone, (B) mean time spent in the center zone, (C) mean time spent in thigmotaxis, (D) mean total distance traveled, and (E) time spent freezing, for each treatment group of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1^{Thy1} cHet mice compared with those of WT mice of the same age. n = 6 (Veh), 7 (cHet Veh), 8 (GBP), 6 (cHet GBP), 7 (Bup+GBP), 7 (cHet Bup+GBP), 8 (Bup), 7 (cHet Bup); **p* < 0.05



Figure 32: Neither Drug Treatment Nor α2δ-1 Expression Significantly Affected Conditioned Place Preference

(A) Mean CPP scores for $\alpha 2\delta - 1^{Thy1}$ WT mice across 4 early life treatment groups. (B) Mean CPP

scores for $\alpha 2\delta - 1^{Thy1}$ cHet mice compared to WT across 4 treatment groups; n = 6 (Veh), 7 (cHet

Veh), 8 (GBP), 6 (cHet GBP), 7 (Bup+GBP), 7 (cHet Bup+GBP), 8 (Bup), 7 (cHet Bup); *p <

0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001; ****p < 0.0001

Decline After Day 1 Performance in FR1 Schedule Self-Administration

Self-administration of vaporized substances of abuse, including nicotine and alcohol, has previously been used as a tool to study reinforcement-related behaviors in rodents (Cooper et al., 2020; de Guglielmo et al., 2017; Henderson & Cooper, 2021). In this study, mice were placed in an operant vapor chamber for one hour each day for 10 days and allowed to self-administer a 3mg/ml nicotine vapor via nose poke on a FR1 schedule (**Figure 33**). On Day One of the daily sessions, $\alpha 2\delta \cdot 1^{\text{Thy1}}$ cHet mice that had received a vehicle control treatment demonstrated the highest mean number of nose pokes compared to any other treatment-genotype group and had the highest one-day mean value of any mouse group. This difference, however, did not rise to the level of significance (H = 4.175, p = 0.7594) and was lost on the following day. No other significant differences in mean number of nose pokes between genotype × treatment groups were observed during the 10 days of testing.

FR3 Schedule Self-Administration Not Enhanced In Mice that Demonstrated Possible Reinforcement

At the end of the 10 days of FR1 self-administration, the daily results for total number of nose pokes for each mouse was reexamined to determine whether it was likely that reinforcement for nicotine vapor self-administration was achieved. The mice chosen to participate in the 3-day FR3 schedule were as follows: three of the six WT vehicle control (two male, one female), three of the seven cHet vehicle control (one male, two female), five of the eight WT gabapentin (one male, four female), three of the seven WT buprenorphine + gabapentin (one male, two female), and four of the seven cHet buprenorphine + gabapentin (one male, three female), and four of the seven cHet buprenorphine (one male, three female). Mice from cHet gabapentin (two male) and WT buprenorphine (two female) were not included as n was too low for statistical analysis. The



FR1 Self Administration

Figure 33: Number of Nose Pokes Declined After First Day of 10-Day FR1 Self-Administration

Mean number of nose pokes for each treatment-genotype mouse group each day of 10-day FR1 self-administration testing. Vehicle control treated $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 cHet mice showed a nonsignificant trend towards a greater number of nose pokes only on Day 1 of FR1 self-administration testing. n = 6 (Veh), 7 (cHet Veh), 8 (GBP), 6 (cHet GBP), 7 (Bup+GBP), 7 (cHet Bup+GBP), 8 (Bup), 7 (cHet Bup); *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001; ***p < 0.001

FR3 Self Administration



Figure 34: No Significant Differences Observed Among the Mean Number of Nose Pokes of from Last 2 Days of FR3 Self-Administration in Mice That Demonstrated Reinforcement Mean average number of nose pokes across Days 2 and 3 of FR3 self-administration testing

(listed above standard error bars) in mice that demonstrated reinforcement during FR1 self-

administration testing. n = 3 (Veh), 3 (cHet Veh), 5 (GBP), 3 (Bup+GBP), 4 (cHet Bup+GBP), 4

(cHet Bup); *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001; ***p < 0.001;

mean number of nose pokes for each mouse for the last two days of FR3 self-administration were calculated. Then from those values, the mean for each treatment-genotype group was calculated (**Figure 34**). No significant differences were observed between any of the treatment genotype groups (H = 3.402, p = 0.7569).

DISCUSSION

Early Life Drug Exposure Significantly Impacts Astrocyte-Mediated Synaptogenesis via α2δ-1

A major goal of this study was to investigate disruptions in normal synaptic development within the mesolimbic dopamine pathway resulting from early life exposure to drugs of abuse. To this aim, a mouse model of early life drug exposure with brain-specific knockout of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1, the neuronal receptor for astrocyte-secreted synaptogenic thrombospondins, was developed. Four different treatments and three possible genotypes for *Cacna2d1*, the gene encoding $\alpha 2\delta$ -1, within two different age groups were tested. Average body masses for the pups were recorded and compared across sex, treatment, and expression of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1. It was noteworthy that there were few differences among the body masses of pups at P21. In the C57Bl/6J mouse study (see Chapter 3), several significant main effects were observed in treatment, genotype, and genotype \times sex. The C57Bl/6J dams as well showed significant differences in body mass between treatment groups. Yet in the $\alpha 2\delta - 1^{\text{Thy}1}$ dams, no significant differences were observed. Given that the primary difference between these two mouse lines was brain specificity of the decreased expression $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 versus throughout the whole body (Catterall et al., 1988; Cole et al., 2005; Klugbauer et al., 1999; Nieto-Rostro et al., 2018; Tanabe et al., 1987), this could indicate that whole body knockout of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 led to greater susceptibility to drugs of abuse in terms of interruptions of normal development.

The results of this study's IHC experiments, much like those of the C57Bl/6J mouse study, indicate that excitatory glutamatergic and inhibitory GABAergic synaptic populations are significantly disrupted by early life exposure to buprenorphine and gabapentin, separately or in combination, and that these disruptions are strongly influenced by $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 function. While

haploinsufficiency of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 was associated with significantly lower numbers of synapses in some cases, brain specific knockout of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 correlated with lower numbers of both excitatory and inhibitory synapses within all three brain regions. This may indicate that, even when expression of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 was decreased, synaptogenesis induced by thrombospondins can still occur, potentially by compensatory astrocyte-mediated signaling pathways (Baldwin & Eroglu, 2017; Risher & Eroglu, 2020).

Early life exposure to buprenorphine in combination with gabapentin was associated with an increase in net excitation within the mesolimbic dopamine pathway, with increased numbers of excitatory synapses and largely unaffected numbers of inhibitory synapses. Gabapentin in isolation, however, tended to be associated with a decrease in excitatory synapse number. These findings are in agreement with previous research showing that normal astrocyte mediated synaptogenesis via interaction between thrombospondin and $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 is interrupted by gabapentin (Eroglu et al., 2009). These findings also provide further evidence that a synergistic effect occurs between gabapentin and opioids, such as buprenorphine, that is not seen in either individual treatment. While the precise mechanism for this interaction is not yet known, it does agree with previous studies and patient reports of gabapentin increasing the effects of opioids (Baird et al., 2014; Bastiaens et al., 2016; Meymandi et al., 2006) as well as the clinical finding of a unique presentation of NAS in infants known to have been exposed to both gabapentin and opioids (Loudin et al., 2017).

A novel finding of this study concerned the role of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 in regulation of GABAergic synapses. The ability of astrocytes to regulate synapse formation has largely been demonstrated with excitatory glutamatergic synapses, and signaling involving TSP binding to $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 has been one of the primary mechanisms through which it has been demonstrated (Christopherson et al.,

2005; Eroglu et al., 2009; Eroglu & Barres, 2010; Risher & Eroglu, 2012, 2020). The results of this study, however, showed that the number of inhibitory synapses was significantly decreased in $\alpha 2\delta - 1$ ^{Thy1} cKO mice across all three brain regions, indicating that $\alpha 2\delta - 1$ likely plays an important role in inhibitory synaptogenesis. Previous studies have shown that astrocytes are able to promote GABAergic synaptogenesis via secreted proteins other than TSPs (Hughes et al., 2010) and have attempted to identify possible mechanisms by which astrocytes might promote the development of GABAergic synapses. Such mechanisms include enhancing signaling between BDNF and its receptor TrkB to promote GABA_A receptor clustering on the surface of post-synaptic neurons (Elmariah et al., 2005) and releasing transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGF- β 1) to increase activity of NMDA glutamate receptors while initiating a kinase signaling pathway to induce the localization and cluster formation of synaptic adhesion proteins associated with GABA_A receptor subunits (Diniz et al., 2014). Other studies have demonstrated that the same signaling pathways responsible for increasing expression of glutamate receptors are also responsible for increasing expression of GABA receptors (Marsden et al., 2007), highlighting the balance between excitatory and inhibitory synaptic signaling necessary for normal CNS development. Whether it is an absence of signaling involving $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 specifically that leads to this decrease in inhibitory synapse formation, or whether it is a result of a balancing response to a decrease in excitatory synapses is a subject for future investigations.

Effects of Early Life Drug Exposure on Synaptogenesis Are Not Fully Ameliorated with Age

To determine whether the changes in synapse number induced by early life drug exposure persist through life, IHC studies were performed with exposed $\alpha 2\delta \cdot 1^{Thy1}$ mice at P70 and compared to mice at P21. Significant differences were observed between the treatment groups of

P70 mice in both excitatory and inhibitory synapse numbers. In addition, it appeared that changes in synaptogenesis that resulted from altered expression of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 were not nearly as pronounced in P70 mice as they were in P21 mice, with few significant differences being observed between $\alpha 2\delta$ -1^{Thy1} WT and $\alpha 2\delta$ -1^{Thy1} cHet P70 mice. While the reasons for this are not entirely known, it is possible that $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 mediated synaptogenesis primarily occurs early in life, with its role in synaptic maintenance diminishing after a certain age. In addition, it is typically expected for the number of synapses throughout the brain to decrease somewhat with age as those formed early in life are removed through such mechanisms as synaptic pruning (Petralia et al., 2014). Taken together, these results observed in P70 mice indicate that changes in synaptic development resulting from early life drug exposure have the potential to persist throughout life well into adulthood.

Early Life Drug Exposure Resulted in Few Significant Changes in Anxiety-Type or Locomotor Behaviors

Another major goal of this study was to not only investigate the role of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 in alterations of synaptogenesis induced by early life drug exposure, but to observe what effects these alterations may have on behaviors associated with addiction. Measures of anxiety-type behavior included Light/Dark testing and Open Field. In behavioral tests that use a Light/Dark chamber, it is assumed that an anxious mouse will generally prefer darker and more enclosed spaces and avoid brightly lit, open spaces where it may feel vulnerable. For anxiety testing in an Open Field, it is assumed that an anxious mouse will generally avoid the center of the field where it may feel the most exposed or vulnerable and will instead spend most of its time moving around the edge of the field close to the walls (i.e. thigmotaxis) (Simon et al., 1994). Despite previous animal models of early life drug exposure demonstrating increased anxiety in these types of experiments (Ahmadalipour et al., 2015; Andersen et al., 2020; Chen H, 2015; Daly et al., 2012; Seibenhener & Wooten, 2015), no significant differences were observed among the mice in this study.

The Open Field was also used to measure locomotor activity to determine if any of the chosen drug treatments were associated with motor impairments. Total distance traveled can also be an indicator of anxiety-type behavior with more anxious mice presumed to travel a shorter distance. It was observed that the buprenorphine treated mice did travel a significantly shorter distance while moving around the field. Previous studies have associated changes in locomotor activity to opioids in the past (Niikura et al., 2013; Seibenhener & Wooten, 2015; Zamani et al., 2022) and multiple clinical studies (Burke & Beckwith, 2017; Monnelly et al., 2019) have shown deficits in motor skills in children with a history of prenatal opioid exposure. My own study of NAS patients (see **Chapter 2**) showed that the most common medical issues among the children were musculoskeletal in nature and that the majority of those children were delayed in reaching developmental milestones for motor skills and coordination. Clearly then, there is a potential for prenatal drug exposure to affect the development of motor skills.

In addition, the total time spent frozen by each mouse was recorded during their Open Field session. As another measure of anxiety, mice that spend a greater amount of time frozen in place are assumed to be more anxious (Sestakova et al., 2013). Intriguingly, gabapentin treated WT mice were shown to have spent significantly less time frozen (and the time spent by buprenorphine + gabapentin WT mice was nearly significant less as well). There has been some data to suggest gabapentin has anxiolytic properties, with male mice having been shown to spend less time frozen in an Open Field after receiving a 30mg/kg dose injection (Sethi et al., 2005). Intriguingly, the primary neurotransmitter whose dysregulation is most associated with disorders

of anxiety is GABA (Nuss, 2015). Given that the glutamatergic-GABAergic synapse balance was shown to be disrupted in mice with early life exposure to gabapentin and/or buprenorphine (**Figures 11 and 15**), there is the possibility that drug-induced changes in synaptic development and function can manifest later in life as changes in anxiety-related motor behaviors.

Reward Seeking Behaviors were not Significantly Affected by Early Life Drug Exposure or Expression of α2δ-1

To study reward seeking behavior, mice in this study were subjected to a 10-day CPP protocol with injections of nicotine as the reward stimulus. It was predicted that the alterations in synaptic development within the mesolimbic dopamine pathway that have been shown to result from early life exposure to opioids and/or gabapentin would predispose mice to experience greater reinforcement of a rewarding stimulus (Pierce & Kumaresan, 2006). Given the high rates of nicotine use among opioid disorder patients (Chun et al., 2009; Kohut, 2017; Streck et al., 2020; Young-Wolff et al., 2017), it was also predicted that nicotine would be an effective rewarding stimulus for a CPP study involving these mice. Although all but one treatmentgenotype mouse group demonstrated preference for the drug paired chamber, as evidenced by a positive mean CPP score, no significant differences were observed between the different mouse groups. In fact, many mice demonstrated negative CPP scores, particularly the cHet gabapentin treated group, indicating that an aversion was developed rather than a preference. Conditioned place aversion (CPA) is possible with nicotine, but typically only when administered in high doses (Buccafusco, 2009). Recently, however, coadministration of morphine with nicotine was actually shown to decrease nicotine reinforcement (Avelar et al., 2022). Clearly, the interaction between nicotine and opioids with or without gabapentin is more complicated than this study was able to characterize.

The complex interaction between nicotine and early life exposure to drugs of abuse, such as opioids, was also relevant to the vapor chamber self-administration behavioral experiments include in this study. Mice from each treatment-genotype group were placed in nicotine vapor self-administration chambers for daily one-hour FR1 sessions for 10 days. It was expected, based on previous research using the same technique (Cooper et al., 2020; Henderson & Cooper, 2021) that mice would initiate a greater number of nose pokes over time as nicotine reinforcement occurred. However, despite most treatment-genotype groups having a high mean number of nose pokes on Day One, especially the cHet vehicle group, daily nose poke means for all groups declined shortly afterwards and remained relatively low over time.

Despite the lack of significant differences in daily number of nose poke between the different treatment-genotype groups, there were still mice from six different treatment-genotype groups that demonstrated the possibility of reinforcement. These mice were included in the follow-up three-day one-hour FR3 self-administration sessions. No significant differences were observed between the two-day mean number of nose pokes of each group. One potentially noteworthy finding from this FR3 study, however, was that the majority of the mice that demonstrated possible reinforcement were female. This may indicate that sex-related differences in the response to rewarding substances could play a significant role in drug self-administration studies.

There are several possible reasons for this lack of significant differences in these selfadministration studies, aside from the possibility that drug exposure may actually decrease nicotine reinforcement (Avelar et al., 2022). In previous nicotine vapor self-administration studies, the concentration of nicotine in the administered puffs of vaporized PGVG were 6mg/ml nicotine salt, double the concentration used in this study. In addition, previous studies placed

mice in vapor chambers for two-hour or three-hour FR1 sessions each day rather than the onehour sessions used in this study (Cooper et al., 2020; Henderson & Cooper, 2021). Given that reinforcement had already been seen in mice that followed the procedures of previous studies, nicotine concentrations and session times were lower in this study as a means to assess whether reinforcement was enhanced in mice that had been exposed to drugs of abuse during early life development. It was reasoned that if any group of mice in this study demonstrated and significant reinforcement, it could be taken as a sign that that group had shown enhancement in the reinforcement of nicotine vapor self-administration.

Another possible explanation for why mice failed to show significant reinforcement for self-administration may have been related to the procedure through which it was tested. Mice were required to learn to associate the action of poking their nose into one of two holes and the turning on of a light with the administration of a three-second puff of nicotine vapor within their chamber. Previous studies have demonstrated, however, that learning and memory may be impaired in both humans and rodents with a history of prenatal exposure to drugs of (Ahmadalipour et al., 2015; Chen H, 2015; Egil Nygaard et al., 2015; Oei et al., 2017; A. Ornoy, 2003) abuse. Therefore, it is possible that any behavioral studies that require mice to learn relatively complex behaviors may not be accurate measures unless the impaired learning and memory in those mice can be controlled for or removed as a potentially confounding factor.

Overall, this study demonstrated the impact of early life drug exposure, $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 expression, and age on synaptic development within three brain regions associated with the mesolimbic dopamine pathway. It achieved this through the use of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1^{Thy1} mice and multiple IHC studies designed to examine and compare numbers of excitatory and inhibitory synapses between different early life drug treatments, $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 genotypes, and ages. This study also attempted to

connect the findings from these IHC to the results of multiple behavioral experiments examining behaviors related to addiction and activity within the mesolimbic dopamine pathway. Although few significant differences were observed between mice belonging to different groups based on treatment or genotype, future studies may be informed by the behavioral results of these mice. A greater understanding of the long-term effects of early life drug exposure on synaptic development and behavior will hopefully lead to improved health outcomes for human patients impacted by drug abuse.

CHAPTER 5

CONCLUSIONS

Reflection on Major Findings from These Investigations

The results of the studies included in this dissertation collectively paint a larger picture about the effects of prenatal exposure to drugs of abuse. First, a chart review of NAS patients who appeared at a treatment center for follow-up clinic appointments was carried out. This study observed several trends among these patients describing, among other factors, the drugs most commonly abused by patient mothers, the health problems most commonly seen among the patients, and the extent of the developmental delays seen in the patients.

Second, IHC and confocal fluorescent microscopy studies examined the numbers of excitatory glutamatergic and inhibitory GABAergic synapses within the ACC, NAC, and PFC of mice in two different age groups (P21 and P70) with one of three possible genotypes for expression of the Ca²⁺ channel subunit $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 (WT, Het, or cKO) exposed to one of four different treatments during early life development (5 mg/kg buprenorphine, 30 mg/kg gabapentin, a combination of both drug doses, or a vehicle control). It was demonstrated that excitatory and inhibitory synaptic populations are significantly disrupted by early life exposure to buprenorphine and gabapentin, separately or in combination, and that these disruptions are strongly influenced by the level of expression of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 and by age.

Third, a regimen of behavioral experiments was carried out in early life drug exposed mice to determine what effects the different drug treatments and the different expression levels of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 might have on behaviors related to addiction. There were indications that locomotor activity may be impacted by early life exposure to buprenorphine as well as indications that anxiety-related activity may be lessened in mice exposed to gabapentin during early life

development. Although few significant differences were observed between mice belonging to different groups based on treatment or genotype, future studies looking at other behaviors or utilizing different experimental methods may be informed by the behavioral results of these mice.

Potential Weaknesses and Directions for Future Studies

Although the experiments included in this dissertation were planned and carried out as carefully and methodically as possible, there were limitations and potential weaknesses to these studies that may have influenced the results. It is important to acknowledge for the mouse studies included in this dissertation that the timeline for rodent neurodevelopment does not correlate directly with that of humans. A newborn mouse is approximately neurodevelopmentally equivalent to a human fetus in the late second trimester (Ross et al., 2015). This was accounted for when planning the drug dosing schedule, for while efforts were made to replicate prenatal drug exposure in human patients as closely as possible, the period of time during which a great deal of synaptogenesis occurs in the developing mouse brain also needed to be captured within the timeframe.

The significant differences between rodent and human fetal development warrant the need for noninvasive, ethical methods of studying human tissues at early developmental stages. Tissue from post-mortem humans, for example, has been effectively and reproducibly used to study opioid receptor gene expression (Peng et al., 2012). Recent advances have also been made in three-dimensional *in vitro* culture techniques have allowed for the production of brain organoids derived from induced human pluripotent stem cells that have been used to study changes in neuronal protein expression and cell maturation. This model system is non-invasive and allows for the study of living, functional human tissue, making it a potentially invaluable

tool in the study of the effects of drug exposure on the developing human brain (Di Lullo & Kriegstein, 2017). Recent models such as these could lead to a more accurate understanding of the natural processes disrupted by exogenous opioids, or other drugs of abuse such as gabapentin, and could elucidate the role of glial cells in these processes. Going forward, it would be constructive to pursue the opportunities that are now available to explore the effects of opioid exposure on human CNS development at the cellular and molecular level.

In the future, the data gained from the studies described in this dissertation will need to be expanded to account for other important variables with the potential to influence either astrocyte-mediated synaptogenesis or the effects of drugs of abuse on the developing CNS. The inclusion of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 knockouts in the P70 timepoint IHC studies as well as in the behavioral studies would more completely demonstrate the importance of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 in determining the effects of early life drug exposure on synaptic development and behavior. In these studies, neither C57Bl/6J $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 KO nor $\alpha 2\delta$ -1^{Thy1} cKO pups were born and/or survived to P21 in sufficient numbers to be included in this study. This is likely due to a lack of $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 being deleterious to the health of mice, especially in those treated with buprenorphine and/or gabapentin. Given enough time, sufficient numbers of $\alpha 2\delta - 1^{\text{Thy}1}$ cKO pups could likely have been produced and utilized in behavioral and IHC studies. In an effort to reduce the number of mice needed to complete the studies described in this dissertation, all mice used for behavioral studies were used for every experiment listed in the seven-week regimen in the order in which they are listed. These same mice were sacrificed and perfused at the end of those studies (at P70) to then be used in IHC studies. The various forms of stress experienced by those mice and the repeated nicotine treatments they received over the course of those behavioral studies may have impacted their performance in behavioral studies occurring later in the schedule and may have affected synapse

numbers within the mesolimbic dopamine pathway. One way in which this potential confounding factor could be addressed is by allowing for a separate cohort of mice for behavioral studies. Without the need to carry out all behavioral studies within the seven-week period between P21 weaning and P70 sacrifice dates, studies could be spread over a longer period of time, with significant "down-time" breaks in between each study. This could allow mice in this cohort to recover from the effects of stress and nicotine treatments before beginning another potentially stressful behavioral trial.

Another significant change that could have been made to this study would have been to examine sex-related differences between male and female mice. There has been significant evidence to suggest that not only are the brains between males and female different in key structural areas, including potential sex-specific synaptogenic responses to astrocyte-secreted TSP-2 (Mazur et al., 2021; Uhl et al., 2022), there are important differences in their prenatal development. During fetal development, the presence of male or female specific hormones is necessary for sex-dimorphic behaviors and sex-specific differences in the size and structure of certain brain regions (Ehrhardt & Meyer-Bahlburg, 1979; Xin et al., 2019).

Sex hormones may also modify the effects of prenatal drug exposure on neurological development. The expression of opioid receptors within the brains of rats has been shown to be influenced by the presence of estrogen and progesterone (Cruz et al., 2015), but the exact role of ovarian hormones in the development of the endogenous opioid system remains unclear. Animal studies have shown that the presence of estrogen and progesterone can influence the expression of mu and kappa opioid receptors (Cruz et al., 2015). One study examining learning and memory showed significant sex-related differences in the ability of rats prenatally exposed to morphine to solve the mazes. The presence or absence of ovarian hormones was implicated as the reason for

these sex-related differences (Šlamberová et al., 2001). Another investigation into learning and memory deficits used a symmetrical maze and a radial arm maze (RAM) to show significant sexrelated differences in the ability of prenatal morphine-exposed rats to solve the mazes (Šlamberová et al., 2001). Male rats required less time to complete the symmetrical maze, while both sexes showed deficits in completing the RAM in a similar amount of time to sex-matched controls. The presence or absence of ovarian hormones was implicated as the reason for these sex-related differences, since ovariectomized females prenatally exposed to opioids exhibited poor performance that was rescued by hormone replacement injections.

Additional evidence for an interaction between sex hormones and opioids during development can be observed in the presentation of human infants with NAS. Multiple clinical studies have shown that rates of NAS are higher in male than in female newborns, and that male NAS patients are more likely than females to require treatment for their symptoms (Charles et al., 2017; Stevens et al., 2018). Differences in head circumference and types of symptoms between males and females have also been observed (Stevens et al., 2018). In terms of behavior, male infants with a history of prenatal opioid exposure have been shown to score higher than females on cognitive tests of habituation (Jones et al., 2010). Studies such as these highlight the need to consider sex-related differences both in animal model basic research and in clinical studies.

In clinical studies, such as the one performed in this dissertation, it is important to consider environmental factors that can indirectly influence the health and wellbeing of children and can also be potential confounders when investigating incidence of NAS or drug abuse in general. Such factors can include race (Becker & Newsom, 2003), geographic location (Berry et al., 2016; J. Brown et al., 2018), socio-economic status (M. Kim et al., 2018), and stability of

home life (Berry et al., 2016; Asher Ornoy et al., 2001). Lower socio-economic status has long been known to be associated with poorer health in general (Braveman & Gottlieb, 2014). It has been found that improving the economic resources available to infants born into families with low socio-economic status can significantly improve brain function within key regions (Troller-Renfree et al., 2022). However, there is evidence to suggest that prenatal drug exposure can impact neurological development even when social factors are controlled for in children raised in different, more stable households than the ones into which they were born (Egil Nygaard et al., 2015; Egil Nygaard et al., 2018; A. Ornoy, 2003; Asher Ornoy et al., 2001). In studies of a medical condition as inextricably linked to environmental factors as NAS, it will always be important to attempt to isolate the effects of drug exposure from the effects of the surrounding environment as much as possible.

Aside from the behaviors studied and the behavioral experiments utilized in this dissertation, there are several other aspects of behavior with the potential to be affected by early life drug exposure and/or alterations in synaptic development within the mesolimbic dopamine pathway. Studies designed to examine memory and learning, such as social interaction, novel object recognition, and passive avoidance test, have been used in rat models of prenatal opioid exposure and have shown significant differences between drug treated and control subjects (Ahmadalipour et al., 2015; Chen H, 2015). The learning difficulties and generally poorer performance in school seen in children with a history of prenatal drug exposure may also be attributed to deficits in learning and memory (Egil Nygaard et al., 2015; Oei et al., 2017; A. Ornoy, 2003). An investigation into these types of behaviors may also prompt examinations of the hippocampus, the brain region predominantly involved in learning and memory (Rubin et al., 2014), which has been shown to interact with the mesolimbic dopamine pathway and to have

altered development and function as a result of exposure to drugs of abuse (Belujon & Grace, 2011; Lisman & Grace, 2005). There are many opportunities for additional studies utilizing this mouse model and experimental paradigm.

Final Remarks

Neonatal abstinence syndrome has negatively impacted the lives an untold number of children and their families. Increasing the collective understanding of this condition and the factors that cause it will be critical to improving methods for preventing and treating it as well as meeting the unique developmental needs of the children who develop it. This dissertation is intended to add to that body of knowledge by identifying a potential molecular target in $\alpha 2\delta$ -1. This protein, as well as the broader mechanism of astrocyte-mediated synaptogenesis, may become the focus of studies exploring treatments and preventative methods designed to drive down the incidence rates of NAS that have risen to epidemic levels in the United States in recent years. It is the intention of the author that this dissertation further the cause of using scientific and clinical research towards improving the health and wellbeing of patients and the vulnerable populations most impacted by NAS and substance use disorders.

REFERENCES

- Adinoff, B. (2004). Neurobiologic processes in drug reward and addiction. *Harvard Review of Psychiatry*, *12*(6), 305-320. doi:10.1080/10673220490910844
- Ahmad, F. B., Rossen, L. M., & Sutton, P. (2022). Provisional drug overdose death counts. *National Center for Health Statistics*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nvss/vsrr/drug-overdose-data.htm</u>
- Ahmadalipour, A., Sadeghzadeh, J., Vafaei, A. A., Bandegi, A. R., Mohammadkhani, R., &
 Rashidy-Pour, A. (2015). Effects of environmental enrichment on behavioral deficits and alterations in hippocampal BDNF induced by prenatal exposure to morphine in juvenile rats. *Neuroscience*, 305, 372-383.
- AHRQ. (2021). Trends in neonatal abstinence syndrome births in the United States, Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality updated: January 18, 2018. Retrieved from <u>https://hcup-us.ahrq.gov/reports/Trends_NeonatalAbstinenceSyndrome_Births_UnitedStates.pdf</u>
- Allen, N. J., Bennett, M. L., Foo, L. C., Wang, G. X., Chakraborty, C., Smith, S. J., & Barres, B.
 A. (2012). Astrocyte glypicans 4 and 6 promote formation of excitatory synapses via
 GluA1 AMPA receptors. *Nature*, 486, 410-414. doi:10.1038/nature11059
- Allen, N. J., & Lyons, D. A. (2018). Glia as architects of central nervous system formation and function. *Science*, 362(6411), 181-185. doi:10.1126/science.aat0473
- Anand, K. S., & Dhikav, V. (2012). Hippocampus in health and disease: An overview. *Annals of Indian Academy of Neurology*, *15*(4), 239-246. doi:10.4103/0972-2327.104323
- Andersen, J. M., Høiseth, G., & Nygaard, E. (2020). Prenatal exposure to methadone or buprenorphine and long-term outcomes: A meta-analysis. *Early Human Development*, 143, 104997.

- Avelar, A., Akers, A. T., Baumgard, Z. J., Cooper, S. Y., Casinelli, G. P., & Henderson, B. J.
 (2019). Why flavored vape products may be attractive: Green apple tobacco flavor elicits reward-related behavior, upregulates nAChRs on VTA dopamine neurons, and alters midbrain dopamine and GABA neuron function. *Neuropharmacology*, *158*, 107729-107729. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2019.107729
- Avelar, A., Cooper, S. Y., Wright, T. D., Wright, S. K., Richardson, M. R., & Henderson, B. J. (2022). Morphine exposure reduces nicotine-induced upregulation of nicotinic receptors and decreases volitional nicotine intake in a mouse model. *Nicotine Tob Res*. doi:10.1093/ntr/ntac002
- Baird, C. R. W., Fox, P., & Colvin, L. A. (2014). Gabapentinoid abuse in order to potentiate the effect of methadone: A survey among substance misusers. *European Addiction Research*, 20(3), 115-118. doi:10.1159/000355268
- Baldwin, K. T., & Eroglu, C. (2017). Molecular mechanisms of astrocyte-induced synaptogenesis. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*, 45, 113-120. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2017.05.006
- Ball, J. C., & Ross, A. (2012). The effectiveness of methadone maintenance treatment: Patients, programs, services, and outcome: Springer Science & Business Media.
- Balleine, B. W., & Killcross, S. (2006). Parallel incentive processing: An integrated view of amygdala function. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 29(5), 272-279.
- Bandyopadhyay, S. (2019). An 8,000-year history of use and abuse of opium and opioids: How that matters for a successful control of the epidemic? *Neurology*, *92*(15 Supplement), P4.9-055.
- Bastiaens, L., Galus, J., & Mazur, C. (2016). Abuse of gabapentin is associated with opioid addiction. *Psychiatric Quarterly*, 87(4), 763-767. doi:10.1007/s11126-016-9421-7

- Becker, G., & Newsom, E. (2003). Socioeconomic status and dissatisfaction with health care among chronically ill African Americans. *American journal of public health*, 93(5), 742-748. doi:10.2105/ajph.93.5.742
- Beitner-Johnson, D., Guitart, X., & Nestler, E. J. (1993). Glial fibrillary acidic protein and the mesolimbic dopamine system: regulation by chronic morphine and Lewis-Fischer strain differences in the rat ventral tegmental area. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, *61*(5), 1766-1773. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.1993.tb09814.x
- Belcheva, M. M., Bohn, L. M., Ho, M. T., Johnson, F. E., Yanai, J., Barron, S., & Coscia, C. J. (1998). Brain opioid receptor adaptation and expression after prenatal exposure to buprenorphine. *Developmental Brain Research*, 111(1), 35-42.
- Belujon, P., & Grace, A. A. (2011). Hippocampus, amygdala, and stress: Interacting systems that affect susceptibility to addiction. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1216(1), 114-121.
- Berry, D., Blair, C., Willoughby, M., Garrett-Peters, P., Vernon-Feagans, L., & Mills-Koonce,
 W. R. (2016). Household chaos and children's cognitive and socio-emotional
 development in early childhood: Does childcare play a buffering role? *Early childhood research quarterly*, 34, 115-127. doi:10.1016/j.ecresq.2015.09.003
- Bio, L. L., Siu, A., & Poon, C. Y. (2011). Update on the pharmacologic management of neonatal abstinence syndrome. *Journal Of Perinatology*, *31*(11), 692-701.
 doi:10.1038/jp.2011.116
- Blanchard, T. C., Strait, C. E., & Hayden, B. Y. (2015). Ramping ensemble activity in dorsal anterior cingulate neurons during persistent commitment to a decision. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *114*(4), 2439-2449. doi:10.1152/jn.00711.2015
- Blount, T., Painter, A., Freeman, E., Grossman, M., & Sutton, A. G. (2019). Reduction in length of stay and morphine use for NAS with the "Eat, Sleep, Console" method. *Hospital pediatrics*, 9(8), 615-623. doi:10.1542/hpeds.2018-0238
- Boddum, K., Jensen, T. P., Magloire, V., Kristiansen, U., Rusakov, D. A., Pavlov, I., & Walker,
 M. C. (2016). Astrocytic GABA transporter activity modulates excitatory
 neurotransmission. *Nature Communications*, 7(1), 13572. doi:10.1038/ncomms13572
- Boggess, T., & Risher, W. C. (2020). Clinical and basic research investigations into the longterm effects of prenatal opioid exposure on brain development. *Journal of neuroscience research*, *100*(1), 396-409.
- Boggess, T., Williamson, J. C., Niebergall, E. B., Sexton, H., Mazur, A., Egleton, R. D., ...
 Risher, W. C. (2021). Alterations in excitatory and inhibitory synaptic development
 within the mesolimbic dopamine pathway in a mouse model of prenatal drug exposure. *Frontiers in pediatrics*, 9. doi:10.3389/fped.2021.794544
- Bonnet, L., Comte, A., Tatu, L., Millot, J.-l., Moulin, T., & Medeiros de Bustos, E. (2015). The role of the amygdala in the perception of positive emotions: An "Intensity Detector". *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 9. doi:10.3389/fnbeh.2015.00178
- Bosworth, A. P., & Allen, N. J. (2017). The diverse actions of astrocytes during synaptic development. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*, *47*, 38-43. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2017.08.017
- Bouarab, C., Thompson, B., & Polter, A. M. (2019). VTA GABA neurons at the interface of stress and reward. *Frontiers in Neural Circuits*, *13*. doi:10.3389/fncir.2019.00078
- Bourin, M., & Hascoët, M. (2003). The mouse light/dark box test. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 463(1), 55-65.

- Braveman, P., & Gottlieb, L. (2014). The social determinants of health: It's time to consider the causes of the causes. *Public Health Reports (Washington, D.C.: 1974), 129 Suppl* 2(Suppl 2), 19-31. doi:10.1177/00333549141291S206
- Brown, J., Goodin, A. J., & Talbert, J. C. (2018). Rural and appalachian disparities in neonatal abstinence syndrome incidence and access to opioid abuse treatment. *The Journal of Rural Health*, 34(1), 6-13. doi:10.1111/jrh.12251
- Brown, R., Kraus, C., Fleming, M., & Reddy, S. (2004). Methadone: Applied pharmacology and use as adjunctive treatment in chronic pain. *Postgraduate Medical Journal*, 80(949), 654-659. doi:10.1136/pgmj.2004.022988
- Browne, C., Godino, A., Salery, M., & Nestler, E. J. (2020). Epigenetic mechanisms of opioid addiction. *Biological Psychiatry*, 87(1), 22-33. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2019.06.027
- Brownstein, M. (1993). A brief history of opiates, opioid peptides, and opioid receptors.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 90(12), 5391-5393. doi:10.1073/pnas.90.12.5391
- Buccafusco, J. J. (2009). Methods of behavior analysis in neuroscience (J. J. Buccafusco Ed. 2nd Edition ed.): Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press/Taylor & Francis.
- Bunzeck, N., & Düzel, E. (2006). Absolute coding of stimulus novelty in the human substantia nigra/VTA. *Neuron*, *51*(3), 369-379. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2006.06.021
- Bunzeck, N., Schütze, H., Stallforth, S., Kaufmann, J., Düzel, S., Heinze, H. J., & Düzel, E.
 (2007). Mesolimbic novelty processing in older adults. *Cerebral Cortex*, 17(12), 2940-2948. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhm020

- Burke, S., & Beckwith, A. M. (2017). Morphine versus methadone treatment for neonatal withdrawal and impact on early infant development. *Global pediatric health*, *4*, 2333794X17721128-12333794X17721128. doi:10.1177/2333794X17721128
- Carenzio, G., Carlisi, E., Morani, I., Tinelli, C., Barak, M., Bejor, M., & Dalla Toffola, E.
 (2015). Early rehabilitation treatment in newborns with congenital muscular torticollis.
 Eur J Phys Rehabil Med, 51(5), 539-545.
- Carlezon, W. A., Jr., & Wise, R. A. (1996). Rewarding actions of phencyclidine and related drugs in nucleus accumbens shell and frontal cortex. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 16*(9), 3112-3122.
 doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.16-09-03112.1996
- Carr, D. B., O'Donnell, P., Card, J. P., & Sesack, S. R. (1999). Dopamine terminals in the rat prefrontal cortex synapse on pyramidal cells that project to the nucleus accumbens. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *19*(24), 11049-11060. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.19-24-11049.1999
- Catterall, W., Seagar, M., & Takahashi, M. (1988). Molecular properties of dihydropyridinesensitive calcium channels in skeletal muscle. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 263(8), 3535-3538.
- CDC. (2020). *Center for Disease Control and Prevention WONDER*. Retrieved from National Center for Health Statistics, Atlanta, GA: <u>http://wonder.cdc.gov</u>
- CDC's developmental milestones. (2020, June 10 2020). National Center on Birth Defects and Developmental Disabilities. Retrieved from

https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/actearly/milestones/index.html

Cerdá, M., Santaella, J., Marshall, B. D., Kim, J. H., & Martins, S. S. (2015). Nonmedical prescription opioid use in childhood and early adolescence predicts transitions to heroin

use in young adulthood: A national study. *Journal of Pediatrics*, *167*(3), 605-612.e601-602. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2015.04.071

- Charles, M. K., Cooper, W. O., Jansson, L. M., Dudley, J., Slaughter, J. C., & Patrick, S. W.
 (2017). Male sex associated with increased risk of neonatal abstinence syndrome. *Hospital pediatrics*, 7(6), 328-334. doi:10.1542/hpeds.2016-0218
- Chen H, C. Y., Yuan ZF, Kuo C, Lai M, Hung T, Ho I, Chen S. (2015). Buprenorphine, methadone, and morphine treatment during pregnancy: Behavioral effects on the offspring in rats. *Neuropsychiatric disease and treatment, 11*, 609-618.
- Chen, J., Li, L., Chen, S.-R., Chen, H., Xie, J.-D., Sirrieh, R. E., ... Pan, H.-L. (2018). The α2δ-1-NMDA receptor complex is critically involved in neuropathic pain development and gabapentin therapeutic actions. *Cell Reports*, 22(9), 2307-2321. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2018.02.021
- Chen, K.-W., & Chen, L. (2017). Epigenetic regulation of BDNF gene during development and diseases. *International journal of molecular sciences*, 18(3), 571.
 doi:10.3390/ijms18030571
- Chestnut, D. H. (2020). *Chestnut's obstetric anesthesia: Principles and practice* (Sixth edition. ed.). Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier.
- Chi Yiu, Y., & Mogenson, G. J. (1982). Response of nucleus accumbens neurons to amygdala stimulation and its modification by dopamine. *Brain research*, *239*(2), 401-415.
- Christopherson, K. S., Ullian, E. M., Stokes, C. C. A., Mullowney, C. E., Hell, J. W., Agah, A., .
 . . Barres, B. A. (2005). Thrombospondins are astrocyte-secreted proteins that promote
 CNS synaptogenesis. *Cell*, *120*(3), 421-433. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2004.12.020

- Chun, J., Haug, N. A., Guydish, J. R., Sorensen, J. L., & Delucchi, K. (2009). Cigarette smoking among opioid-dependent clients in a therapeutic community. *The American journal on addictions*, 18(4), 316-320. doi:10.1080/10550490902925490
- Chung, W.-S., Clarke, L. E., Wang, G. X., Stafford, B. K., Sher, A., Chakraborty, C., . . . Barres,
 B. A. (2013). Astrocytes mediate synapse elimination through MEGF10 and MERTK
 pathways. *Nature*, 504(7480), 394-400. doi:10.1038/nature12776
- Clarke, L. E., & Barres, B. A. (2013). Emerging roles of astrocytes in neural circuit development. *Nature reviews. Neuroscience*, *14*(5), 311-321. doi:10.1038/nrn3484
- Cohen-Cory, S., Kidane, A. H., Shirkey, N. J., & Marshak, S. (2010). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor and the development of structural neuronal connectivity. *Developmental neurobiology*, 70(5), 271-288. doi:10.1002/dneu.20774
- Cohen, M. C., Morley, S. R., & Coombs, R. C. (2015). Maternal use of methadone and risk of sudden neonatal death. *Acta Paediatrica*, *104*(9), 883-887. doi:10.1111/apa.13046
- Cole, R. L., Lechner, S. M., Williams, M. E., Prodanovich, P., Bleicher, L., Varney, M. A., &
 Gu, G. (2005). Differential distribution of voltage-gated calcium channel alpha-2 delta
 (α2δ) subunit mRNA-containing cells in the rat central nervous system and the dorsal
 root ganglia. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 491(3), 246-269.
- Coley, R. L., Lynch, A. D., & Kull, M. (2015). Early exposure to environmental chaos and children's physical and mental health. *Early childhood research quarterly*, *32*, 94-104. doi:10.1016/j.ecresq.2015.03.001
- Cooper, S. Y., Akers, A. T., & Henderson, B. J. (2020). Flavors enhance nicotine vapor selfadministration in male mice. *Nicotine & Tobacco Research*, 23(3), 566-572. doi:10.1093/ntr/ntaa165

- Cresto, N., Pillet, L.-E., Billuart, P., & Rouach, N. (2019). Do astrocytes play a role in intellectual disabilities? *Trends in Neurosciences*, *42*(8), 518-527.
- Cruz, W. S., Pereira, L. A., Cezar, L. C., Camarini, R., Felicio, L. F., Bernardi, M. M., & Teodorov, E. (2015). Role of steroid hormones and morphine treatment in the modulation of opioid receptor gene expression in brain structures in the female rat. *SpringerPlus*, *4*, 355-355. doi:10.1186/s40064-015-1021-8
- Daly, F. M., Hughes, R. N., & Woodward, L. J. (2012). Subsequent anxiety-related behavior in rats exposed to low-dose methadone during gestation, lactation or both periods consecutively. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, 102(2), 381-389.
- De Felipe, J., Marco, P., Fairén, A., & Jones, E. G. (1997). Inhibitory synaptogenesis in mouse somatosensory cortex. *Cerebral Cortex*, 7(7), 619-634. doi:10.1093/cercor/7.7.619
- de Guglielmo, G., Kallupi, M., Cole, M. D., & George, O. (2017). Voluntary induction and maintenance of alcohol dependence in rats using alcohol vapor self-administration. *Psychopharmacology*, 234(13), 2009-2018. doi:10.1007/s00213-017-4608-7
- Desai, R. J., Hernandez-Diaz, S., Bateman, B. T., & Huybrechts, K. F. (2014). Increase in prescription opioid use during pregnancy among Medicaid-enrolled women. *Obstetrics* and gynecology, 123(5), 997-1002. doi:10.1097/AOG.000000000000208
- DeWeerdt, S. (2019). Tracing the US opioid crisis to its roots. *Nature*, *573*(7773), S10-s12. doi:10.1038/d41586-019-02686-2
- Dhawan, B. N., Cesselin, F., Raghubir, R., Reisine, T., Bradley, P. B., Portoghese, P. S., & Hamon, M. (1996). International union of pharmacology. XII. Classification of opioid receptors. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 48(4), 567-592.

- Di Chiara, G., Bassareo, V., Fenu, S., De Luca, M. A., Spina, L., Cadoni, C., . . . Lecca, D.
 (2004). Dopamine and drug addiction: The nucleus accumbens shell connection.
 Neuropharmacology, 47, 227-241.
- Di Lullo, E., & Kriegstein, A. R. (2017). The use of brain organoids to investigate neural development and disease. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 18(10), 573-584. doi:10.1038/nrn.2017.107
- Diniz, L. P., Tortelli, V., Garcia, M. N., Araújo, A. P., Melo, H. M., Silva, G. S., . . . Gomes, F.
 C. (2014). Astrocyte transforming growth factor beta 1 promotes inhibitory synapse
 formation via CaM kinase II signaling. *Glia*, 62(12), 1917-1931. doi:10.1002/glia.22713
- Dose-response effects of methadone in the treatment of opioid dependence. (1993). *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *119*(1), 23-27. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-119-1-199307010-00004 % m 8498759
- Doyle, H. H., & Murphy, A. Z. (2018). Sex-dependent influences of morphine and its metabolites on pain sensitivity in the rat. *Physiology & Behavior*, 187, 32-41. doi:10.1016/j.physbeh.2017.11.030
- Ducci, F., & Goldman, D. (2012). The genetic basis of addictive disorders. *Psychiatr Clin North Am*, 35(2), 495-519. doi:10.1016/j.psc.2012.03.010
- Ehrhardt, A. A., & Meyer-Bahlburg, H. F. L. (1979). Prenatal sex hormones and the developing brain: Effects on psychosexual differentiation and cognitive function. *Annual Review of Medicine*, 30(1), 417-430.
- Elmariah, S. B., Oh, E. J., Hughes, E. G., & Balice-Gordon, R. J. (2005). Astrocytes regulate inhibitory synapse formation via Trk-mediated modulation of postsynaptic GABA A

receptors. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 25(14), 3638-3650. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.3980-04.2005

- Elston, T. W., & Bilkey, D. K. (2017). Anterior cingulate cortex modulation of the ventral tegmental area in an effort task. *Cell Reports, 19*(11), 2220-2230.
- Eroglu, C., Allen, N. J., Susman, M. W., O'Rourke, N. A., Park, C. Y., Ozkan, E., . . . Barres, B.
 A. (2009). Gabapentin receptor alpha2delta-1 is a neuronal thrombospondin receptor responsible for excitatory CNS synaptogenesis. *Cell*, *139*(2), 380-392.
 doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.09.025
- Eroglu, C., & Barres, B. A. (2010). Regulation of synaptic connectivity by glia. *Nature*, 468(7321), 223-231. doi:10.1038/nature09612
- Errante, L. D., & Petroff, O. A. C. (2003). Acute effects of gabapentin and pregabalin on rat forebrain cellular GABA, glutamate, and glutamine concentrations. *Seizure*, 12(5), 300-306.
- Farhy-Tselnicker, I., & Allen, N. J. (2018). Astrocytes, neurons, synapses: A tripartite view on cortical circuit development. *Neural development*, 13(1), 7-7. doi:10.1186/s13064-018-0104-y
- Field, M. J., Cox, P. J., Stott, E., Melrose, H., Offord, J., Su, T.-Z., . . . Williams, D. (2006).
 Identification of the α2δ-1 subunit of voltage-dependent calcium channels as a molecular target for pain mediating the analgesic actions of pregabalin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 103(46), 17537-17542. doi:10.1073/pnas.0409066103
- Fill, M.-M. A., Miller, A. M., Wilkinson, R. H., Warren, M. D., Dunn, J. R., Schaffner, W., & Jones, T. F. (2018). Educational disabilities among children born with neonatal abstinence syndrome. *Pediatrics*, 142(3), e20180562. doi:10.1542/peds.2018-0562

- Fink, K., Meder, W., Dooley, D. J., & Göthert, M. (2000). Inhibition of neuronal Ca(2+) influx by gabapentin and subsequent reduction of neurotransmitter release from rat neocortical slices. *British journal of pharmacology*, *130*(4), 900-906. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0703380
- Finnegan, L. P., Connaughton, J. F., Kron, R. E., & Emich, J. P. (1975). Neonatal abstinence syndrome: Assessment and management. *Addictive diseases*, *2*(1-2), 141-158.
- Gagin, R., Cohen, E., & Shavit, Y. (1996). Prenatal exposure to morphine alters analgesic responses and preference for sweet solutions in adult rats. *Pharmacology Biochemistry* and Behavior, 55(4), 629-634. doi:10.1016/s0091-3057(96)00278-x
- Gagin, R., Kook, N., Cohen, E., & Shavit, Y. (1997). Prenatal morphine enhances morphineconditioned place preference in adult rats. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, 58(2), 525-528.
- Gardner, E. L. (2011). Addiction and brain reward and antireward pathways. *Advances in psychosomatic medicine*, *30*, 22-60. doi:10.1159/000324065
- Grecco, G. G., Mork, B. E., Huang, J. Y., Metzger, C. E., Haggerty, D. L., Reeves, K. C., . . . Atwood, B. K. (2021). Prenatal methadone exposure disrupts behavioral development and alters motor neuron intrinsic properties and local circuitry. *eLife*, 10. doi:10.7554/eLife.66230
- Grossman, M., & Berkwitt, A. (2019). Neonatal abstinence syndrome. *Seminars in Perinatology*, *43*(3), 173-186.
- Guydish, J., Passalacqua, E., Tajima, B., Chan, M., Chun, J., & Bostrom, A. (2011). Smoking prevalence in addiction treatment: A review. *Nicotine & Tobacco Research: Official Journal of the Society for Research on Nicotine and Tobacco, 13*(6), 401-411. doi:10.1093/ntr/ntr048

- Haight, S., Ko, J., Tong, V., Bohm, M., & Callaghan, W. (2018). Opioid use disorder documented at delivery hospitalization United States, 1999-2014. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR)*, 67, 845-849. doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm6731a1
- Han, X., Jing, M.-y., Zhao, T.-y., Wu, N., Song, R., & Li, J. (2017). Role of dopamine projections from ventral tegmental area to nucleus accumbens and medial prefrontal cortex in reinforcement behaviors assessed using optogenetic manipulation. *Metabolic Brain Disease*, *32*(5), 1491-1502. doi:10.1007/s11011-017-0023-3
- Hanson, M. D., & Chen, E. (2007). Socioeconomic status and substance use behaviors in adolescents: The role of family resources versus family social status. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 12(1), 32-35. doi:10.1177/1359105306069073
- Hauser, K. F., Stiene-Martin, A., Mattson, M. P., Elde, R. P., Ryan, S. E., & Godleske, C. C. (1996). mu-Opioid receptor-induced Ca2+ mobilization and astroglial development: morphine inhibits DNA synthesis and stimulates cellular hypertrophy through a Ca(2+)-dependent mechanism. *Brain research*, 720(1-2), 191-203. doi:10.1016/0006-8993(96)00103-5
- Hayes, M. J., & Brown, M. S. (2012). Epidemic of prescription opiate abuse and neonatal abstinence. *JAMA*, *307*(18), 1974-1975. doi:10.1001/jama.2012.4526
- He, L., Yan, X., Li, J., Guan, B., Ma, L., Chen, Y., . . . Xu, K. (2017). Comparison of 2 dosages of stretching treatment in infants with congenital muscular torticollis: A randomized trial. *Am J Phys Med Rehabil*, *96*(5), 333-340. doi:10.1097/phm.00000000000623
- Hedegaard H., M. A. M., Warner M. (2020). Drug overdose deaths in the United States, 1999– 2019. NCHS Data Brief, no 394.

- Heinsbroek, J. A., De Vries, T. J., & Peters, J. (2021). Glutamatergic systems and memory mechanisms underlying opioid addiction. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med*, 11(3). doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a039602
- Henderson, B. J., & Cooper, S. Y. (2021). Nicotine formulations impact reinforcement-related behaviors in a mouse model of vapor self-administration. *Drug and alcohol dependence*, 224, 108732.
- Hill, M. A. (2020). Embryology mouse development. Retrieved from <u>https://embryology.med.unsw.edu.au/embryology/index.php/Mouse_Development</u>
- Holt, D. J., Öngür, D., Wright, C. I., Dickerson, B. C., & Rauch, S. L. (2008). Chapter 71 -Neuroanatomical systems relevant to neuropsychiatric disorders. In T. A. Stern, J. F.
 Rosenbaum, M. Fava, J. Biederman, & S. L. Rauch (Eds.), *Massachusetts General Hospital Comprehensive Clinical Psychiatry* (pp. 975-995). Philadelphia: Mosby.
- Hovious, J. R., & Peters, M. A. (1985). Opiate self-administration in adult offspring of methadone-treated female rats. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, 22(6), 949-953.
- Huang, P., Kehner, G. B., Cowan, A., & Liu-Chen, L.-Y. (2001). Comparison of pharmacological activities of buprenorphine and norbuprenorphine: Norbuprenorphine is a potent opioid agonist. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 297(2), 688-695.
- Hudak, M. L., & Tan, R. C. (2012). Neonatal drug withdrawal. *Pediatrics*, *129*(2), e540-e560. doi:10.1542/peds.2011-3212

- Hughes, E. G., Elmariah, S. B., & Balice-Gordon, R. J. (2010). Astrocyte secreted proteins selectively increase hippocampal GABAergic axon length, branching, and synaptogenesis. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*, 43(1), 136-145.
- Hung, C.-J., Wu, C.-C., Chen, W.-Y., Chang, C.-Y., Kuan, Y.-H., Pan, H.-C., . . . Chen, C.-J. (2013). Depression-like effect of prenatal buprenorphine exposure in rats. *PLOS ONE*, 8(12), e82262. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0082262
- Hurd, Y. L., Svensson, P., & Ponten, M. (1999). The role of dopamine, dynorphin, and CART systems in the ventral striatum and amygdala in cocaine abuse. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 877(1), 499-506.
- Ikeda, H., Miyatake, M., Koshikawa, N., Ochiai, K., Yamada, K., Kiss, A., . . . Coscia, C. J. (2010). Morphine modulation of thrombospondin levels in astrocytes and its implications for neurite outgrowth and synapse formation. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, 285(49), 38415-38427. doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.109827
- Inturrisi, C. E. (2002). Clinical pharmacology of opioids for pain. *The Clinical journal of pain*, *18*(4), S3-S13.
- Ippolito, D. M., & Eroglu, C. (2010). Quantifying synapses: An immunocytochemistry-based assay to quantify synapse number. *Journal of Visualized Experiments (JoVE)*(45), 2270. doi:10.3791/2270
- Jalabert, M., Bourdy, R., Courtin, J., Veinante, P., Manzoni, O. J., Barrot, M., & Georges, F. (2011). Neuronal circuits underlying acute morphine action on dopamine neurons. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 201105418.
 doi:10.1073/pnas.1105418108

- Jansson, L. M., & Velez, M. (2012). Neonatal abstinence syndrome. *Current Opinion in Pediatrics*, 24(2), 252-258. doi:10.1097/MOP.0b013e32834fdc3a
- Johnson, H., Diano, A., & Rosen, T. (1984). 24-month neurobehavioral follow-up of children of methadone-maintained mothers (Vol. 7).
- Johnson, S., & North, R. (1992). Opioids excite dopamine neurons by hyperpolarization of local interneurons. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *12*(2), 483-488. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.12-02-00483.1992
- Jones, H. E., O'Grady, K. E., Johnson, R. E., Velez, M., & Jansson, L. M. (2010). Infant neurobehavior following prenatal exposure to methadone or buprenorphine: Results from the neonatal intensive care unit network neurobehavioral scale. *Substance Use & Misuse*, 45(13), 2244-2257. doi:10.3109/10826084.2010.484474
- Kandall, S. R., Gaines, J., Habel, L., Davidson, G., & Jessop, D. (1993). Relationship of maternal substance abuse to subsequent sudden infant death syndrome in offspring. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 123(1), 120-126.
- Kayemba-Kay's, S., & Laclyde, J. P. (2003). Buprenorphine withdrawal syndrome in newborns:
 A report of 13 cases. *Addiction (Abingdon, England)*, 98(11), 1599-1604.
 doi:10.1046/j.1360-0443.2003.00551.x
- Kettenmann, H., & Verkhratsky, A. (2011). Neuroglia, der lebende nervenkitt. [Neuroglia Living Nerve Glue]. Fortschr Neurol Psychiatr, 79(10), 588-597. doi:10.1055/s-0031-1281704
- Kilic, F. S., Sirmagul, B., Yildirim, E., Oner, S., & Erol, K. (2012). Antinociceptive effects of gabapentin & its mechanism of action in experimental animal studies. *The Indian journal* of medical research, 135(5), 630-635.

- Kim, E., Clark, A. L., Kiss, A., Hahn, J. W., Wesselschmidt, R., Coscia, C. J., & Belcheva, M. M. (2006). Mu- and kappa-opioids induce the differentiation of embryonic stem cells to neural progenitors. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, 281(44), 33749-33760. doi:10.1074/jbc.M603862200
- Kim, M., Lee, S. M., Bae, S.-H., Kim, H. J., Lim, N. G., Yoon, S.-J., ... Jo, M.-W. (2018).
 Socioeconomic status can affect pregnancy outcomes and complications, even with a universal healthcare system. *International journal for equity in health*, *17*(1), 2-2. doi:10.1186/s12939-017-0715-7
- Klausz, B., Pinter, O., Sobor, M., Gyarmati, Z., Furst, Z., Timar, J., & Zelena, D. (2011).
 Changes in adaptability following perinatal morphine exposure in juvenile and adult rats. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 654(2), 166-172. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2010.11.025
- Klugbauer, N., Lacinová, L., Marais, E., Hobom, M., & Hofmann, F. (1999). Molecular diversity of the calcium channel α2δ subunit. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *19*(2), 684-691. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.19-02-00684.1999
- Knutson, B., & Cooper, J. C. (2005). Functional magnetic resonance imaging of reward prediction. *Curr Opin Neurol*, 18(4), 411-417. doi:10.1097/01.wco.0000173463.24758.f6
- Kocherlakota, P. (2014). Neonatal abstinence syndrome. *Pediatrics*, *134*(2), e547-e561. doi:10.1542/peds.2013-3524
- Kohut, S. J. (2017). Interactions between nicotine and drugs of abuse: A review of preclinical findings. *The American journal of drug and alcohol abuse*, *43*(2), 155-170. doi:10.1080/00952990.2016.1209513
- Kolodny, A., Courtwright, D. T., Hwang, C. S., Kreiner, P., Eadie, J. L., Clark, T. W., & Alexander, G. C. (2015). The prescription opioid and heroin crisis: A public health

approach to an epidemic of addiction. *Annual Review of Public Health*, *36*(1), 559-574. doi:10.1146/annurev-publhealth-031914-122957

- Kongstorp, M., Bogen, I. L., Stiris, T., & Andersen, J. M. (2019). High accumulation of methadone compared with buprenorphine in fetal rat brain after maternal exposure. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, *371*(1), 130-137. doi:10.1124/jpet.119.259531
- Kraft, W. K. (2018). Buprenorphine in neonatal abstinence syndrome. *Clinical pharmacology and therapeutics*, *103*(1), 112-119. doi:10.1002/cpt.930
- Kramár, E. A., Chen, L. Y., Lauterborn, J. C., Simmons, D. A., Gall, C. M., & Lynch, G. (2012).
 BDNF pregulation rescues synaptic plasticity in middle-aged ovariectomized rats.
 Neurobiology of Aging, 33(4), 708-719.
- Kristensen, J. H., Ilett, K. F., Hackett, L. P., & Kohan, R. (2006). Gabapentin and breastfeeding:
 A case report. *Journal of Human Lactation: Official Journal of International Lactation Consultant Association*, 22(4), 426-428. doi:10.1177/0890334406293421
- Kucukdereli, H., Allen, N. J., Lee, A. T., Feng, A., Ozlu, M. I., Conatser, L. M., . . . Eroglu, C. (2011). Control of excitatory CNS synaptogenesis by astrocyte-secreted proteins Hevin and SPARC. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 108*(32), E440-E449. doi:10.1073/pnas.1104977108
- Kutlu, M. G., Zachry, J. E., Melugin, P. R., Cajigas, S. A., Chevee, M. F., Kelly, S. J., . . .
 Calipari, E. S. (2021). Dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens core signals perceived saliency. *Current Biology*, *31*(21), 4748-4761.e4748. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2021.08.052

- Labella, M. H., Eiden, R. D., Tabachnick, A. R., Sellers, T., & Dozier, M. (2021). Infant neurodevelopmental outcomes of prenatal opioid exposure and polysubstance use. *Neurotoxicology and Teratology*, 86, 107000.
- LaLumiere, R. T., & Kalivas, P. W. (2008). Glutamate release in the nucleus accumbens core is necessary for heroin seeking. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 28(12), 3170-3177. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.5129-07.2008
- Lana, B., Page, K. M., Kadurin, I., Ho, S., Nieto-Rostro, M., & Dolphin, A. C. (2016).
 Thrombospondin-4 reduces binding affinity of [(3)H]-gabapentin to calcium-channel α2δ-1-subunit but does not interact with α2δ-1 on the cell-surface when co-expressed.
 Scientific reports, 6, 24531-24531. doi:10.1038/srep24531
- Lancet. (2022). Managing the opioid crisis in North America and beyond. *The Lancet*, *399*(10324), 495.
- Laura J. Sherman, Ph.D. ,, Mir M. Ali, Ph.D. ,, Ryan Mutter, Ph.D. ,, & Justine Larson, M.D.,
 M.P.H. (2019). Mental disorders among children born with neonatal abstinence
 syndrome. *Psychiatric Services*, 70(2), 151-151. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.201800341
- Lee, A. M., Calarco, C. A., McKee, S. A., Mineur, Y. S., & Picciotto, M. R. (2020). Variability in nicotine conditioned place preference and stress-induced reinstatement in mice: Effects of sex, initial chamber preference, and guanfacine. *Genes, brain, and behavior, 19*(3), e12601-e12601. doi:10.1111/gbb.12601
- Leite Junior, J. B., de Mello Bastos, J. M., Samuels, R. I., Carey, R. J., & Carrera, M. P. (2019). Reversal of morphine conditioned behavior by an anti-dopaminergic post-trial drug treatment during re-consolidation. *Behav Brain Res, 359*, 771-782. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2018.08.009

Lindemalm, S., Nydert, P., Svensson, J. O., Stahle, L., & Sarman, I. (2009). Transfer of buprenorphine into breast milk and calculation of infant drug dose. *Journal of Human Lactation: Official Journal of International Lactation Consultant Association*, 25(2), 199-205. doi:10.1177/0890334408328295

Ling, W., Charuvastra, V. C., Kaim, S. C., & Klett, C. J. (1976). Methadyl acetate and methadone as maintenance treatments for heroin addicts: A veterans administration cooperative study. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *33*(6), 709-720. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.1976.01770060043007

- Lingford-Hughes, A., & Kalk, N. (2012). 2 Clinical neuroanatomy. In P. Wright, J. Stern, & M. Phelan (Eds.), *Core Psychiatry (Third Edition)* (pp. 13-34). Oxford: W.B. Saunders.
- Lipp, J. (1991). Possible mechanisms of morphine analgesia. *Clin Neuropharmacol*, *14*(2), 131-147. doi:10.1097/00002826-199104000-00003
- Lisman, J. E., & Grace, A. A. (2005). The hippocampal-VTA loop: Controlling the entry of information into long-term memory. *Neuron*, 46(5), 703-713. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2005.05.002
- Loudin, S., Murray, S., Prunty, L., Davies, T., Evans, J., & Werthammer, J. (2017). An atypical withdrawal syndrome in neonates prenatally exposed to gabapentin and opioids. *The Journal of Pediatrics, 181*, 286-288. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2016.11.004
- Lu, R., Liu, X., Long, H., & Ma, L. (2012). Effects of prenatal cocaine and heroin exposure on neuronal dendrite morphogenesis and spatial recognition memory in mice. *Neuroscience Letters*, 522(2), 128-133.

- Lueptow, L. M., Fakira, A. K., & Bobeck, E. N. (2018). The contribution of the descending pain modulatory pathway in opioid tolerance. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 12. doi:10.3389/fnins.2018.00886
- Maduna, T., Audouard, E., Dembélé, D., Mouzaoui, N., Reiss, D., Massotte, D., & Gaveriaux-Ruff, C. (2019). Microglia express mu-opioid receptor: Insights from transcriptomics and fluorescent reporter mice. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 9. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00726
- Marsden, K. C., Beattie, J. B., Friedenthal, J., & Carroll, R. C. (2007). NMDA receptor activation potentiates inhibitory transmission through GABA receptor-associated protein-dependent exocytosis of GABA A receptors. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 27(52), 14326-14337.
 doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4433-07.2007
- Martin, L. B., Thompson, A. C., Martin, T., & Kristal, M. B. (2001). Analgesic efficacy of orally administered buprenorphine in rats. *Comp Med*, *51*(1), 43-48.
- Mazur, A., Bills, E. H., DeSchepper, K. M., Williamson, J. C., Henderson, B. J., & Risher, W. C. (2021). Astrocyte-derived thrombospondin induces cortical synaptogenesis in a sex-specific manner. *eNeuro*, 8(4), ENEURO.0014-0021.2021. doi:10.1523/ENEURO.0014-21.2021
- McCormick, M. C., Gortmaker, S. L., & Sobol, A. M. (1990). Very low birth weight children: behavior problems and school difficulty in a national sample. *Journal of Pediatrics*, *117*(5), 687-693. doi:10.1016/s0022-3476(05)83322-0
- McDonald, J., & Lambert, D. (2005). Opioid receptors. *Continuing Education in Anaesthesia Critical Care & Pain*, 5(1), 22-25. doi:10.1093/bjaceaccp/mki004

- McFarland, K., Lapish, C. C., & Kalivas, P. W. (2003). Prefrontal glutamate release into the core of the nucleus accumbens mediates cocaine-induced reinstatement of drug-seeking behavior. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 23(8), 3531-3537. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.23-08-03531.2003
- Merrer, J. L., Becker, J. A. J., Befort, K., & Kieffer, B. L. (2009). Reward processing by the opioid system in the brain. *Physiological Reviews*, 89(4), 1379-1412. doi:10.1152/physrev.00005.2009
- Meymandi, M.-S., Sepehri, G., & Mobasher, M. (2006). Gabapentin enhances the analgesic response to morphine in acute model of pain in male rats. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, 85(1), 185-189.
- Minelli, A., DeBiasi, S., Brecha, N. C., Zuccarello, L. V., & Conti, F. (1996). GAT-3, a highaffinity GABA plasma membrane transporter, is localized to astrocytic processes, and it is not confined to the vicinity of GABAergic synapses in the cerebral cortex. *The Journal* of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 16(19), 6255-6264. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.16-19-06255.1996
- Monnelly, V. J., Hamilton, R., Chappell, F. M., Mactier, H., & Boardman, J. P. (2019).
 Childhood neurodevelopment after prescription of maintenance methadone for opioid dependency in pregnancy: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Dev Med Child Neurol*, 61(7), 750-760. doi:10.1111/dmcn.14117
- Nam, M.-H., Han, K.-S., Lee, J., Bae, J. Y., An, H., Park, S., . . . Lee, C. J. (2018). Expression of μ-opioid receptor in CA1 hippocampal astrocytes. *Experimental neurobiology*, 27(2), 120-128. doi:10.5607/en.2018.27.2.120

- Narita, M., Matsushima, Y., Niikura, K., Narita, M., Takagi, S., Nakahara, K., . . . Suzuki, T. (2010). Implication of dopaminergic projection from the ventral tegmental area to the anterior cingulate cortex in μ-opioid-induced place preference. *Addiction Biology*, 15(4), 434-447.
- Narita, M., Miyatake, M., Narita, M., Shibasaki, M., Shindo, K., Nakamura, A., . . . Suzuki, T. (2006). Direct evidence of astrocytic modulation in the development of rewarding effects induced by drugs of abuse. *Neuropsychopharmacology : official publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology, 31*(11), 2476-2488. doi:10.1038/sj.npp.1301007
- Nguyen, A. Q., Sutley, S., Koeppen, J., Mina, K., Woodruff, S., Hanna, S., . . . Ethell, I. M. (2020). Astrocytic Ephrin-B1 controls excitatory-inhibitory balance in developing hippocampus. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 40(36), 6854-6871. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.0413-20.2020
- Nguyen, C., Mondoloni, S., Le Borgne, T., Centeno, I., Come, M., Jehl, J., . . . Faure, P. (2021). Nicotine inhibits the VTA-to-amygdala dopamine pathway to promote anxiety. *Neuron*, *109*(16), 2604-2615.e2609.
- Nicolas S. Gee, J. P. B., Visaka U. K. Dissanayake, James Offord, Richard Thurlow, and Geoffrey N. Woodruff. (1996). The novel anticonvulsant drug, gabapentin (Neurontin), binds to the α2δ subunit of a calcium channel. *The Journal of biological chemistry*(271), 5768-5776. doi:10.1074/jbc.271.10.5768
- Nieto-Rostro, M., Ramgoolam, K., Pratt, W. S., Kulik, A., & Dolphin, A. C. (2018). Ablation of α2δ-1 inhibits cell-surface trafficking of endogenous N-type calcium channels in the pain

pathway in vivo. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *115*(51), E12043-E12052. doi:doi:10.1073/pnas.1811212115

- Niikura, K., Ho, A., Kreek, M. J., & Zhang, Y. (2013). Oxycodone-induced conditioned place preference and sensitization of locomotor activity in adolescent and adult mice. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, 110, 112-116.
- Nuss, P. (2015). Anxiety disorders and GABA neurotransmission: A disturbance of modulation. *Neuropsychiatric disease and treatment, 11*, 165-175. doi:10.2147/NDT.S58841
- Nygaard, E., Moe, V., Slinning, K., & Walhovd, K. B. (2015). Longitudinal cognitive development of children born to mothers with opioid and polysubstance use. *Pediatric research*, *78*(3), 330-335. doi:10.1038/pr.2015.95
- Nygaard, E., Slinning, K., Moe, V., Due-Tønnessen, P., Fjell, A., & Walhovd, K. B. (2018). Neuroanatomical characteristics of youths with prenatal opioid and poly-drug exposure. *Neurotoxicology and Teratology*, 68, 13-26.
- Nygaard, E., Slinning, K., Moe, V., & Walhovd, K. B. (2017). Cognitive function of youths born to mothers with opioid and poly-substance abuse problems during pregnancy. *Child Neuropsychol*, 23(2), 159-187. doi:10.1080/09297049.2015.1092509
- O'Donnell J, G. R., Mattson CL, Hunter CT, Davis NL. (2020). Vital signs: Characteristics of drug overdose deaths involving opioids and stimulants — 24 States and the District of Columbia, January–June 2019. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep, 69, 1189-1197.
- Oei, J. L., Melhuish, E., Uebel, H., Azzam, N., Breen, C., Burns, L., . . . Wright, I. M. (2017). Neonatal abstinence syndrome and high school performance. *Pediatrics*, 139(2), e20162651. doi:10.1542/peds.2016-2651

- Ohman, I., Vitols, S., & Tomson, T. (2005). Pharmacokinetics of gabapentin during delivery, in the neonatal period, and lactation: Does a fetal accumulation occur during pregnancy?
 Epilepsia, 46(10), 1621-1624. doi:10.1111/j.1528-1167.2005.00251.x
- Ornoy, A. (2003). The impact of intrauterine exposure versus postnatal environment in neurodevelopmental toxicity: Long-term neurobehavioral studies in children at risk for developmental disorders. *Toxicology Letters, 140-141*, 171-181.
- Ornoy, A., Segal, J., Bar-Hamburger, R., & Greenbaum, C. (2001). Developmental outcome of school-age children born to mothers with heroin dependency: Importance of environmental factors. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, 43(10), 668-675. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8749.2001.tb00140.x
- Ostrea, E. M., Ostrea, A. R., & Simpson, P. M. (1997). Mortality within the first 2 years in infants exposed to cocaine, opiate, or cannabinoid during gestation. *Pediatrics*, 100(1), 79-83. doi:10.1542/peds.100.1.79
- Otis, E. M., & Brent, R. (1954). Equivalent ages in mouse and human embryos. *The Anatomical Record*, *120*(1), 33-63.
- Parpura, V., & Haydon, P. G. (2000). Physiological astrocytic calcium levels stimulate glutamate release to modulate adjacent neurons. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 97(15), 8629-8634. doi:10.1073/pnas.97.15.8629
- Pasternak, G. W., & Pan, Y.-X. (2013). Mu opioids and their receptors: Evolution of a concept. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 65(4), 1257-1317. doi:10.1124/pr.112.007138
- Pasto, M. E., Graziani, L. J., Tunis, S., Deiling, J. M., Kurtz, A. B., Goldberg, B., & Finnegan, L. (1985). Ventricular configuration and cerebral growth in infants born to drug-dependent mothers. *Pediatric radiology*, 15, 77-81. doi:10.1007/BF02388706

- Patel, R., & Dickenson, A. H. (2016). Mechanisms of the gabapentinoids and α2δ-1 calcium channel subunit in neuropathic pain. *Pharmacology research & perspectives*, 4(2), e00205-e00205. doi:10.1002/prp2.205
- Patrick, M., Wightman, P., Schoeni, R. F., & Schulenberg, J. E. (2012). Socioeconomic status and substance use among young adults: A comparison across constructs and drugs. *Journal of studies on alcohol and drugs*, 73(5), 772-782. doi:10.15288/jsad.2012.73.772
- Patrick, S., Davis, M. M., Lehmann, C. U., & Cooper, W. O. (2015). Increasing incidence and geographic distribution of neonatal abstinence syndrome: United States 2009 to 2012. *Journal of Perinatology: Official Journal of the California Perinatal Association, 35*(8), 650-655. doi:10.1038/jp.2015.36
- Patrick, S., Kaplan, H. C., Passarella, M., Davis, M. M., & Lorch, S. A. (2014). Variation in treatment of neonatal abstinence syndrome in US children's hospitals, 2004–2011. *Journal Of Perinatology*, 34(11), 867-872. doi:10.1038/jp.2014.114
- Patrick, S., Schumacher, R. E., Benneyworth, B. D., Krans, E. E., McAllister, J. M., & Davis, M. M. (2012). Neonatal abstinence syndrome and associated health care expenditures:
 United States, 2000-2009 trends in neonatal abstinence syndrome. *JAMA*, 307(18), 1934-1940. doi:10.1001/jama.2012.3951
- Paxinos, K. B. J. F. a. G. (2008). *The mouse brain in stereotaxic coordinates* (Compact Third ed.). New York, NY: Elsevier Inc.
- Peng, J., Sarkar, S., & Chang, S. L. (2012). Opioid receptor expression in human brain and peripheral tissues using absolute quantitative real-time RT-PCR. *Drug and alcohol dependence*, 124(3), 223-228. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2012.01.013

- Petralia, R. S., Mattson, M. P., & Yao, P. J. (2014). Communication breakdown: The impact of ageing on synapse structure. *Ageing research reviews*, 14, 31-42. doi:10.1016/j.arr.2014.01.003
- Phamduong, E., Rathore, M. K., Crews, N. R., D'Angelo, A. S., Leinweber, A. L., Kappera, P., .
 . . Coscia, C. J. (2014). Acute and chronic mu opioids differentially regulate
 thrombospondins 1 and 2 isoforms in astrocytes. ACS Chemical Neuroscience, 5(2), 106-114. doi:10.1021/cn400172n
- Pierce, R. C., & Kumaresan, V. (2006). The mesolimbic dopamine system: The final common pathway for the reinforcing effect of drugs of abuse? *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 30(2), 215-238.
- Pryor, K. O., & Veselis, R. A. (2006). Chapter 29 Consciousness and cognition. In H. C.
 Hemmings & P. M. Hopkins (Eds.), *Foundations of Anesthesia (Second Edition)* (pp. 349-359). Edinburgh: Mosby.
- Raffaeli, G., Cavallaro, G., Allegaert, K., Wildschut, E. D., Fumagalli, M., Agosti, M., . . .
 Mosca, F. (2017). Neonatal abstinence syndrome: Update on diagnostic and therapeutic strategies. *Pharmacotherapy: The Journal of Human Pharmacology and Drug Therapy*, 37(7), 814-823. doi:10.1002/phar.1954
- Ramsey, N. F., Niesink, R. J. M., & Van Ree, J. M. (1993). Prenatal exposure to morphine enhances cocaine and heroin self-administration in drug-naive rats. *Drug and alcohol dependence*, 33(1), 41-51.
- Rebec, G. V., & Sun, W. (2005). Neuronal substrates of relapse to cocaine-seeking behavior:
 Role of prefrontal cortex. *Journal of the experimental analysis of behavior*, 84(3), 653-666. doi:10.1901/jeab.2005.105-04

- Risher, W. C., & Eroglu, C. (2012). Thrombospondins as key regulators of synaptogenesis in the central nervous system. *Matrix Biology: Journal of the International Society for Matrix Biology*, 31(3), 170-177. doi:10.1016/j.matbio.2012.01.004
- Risher, W. C., & Eroglu, C. (2020). Chapter 3 Astrocytes and synaptogenesis. In J. Rubenstein,
 P. Rakic, B. Chen, K. Y. Kwan, H. T. Cline, & J. Cardin (Eds.), *Synapse Development* and Maturation (pp. 55-75): Academic Press.
- Risher, W. C., Kim, N., Koh, S., Choi, J.-E., Mitev, P., Spence, E. F., . . . Eroglu, C. (2018). Thrombospondin receptor α2δ-1 promotes synaptogenesis and spinogenesis via postsynaptic Rac1. *The Journal of cell biology*, 217(10), 3747-3765. doi:10.1083/jcb.201802057
- Risher, W. C., Patel, S., Kim, I. H., Uezu, A., Bhagat, S., Wilton, D. K., . . . Eroglu, C. (2014).
 Astrocytes refine cortical connectivity at dendritic spines. *eLife*, *3*, e04047.
 doi:10.7554/eLife.04047
- Rius, R. A., Barg, J., Bem, W. T., Coscia, C. J., & Loh, Y. P. (1991). The prenatal development profile of expression of opioid peptides and receptors in the mouse brain. *Brain research*. *Developmental brain research*, 58(2), 237-241. doi:10.1016/0165-3806(91)90010-g
- Ross, E. J., Graham, D. L., Money, K. M., & Stanwood, G. D. (2015). Developmental consequences of fetal exposure to drugs: What we know and what we still must learn. *Neuropsychopharmacology: Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology, 40*(1), 61-87. doi:10.1038/npp.2014.147
- Rubin, R. D., Watson, P. D., Duff, M. C., & Cohen, N. J. (2014). The role of the hippocampus in flexible cognition and social behavior. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 8. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2014.00742

- Rudeck, J., Vogl, S., Heinl, C., Steinfath, M., Fritzwanker, S., Kliewer, A., . . . Bert, B. (2020).
 Analgesic treatment with buprenorphine should be adapted to the mouse strain. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior, 191*, 172877.
- Sanchez, E. S., Bigbee, J. W., Fobbs, W., Robinson, S. E., & Sato-Bigbee, C. (2008). Opioid addiction and pregnancy: Perinatal exposure to buprenorphine affects myelination in the developing brain. *Glia*, 56(9), 1017-1027. doi:10.1002/glia.20675
- Scholl L, S. P., Kariisa M, Wilson N, Baldwin G. (2019). Drug and opioid-involved overdose deaths — United States, 2013–2017. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep, 67, 1419–1427.
- Schulson, M., Liu, A., Bjorkman, T., Quinton, A., Mann, K. P., Benzie, R., . . . Nanan, R.
 (2014). Mid-Gestational Enlargement of Fetal Thalami in Women Exposed to Methadone during Pregnancy. *Front Surg*, *1*, 28. doi:10.3389/fsurg.2014.00028
- Schwarz, J. M., & Bilbo, S. D. (2013). Adolescent morphine exposure affects long-term microglial function and later-life relapse liability in a model of addiction. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 33(3), 961-971. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.2516-12.2013
- Seibenhener, M. L., & Wooten, M. C. (2015). Use of the open field maze to measure locomotor and anxiety-like behavior in mice. *Journal of Visualized Experiments: JoVE*(96), e52434e52434. doi:10.3791/52434
- Sestakova, N., Puzserova, A., Kluknavsky, M., & Bernatova, I. (2013). Determination of motor activity and anxiety-related behaviour in rodents: Methodological aspects and role of nitric oxide. *Interdisciplinary toxicology*, 6(3), 126-135. doi:10.2478/intox-2013-0020

Sethi, A., Das, B. P., & Bajaj, B. K. (2005). The anxiolytic activity of gabapentin in mice.

- Sidoryk-Wegrzynowicz, M., Wegrzynowicz, M., Lee, E., Bowman, A. B., & Aschner, M.
 (2011). Role of astrocytes in brain function and disease. *Toxicologic pathology*, *39*(1), 115-123. doi:10.1177/0192623310385254
- Simon, P., Dupuis, R., & Costentin, J. (1994). Thigmotaxis as an index of anxiety in mice: Influence of dopaminergic transmissions. *Behav Brain Res*, 61(1), 59-64. doi:10.1016/0166-4328(94)90008-6
- Sirnes, E., Oltedal, L., Bartsch, H., Eide, G. E., Elgen, I. B., & Aukland, S. M. (2017). Brain morphology in school-aged children with prenatal opioid exposure: A structural MRI study. *Early Human Development*, 106-107, 33-39.
- Šlamberová, R., Schindler, C. J., Pometlová, M., Urkuti, C., Purow-Sokol, J. A., & Vathy, I. (2001). Prenatal morphine exposure differentially alters learning and memory in male and female rats. *Physiology & Behavior*, 73(1), 93-103.
- Smith, R. V., Havens, J. R., & Walsh, S. L. (2016). Gabapentin misuse, abuse and diversion: A systematic review. Addiction (Abingdon, England), 111(7), 1160-1174. doi:10.1111/add.13324
- Stevens, S., Flaugher, T., Hughes, K., Terwilliger, C., Copley, J., & Mohan, S. (2018). Gender differences in withdrawing infants. *Global pediatric health*, *5*, 2333794X18775886-12333794X18775886. doi:10.1177/2333794X18775886
- Stiene-Martin, A., & Hauser, K. F. (1991). Glial growth is regulated by agonists selective for multiple opioid receptor types in vitro. *Journal of neuroscience research*, 29(4), 538-548. doi:10.1002/jnr.490290415
- Streck, J. M., Sigmon, S. C., Priest, J., Bergeria, C. L., Davis, D. R., Hughes, J. R., . . . Higgins,S. T. (2020). Investigating tobacco withdrawal in response to reduced nicotine cigarettes

among smokers with opioid use disorder and other vulnerabilities. *Exp Clin Psychopharmacol*, 28(6), 714-723. doi:10.1037/pha0000350

- Subedi, L., Huang, H., Pant, A., Westgate, P. M., Bada, H. S., Bauer, J. A., . . . Sithisarn, T.
 (2017). Plasma brain-derived neurotrophic factor levels in newborn infants with neonatal abstinence syndrome. *Frontiers in pediatrics*, *5*, 238-238. doi:10.3389/fped.2017.00238
- Tan, K. Z., Cunningham, A. M., Joshi, A., Oei, J. L., & Ward, M. C. (2018). Expression of kappa opioid receptors in developing rat brain – Implications for perinatal buprenorphine exposure. *Reproductive Toxicology*, 78, 81-89.
- Tanabe, T., Takeshima, H., Mikami, A., Flockerzi, V., Takahashi, H., Kangawa, K., . . . Numa, S. (1987). Primary structure of the receptor for calcium channel blockers from skeletal muscle. *Nature*, 328(6128), 313-318.
- Taylor, H. G., Margevicius, S., Schluchter, M., Andreias, L., & Hack, M. (2015). Persisting behavior problems in extremely low birth weight adolescents. *Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics*, 36(3), 178-187. doi:10.1097/DBP.00000000000139
- Thomson, S. (2018). Achievement at school and socioeconomic background—An educational perspective. *npj Science of Learning*, *3*(1), 5. doi:10.1038/s41539-018-0022-0
- Tolia, V. N., Patrick, S. W., Bennett, M. M., Murthy, K., Sousa, J., Smith, P. B., . . . Spitzer, A. R. (2015). Increasing incidence of the neonatal abstinence syndrome in U.S. neonatal ICUs. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *372*(22), 2118-2126. doi:10.1056/NEJMsa1500439
- Toll, L., Bruchas, M. R., Calo, G., Cox, B. M., & Zaveri, N. T. (2016). Nociceptin/orphanin FQ receptor structure, signaling, ligands, functions, and interactions with opioid systems. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 68(2), 419-457. doi:10.1124/pr.114.009209

Troller-Renfree, S. V., Costanzo, M. A., Duncan, G. J., Magnuson, K., Gennetian, L. A., Yoshikawa, H., . . . Noble, K. G. (2022). The impact of a poverty reduction intervention on infant brain activity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *119*(5), e2115649119. doi:doi:10.1073/pnas.2115649119

- Tsang, A., Von Korff, M., Lee, S., Alonso, J., Karam, E., Angermeyer, M. C., . . . Watanabe, M. (2008). Common chronic pain conditions in developed and developing countries: Gender and age differences and comorbidity with depression-anxiety disorders. *J Pain*, 9(10), 883-891. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2008.05.005
- Uhl, M., Schmeisser, M. J., & Schumann, S. (2022). The sexual dimorphic synapse: From spine density to molecular composition. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*, 15. doi:10.3389/fnmol.2022.818390
- Umer, A., Loudin, S., Maxwell, S., Lilly, C., Stabler, M. E., Cottrell, L., . . . John, C. (2019).
 Capturing the statewide incidence of neonatal abstinence syndrome in real time: The
 West Virginia experience. *Pediatric research*, 85(5), 607-611. doi:10.1038/s41390-018-0172-z
- Upadhyay, J., Maleki, N., Potter, J., Elman, I., Rudrauf, D., Knudsen, J., . . . Borsook, D. (2010). Alterations in brain structure and functional connectivity in prescription opioiddependent patients. *Brain*, *133*(7), 2098-2114. doi:10.1093/brain/awq138
- USDHHS. (2015). United States Department of Health and Human Services national survey on drug use and health, 2012.
- Vestal-Laborde, A. A., Eschenroeder, A. C., Bigbee, J. W., Robinson, S. E., & Sato-Bigbee, C. (2014). The opioid system and brain development: Effects of methadone on the

oligodendrocyte lineage and the early stages of myelination. *Developmental Neuroscience*, *36*(5), 409-421. doi:10.1159/000365074

- Vickers Smith, R., Boland, E. M., Young, A. M., Lofwall, M. R., Quiroz, A., Staton, M., & Havens, J. R. (2018). A qualitative analysis of gabapentin misuse and diversion among people who use drugs in Appalachian Kentucky. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors: Journal of the Society of Psychologists in Addictive Behaviors, 32*(1), 115-121. doi:10.1037/adb0000337
- Volman, V., Bazhenov, M., & Sejnowski, T. (2012). Computational models of neuron-astrocyte interaction in epilepsy. *Frontiers in computational neuroscience*, 6, 58. doi:10.3389/fncom.2012.00058
- Wachtel, S. R., Hu, X. T., Galloway, M. P., & White, F. J. (1989). D1 dopamine receptor stimulation enables the postsynaptic, but not autoreceptor, effects of D2 dopamine agonists in nigrostriatal and mesoaccumbens dopamine systems. *Synapse*, 4(4), 327-346. doi:10.1002/syn.890040409
- Walker, C. D., Risher, W. C., & Risher, M.-L. (2020). Regulation of synaptic development by astrocyte signaling factors and their emerging roles in substance abuse. *Cells*, *9*(2), 297.
- Walton, M. E., Bannerman, D. M., Alterescu, K., & Rushworth, M. F. S. (2003). Functional specialization within medial frontal cortex of the anterior cingulate for evaluating effort-related decisions. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 23(16), 6475-6479. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.23-16-06475.2003
- Wang, Y., & Han, T. Z. (2009). Prenatal exposure to heroin in mice elicits memory deficits that can be attributed to neuronal apoptosis. *Neuroscience*, *160*(2), 330-338.

- Welsh, C., & Valadez-Meltzer, A. (2005). Buprenorphine: A (relatively) new treatment for opioid dependence. *Psychiatry*, 2(12), 29-39.
- Wilson, G. S., McCreary, R., Kean, J., & Baxter, J. C. (1979). The development of preschool children of heroin-addicted mothers: A controlled study. *Pediatrics*, *63*(1), 135-141.
- Winkelman, T. N. A., Villapiano, N., Kozhimannil, K. B., Davis, M. M., & Patrick, S. W.
 (2018). Incidence and costs of neonatal abstinence syndrome among infants with medicaid: 2004–2014. *Pediatrics*, 141(4), e20173520. doi:10.1542/peds.2017-3520
- Wittmann, B. C., Schott, B. H., Guderian, S., Frey, J. U., Heinze, H. J., & Düzel, E. (2005).
 Reward-related FMRI activation of dopaminergic midbrain is associated with enhanced hippocampus-dependent long-term memory formation. *Neuron*, 45(3), 459-467.
 doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2005.01.010
- Wu, C.-C., Hung, C.-J., Shen, C.-H., Chen, W.-Y., Chang, C.-Y., Pan, H.-C., . . . Chen, C.-J. (2014). Prenatal buprenorphine exposure decreases neurogenesis in rats. *Toxicology Letters*, 225(1), 92-101.
- Xin, J., Zhang, Y., Tang, Y., & Yang, Y. (2019). Brain differences between men and women:
 Evidence from deep learning. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 13(185).
 doi:10.3389/fnins.2019.00185
- Yeoh, S. L., Eastwood, J., Wright, I. M., Morton, R., Melhuish, E., Ward, M., & Oei, J. L.
 (2019). Cognitive and Motor Outcomes of Children With Prenatal Opioid Exposure: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *JAMA Netw Open*, 2(7), e197025.
 doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.7025
- Young-Wolff, K. C., Klebaner, D., Weisner, C., Von Korff, M., & Campbell, C. I. (2017). Smoking status and opioid-related problems and concerns among men and women on

chronic opioid therapy. *The Clinical journal of pain*, *33*(8), 730-737. doi:10.1097/AJP.000000000000461

- Yuan, Q., Rubic, M., Seah, J., Rae, C., Wright, I. M., Kaltenbach, K., . . . group, B. O. B. C.
 (2014). Do maternal opioids reduce neonatal regional brain volumes? A pilot study. J Perinatol, 34(12), 909-913. doi:10.1038/jp.2014.111
- Yuan, Y., Zhu, Z., Shi, J., Zou, Z., Yuan, F., Liu, Y., . . . Weng, X. (2009). Gray matter density negatively correlates with duration of heroin use in young lifetime heroin-dependent individuals. *Brain and Cognition*, 71(3), 223-228.
- Zagon, I. S., & McLaughlin, P. J. (2017). Endogenous opioids in the etiology and treatment of multiple sclerosis. In I. S. Zagon & P. J. McLaughlin (Eds.), *Multiple Sclerosis: Perspectives in Treatment and Pathogenesis*. Brisbane (AU): Codon Publications
 Copyright: The Authors.
- Zamani, N., Takbiri Osgoei, L., Aghaei, A., & Hassanian Moghaddam, H. (2022). Chronic exposure to methadone induces activated microglia and astrocyte and cell death in the cerebellum of adult male rats. *Preprints*. doi:10.20944/preprints202203.0153.v1
- Zhu, Y., Hsu, M.-S., & Pintar, J. E. (1998). Developmental expression of the μ, κ, and δ opioid receptor mRNAs in mouse. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *18*(7), 2538-2549.
 doi:10.1523/jneurosci.18-07-02538.1998
- Zoghbi, H. Y., & Bear, M. F. (2012). Synaptic dysfunction in neurodevelopmental disorders associated with autism and intellectual disabilities. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology*, 4(3), a009886. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a009886

APPENDIX A: APPROVAL LETTER



Office of Research Integrity

April 28, 2020

Taylor Boggess 945 4th Avenue, Apt. 205 Huntington, WV 25701

Dear Taylor:

This letter is in response to the submitted dissertation abstract entitled "Investigation of the Effects of Prenatal Drug Exposure on Astrocyte-Mediated Synaptogenic Signaling." After assessing the abstract it has been deemed not to be human subject research and therefore exempt from oversight of the Marshall University Institutional Review Board (IRB). The Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) has reviewed and approved the study under protocol #696 and #697. The applicable human and animal federal regulations have set forth the criteria utilized in making this determination. If there are any changes to the abstract you provided then you would need to resubmit that information to the Office of Research Integrity for review and a determination.

I appreciate your willingness to submit the abstract for determination. Please feel free to contact the Office of Research Integrity if you have any questions regarding future protocols that may require IRB review.

Sincerely, Bruce F. Day, ThD, CIP Director Office of Research Integrity

WEARE... MARSHALL.

One John Marshall Drive • Huntington, West Virginia 25755 • Tel 304/696-4303 A State University of West Virginia • An Affirmative Action/Equal Opportunity Employer